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ABOUT ZHONGLIANG

Zhongliang Holdings Group Company Limited (“Zhongliang” or the
“Company” and together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) (Stock Code: 2772.HK). Zhongliang is principally
engaged in real estate development in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC” or “China”), headquartered in Shanghai and rooted in the
Yangtze River Delta with a national footprint.

The Group had land bank across five core economic areas in China,
namely, the Yangtze River Delta, the Midwest China, the Pan-Bohai
Rim, Western Taiwan Straits and the Pearl River Delta.
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Corporate Information

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Jian (Chairman)

Mr. Chen Hongliang (Co-President)

Mr. He Jian (Co-President)

Mr. Yeung Tak Yip (appointed on 20 June 2024)
Ms. Hu Hui (appointed on 31 December 2024)
Mr. Yau Sze Ka (Albert) (retired on 20 June 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wang Kaiguo
Mr. Wu Xiaobo
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung (Chairman)
Mr. Wang Kaiguo
Mr. Wu Xiaobo

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Wu Xiaobo (Chairman)
Mr. Yang Jian
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Yang Jian (Chairman)
Mr. Wang Kaiguo
Mr. Wu Xiaobo

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE

Mr. Chen Hongliang (Chairman)

Mr. He Jian

Mr. Yeung Tak Yip (appointed on 20 June 2024)
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung

Mr. Yau Sze Ka (Albert) (retired on 20 June 2024)
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheung Sze Kan (appointed on 20 June 2024)
Mr. Yeung Tak Yip (resigned on 20 June 2024)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Yeung Tak Yip
Mr. Cheung Sze Kan (appointed on 20 June 2024)
Mr. Yan Sze Ka (Albert) (retired on 20 June 2024)

AUDITOR

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
23/F, Tower 2, Enterprise Square Five
38 Wang Chiu Road, Kowloon Bay
Kowloon, Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISER

Sidley Austin

REGISTERED OFFICE

190 Elgin Avenue, George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-9008
Cayman lIslands

HEADQUARTERS IN THE PRC

19/F, No.3 Shanghai Convention & Exhibition Center
of International Sourcing

235 Yunling East Road

Putuo District, Shanghai, China

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

Unit 1905, 19/F, 308 Central Des Voeux
No. 308 Des Voeux Road Central, Sheung Wan
Hong Kong
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Corporate Information

CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Walkers Corporate Limited

190 Elgin Avenue, George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-9008
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKS

Onshore

Agricultural Bank of China Limited

China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd.

China Minsheng Bank Corp., Ltd.

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
China Bohai Bank Co., Ltd.

China Zheshang Bank Co., Ltd.

Offshore

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited

China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited

WEBSITE

www.zldcgroup.com

STOCK CODE

2772
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“AGM” is the annual general meeting of the Company

“Articles” is the third amended and restated articles of association of
the Company adopted on 20 June 2024

“ASP” is average selling price

“Board” is the board of Directors

“China” or “PRC” is the People’s Republic of China

“Contracted sales” is the total contractual value of properties that
are contracted for pre-sale and sale in a given period, which is
not equivalent to the revenue in the relevant period and shall not
be deemed as an indication for the revenue to be recognised in
any future period. Contracted sales data is unaudited, provided
for investors’ for reference only and may be subject to various
uncertainties during the process of collating such sales information
“Corporate Governance Code” is the Corporate Governance Code as
set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules, as amended from time to
time

“Directors” are director(s) of the Company

“ESG” is Environmental, Social and Governance

“GFA” is gross floor area

“Gross profit margin” is calculated based on gross profit for the year
divided by revenue for the year and multiplied by 100%

“Group” is the Company and its subsidiaries

“Hong Kong” or “HKSAR” is the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the People’s Republic of China

“Listing Rules” are the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange

“Listing” is the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 16 July 2019
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Glossary and Definition

“Model Code” is Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules

“Net gearing ratio” is calculated based on the total indebtedness less
cash and bank balances divided by the total equity at the end of the
year multiplied by 100%

“Prospectus” is the prospectus of the Company dated 27 June 2019
being issued in connection with the Listing

“Register of Members” is the register of members of the Company

“Scheme” is the scheme of arrangement effected pursuant to
section 674 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) between the Company and the scheme
creditors for the purpose of implementing the restructuring of the
offshore indebtedness of the Company, as contemplated under the
restructuring support agreement dated 14 July 2023 entered into
by, among others, the Company and the ad-hoc group of offshore
creditors of the Company

“SFO” is Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws
of Hong Kong)

“Share Incentive Scheme” is the share incentive scheme of the
Company adopted by the Board with effect from 31 December 2021,
as amended and supplemented from time to time

“Share Option Scheme” is the post-IPO share option scheme
adopted on 19 June 2019, as amended and supplemented from time

to time

“Share(s)” is/are ordinary share(s) in the capital of the Company with
the nominal value of HK$0.01 each

“Shareholder(s)” is/are holder(s) of the Shares
“Stock Exchange” is The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

“Total indebtedness” is total interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, senior notes and convertible bonds
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“Zhongliang” or “Company” is Zhongliang Holdings Group Company
Limited, an exempted company incorporated in Cayman Islands with
limited liability, the Shares of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 2772)

The site area information for an entire project is based on the relevant
land use rights certificates, land grant contracts or tender documents,
depending on which documents are available. If more than one
document is available, such information is based on the most recent
document available.

The figures for GFA are based on figures provided in or estimates
based on the relevant governmental documents, such as the property
ownership certificate, the construction work planning permit, the pre-
sale permit, the construction land planning permit or the land use
rights certificate.
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Chairman’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present to you the business review of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2024 and its outlook for 2025.

DIVIDEND

The Board resolved that no final dividend would be declared for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

FINAL RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s recognized
revenue amounted to RMB39.68 billion, representing a year-on-
year decrease of 40.4%. Taking into account the impairment losses
on various assets, fair value losses from the valuation of investment
properties and foreign exchange loss, the Group recorded a loss
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately RMB2.43
billion for the year ended 31 December 2024, as compared to a loss
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately RMB4.25
billion for the previous year.

REVIEW OF 2024

Market review

Looking back on 2024, the global political and economic environment
remains complex. The high interest rate environment maintains
for longer, increasing the risk of economic recession. Geopolitical
conflicts have not ended, and different forms of trade disputes have
emerged at the same time, adding uncertainty to the global economy.
China’s economy continues to recover. In 2024, the GDP grew by
5%, meeting the expectation. The government continues to actively
promote policies to stabilize growth to boost market confidence.
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In 2024, the government actively launched a series of industry
support policies and economic stimulus policies, increased the
intensity of countercyclical adjustment of fiscal and monetary policies,
reduced the deposit reserve ratio and a combination of other
policies, and continued to promote the overall market of the real
estate industry to stabilize after the decline, reflecting government’s
continued determination to support the overall economy and the real
estate industry. The market rebounded, but did not last long. Market
confidence is still insufficient. The difficulties in financing and property
sales for private-owned developers still exist. It is expected that the
recovery of China’s real estate industry will take a long time, and the
operating environment will remain harsh.

Operating under the current rigorous industry environment, the
Group has adopted decisive measures and adhered to its strategies.
The Group has continued to strengthen its operational control
and efficiency, lower its operating costs, secure property delivery
and financial stability, and maintain its operating solvency, thereby
demonstrating its resilience in its business.

The Group achieved contracted sales (including Group’s subsidiaries,
joint ventures and associates) of approximately RMB17.93 billion in
2024, representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 47.5%.

Property delivery

In order to ensure smooth property delivery, the Group strengthened
its construction and contractor management, and maintained tight
control of the property delivery process and mitigated delivery risks.

During the year 2024, the Group (including its joint ventures and
associated companies) completed the delivery of approximately
80,000 property units. The Group achieved its position as Top 13
amongst Chinese real estate developers in terms of number of units
delivered in 2024, according to data published by EH Consulting.

Land-banking

Due to the continued uncertainty of the Chinese real estate sector,
the Group did not acquire any land sites in 2024. As at 31 December
2024, the Group (together with its joint ventures and associates) had
a land bank with a total GFA (including sold GFA) of approximately
21.9 million sg.m., covering five core economic regions of China.
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Chairman’s Statement

Liability management

As the industry has been challenged by adverse liquidity and
financing situations since mid-2021, the Group has implemented
decisive measures accelerating sales and cash collection, lowering
cost and enhancing operating efficiency, halt of land banking and
controlling interest-bearing debts, and achieved a stable financial
status to enable prompt property delivery, stable operations and
onshore financing.

The Group’s total interest-bearing debts were deleveraged and
controlled at approximately RMB20.25 bilion as at 31 December
2024 (out of which onshore interest-bearing debts amounted to
approximately RMB10.87 bilion whereas offshore interest-bearing
debts amounted to approximately RMB9.38 billion). Due to the
current market condition, the liquidity of the Group is constrained.
The aggregate cash and bank balances (including restricted cash
and pledged deposits) of the Group was approximately RMB5.74
billion as at 31 December 2024. Under the current strict requirement
of local government policies, a substantial part of the Group’s cash
is under strict pre-sale cash escrow in designated bank accounts at
project-level in order to ensure completion of the properties under
development.

With respect to its onshore debts, as at 31 December 2024, most of
the Group’s onshore interest-bearing debts were loans with project
pledges. The Group has been proactively working with onshore
banks and lending institutions to extend the maturity at due dates of
such onshore loans, and believes that the maturity risk of onshore
loans would be manageable.

With respect to its offshore debts, the Company completed the
debt restructuring on 20 March 2024 (the "Debt Restructuring")
in order to alleviate the pressure of its offshore indebtedness. The
Debt Restructuring involved the issue of new senior notes (the “New
Senior Notes”) and the new convertible bonds (the “Convertible
Bonds”), and the signing of a new private loan (the “New Private
Loan”) in exchange of the outstanding offshore debts plus relevant
accrued and unpaid interest as at 31 December 2023.
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OUTLOOK FOR 2025

Although China’s real estate market is still facing many difficulties, the
government’s policy direction to have overall market recovery is clear.
The Political Bureau of the CPC Central Committee and the Central
Economic Work Conference held in December 2024 emphasized
that in order to have good economic year of 2025, it is necessary
to implement more proactive and effective macroeconomic policies,
boost domestic demand, and stabilize the real estate and stock
markets. It also pointed out that it is necessary to implement a
moderately loose monetary policy, reduce the reserve requirement
ratio and interest rate at an appropriate time, maintain ample liquidity,
make an appropriate policy combination, continue to promote
the real estate market to stop declining and stabilize, intensify the
renovation of urban villages and dilapidated houses, and promote
the construction of real estate. It needs to develop a new model for
property development sector. It aims to promote sustained economic
recovery and improvement, continuously improve people’s living
standards, maintain social harmony and stability, and lay a solid
foundation for a good start to the 15th Five-Year Plan. The real estate
market is in a period of transition. With the gradual implementation of
the central government’s supportive policies for the industry and the
economy, we believe that risks can be effectively mitigated.

Looking ahead to 2025, proactive fiscal policies will drive economic
recovery and are expected to boost market confidence. Effective
market demand needs to be improved, but it takes time to resolve
the industry risks accumulated over the years. Although the recovery
period is longer than expected, we are confident that the real estate
market will eventually recover. The Group will continue to emphasize
financial security, maintain operating liquidity, stabilize debt, control
risks, ensure smooth delivery, save costs, strengthen organizational
structure and improve management efficiency to ensure that the
Group can navigate the industry challenges.
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Chairman’s Statement

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express our sincere
appreciation to all employees for their dedication and hard work,
and to our Shareholders, business and financial partners for their
continuous support in the past challenging year.

YANG Jian
Chairman
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PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

Contracted sales

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group (including
its joint ventures and associates) achieved contracted sales of
approximately RMB17.93 billion, representing a year-on-year
decrease of approximately 47.5%. Contracted sales area amounted
to approximately 1,680,000 sg.m., representing a year-on-year
decrease of approximately 49.1%.

During the year, contracted ASP was approximately RMB10,700 per
sg.m..

Table 1: Breakdown of contracted sales in 2024 (the Group’s
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates)

2AF)
71t I & 7 By region

HEBEHN
HEE -HAH8HE -BHHEE
EHHEERE Btk BEEE FHEE

% of total
Contracted contracted Contracted Contracted
sales sales GFA ASP
(ANR¥
(AR®FT) (75 K) 75 K)
(RMB’000) (%) (sg.m.) (RMB/sg.m.)
E=A Yangtze River Delta 7,270,387 40.6 595,967 12,199
Fh 78 2B Midwest China 4,734,699 26.4 573,039 8,262
RS Pan-Bohai Rim 3,231,495 18.0 299,151 10,802
pish i ish=o Western Taiwan Straits 1,456,033 8.1 113,274 12,854
®=A Pearl River Delta 1,237,638 6.9 98,906 12,513
@t Total 17,930,252 100.0 1,680,337 10,671
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% of total
Contracted contracted Contracted Contracted
sales sales GFA ASP
(AR¥E/
(AR®FT) (F75K) 75 K)
(RMB’000) (%) (sg.m.) (RMB/sg.m.)
— Second-tier cities"’ 8,412,188 46.9 667,771 12,597
=@ m? Third-tier cities” 6,922,291 38.6 662,598 10,447
PO 4R 385 T © Fourth-tier cities® 2,595,773 14.5 349,968 7,417
185t Total 17,930,252 100.0 1,680,337 10,671
M - Notes:
1 ZHBETETERREE -B8M- -&F BEmME- (1) Second-tiers cities mainly include Chongaing, Fuzhou, Hefei, Jinan, Qingdao,
FE HM -KE RN EHRALSE - Suzhou, Tianjin, Wenzhou, Wuxi and Xi’an, etc.
@ =@/ ETEaEEM  EMN G BmE- @) Third-tiers cities mainly include Changzhou, Dezhou, Luoyang, Nanping,
P BN FON A RN RIS Shaoxing, Taizhou, Taizhou, Wuhu, Xuzhou and Zhongshan, etc.
@ MMM EERFELE - BE-EJEA - FIM- (3)  Fourth-tiers cities mainly include Ankang, Fuyang, Huangshi, Jingzhou,
B 58 L& R FHERBBES- Maanshan, Mengzi, Shangrao, Xiaogan, Xinxiang and Zhaotong, etc.

15
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EFFLENDEEIME -

MR2024%F12A31H  KREBEEWEYD
BARM41,854.9FH & T 0 20234 12 A 31
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+ ik

HE2024F12A31HILFE - AEER
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R2024F12831H AEB (B EWNE
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oA E HENE T IWEMLD
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REAEMEGLEDIGSEEF X -
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Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale represents completed GFA
remaining unrecognised at the end of each reporting period and
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of the
completed properties held for sale refers to the related costs incurred
attributable to the unsold properties. All completed properties held for
sale are located in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s completed properties held for
sale was approximately RMB17,049.9 million, versus approximately
RMB26,440.1 million as at 31 December 2023.

Projects under development

Properties under development are intended to be held for sale after
completion. Properties under development are stated at the lower
of cost, which comprises land costs, construction costs, capitalised
interests and other costs directly attributable to such properties
incurred during the development period, and net realisable value.
Upon completion, the properties are transferred to completed
properties held for sale.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s properties under development
was approximately RMB41,854.9 million, versus approximately
RMB69,283.3 million as at 31 December 2023.

Land bank

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no new land
sites acquired by the Group.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s (including its subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associates) total land bank (including carparks) was
approximately 21.9 million sg.m., among which approximately 6.1
million sg.m. were completed properties available for sale/leasable
and approximately 15.8 million sq.m. were under development or for
future development.
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K2 AEE(BEHMBLAT - 8% ¥ Table2: Breakdown of the Group’s total land bank (including
BB NT)R2024FE12831H K its subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates) as at 31
T fEEAE N December 2024
BEEOREETE S By provinces and municipalities
T fEE LR E
EHEHA HmE" WMEFOL
Number of Total land % of total
projects bank”  land bank
(75 K)
(sq.-m.) (%)
L &k Jiangsu 36 2,662,121 12.2
7 &l Anhui 33 2,552,676 11.7
yiles] Hunan 18 1,905,198 8.7
=R Shandong 31 1,713,059 7.8
ENE] Henan 16 1,428,343 6.5
H Others 159 11,623,941 53.1
et Total 293 21,885,338 100.0
7 = & 5 By Region
T fEE LR E
HEHEA HME" BMEFHSL
Number of Total land % of total
projects bank”  land bank
(EFXK) (%)
(sg.m.)
E=A Yangtze River Delta 95 5,833,087 26.7
78 B Midwest China 114 10,572,836 48.3
R9E Pan-Bohai Rim 47 3,045,752 13.9
il Qridy== Western Taiwan Straits 25 1,125,251 5.1
K=A Pearl River Delta 12 1,308,412 6.0
F Total 293 21,885,338 100.0
M 5E Notes:

TinFEE(RBEEMRESENOSTIAIHSE (1)  Total land bank (including carparks) equals to the sum of (i) total completed GFA

EBEEMAE ] T 48 2 S T A £ () B B R available for sale/leasable GFA and (ji) total GFA under development and held for
R ERRAENEEZETBEMNLM I future development, without adjusting the equity interest held by the Group in
TRASEREAELELXBMERRFAEN respect of the projects held by the Group’s joint ventures or associates.

ERAHAOREELHE -
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group derived its
revenue from three business lines, namely (i) sales of properties; (i)
other services; and (iii) rental income from property lease. The revenue
of the Group was primarily derived from the sales of properties in the
PRC. The following table sets forth the details of the Group’s revenue
recognised by business line for the years indicated:

BZ12A31BLEE
For the year ended
31 December

2024 F 20234 g
Change in
2024 2023 percentage
AR¥BTT AREBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000 %
-
WA Revenue
Y HE Sales of properties 39,457,318 66,466,526 -40.6%
E b BR 7% Other services 207,685 134,402 +54.5%
el A Rental income 16,868 14,152 +19.2%
F Total 39,681,871 66,615,080 -40.4%
EEREEEE (F5K) Recognised GFA (in sq.m.) 3,756,818 6,489,508
BEERFHEBE(ARE, FHXK) Recognised ASP (in RMB/sqg.m.) 10,503 10,242
-

CEREBWEHEERA

KREBREZ2024F12A31B IEFE®
YIEEEELENBRA  EFR D L40.6%
EHANREI4573BE T D HEREE
FEHMBIRER D O421%E H 22024 F
12 A31 8 It F E 13,756,818 F ;5 K » &
F2024F12A31H I FEE RN TY
EBAESEHARHARKEA0,503TT ' £F
BEFEF KLY ARE10,2427T °
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Revenue recognised from sales of properties

The Group recorded revenue from the sales of properties amounted
to approximately RMB39,457.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2024, a year-on-year decrease of approximately 40.6%,
and recognised a year-on-year decrease in the total recognised GFA
by approximately 42.1% to 3,756,818 sg.m. for the year ended 31
December 2024. Recognised ASP was approximately RMB10,503
per sg.m. in the year ended 31 December 2024 versus approximately
RMB10,242 per sg.m. in the previous year.
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Cost of sales

The Group’s cost of sales decreased by approximately 38.9%
from approximately RMB63,430.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 to approximately RMB38,774.9 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024. Net impairment losses recognised for
properties under development and completed properties held for sale
of approximately RMB421.3 million were included in cost of sales for
the year ended 31 December 2024, as compared to approximately
RMB2,361.7 million for the previous year.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Gross profit represents revenue less cost of sales. As a result of
the foregoing, the Group’s gross profit decreased by approximately
71.5% from approximately RMB3,184.6 million for the year ended
31 December 2023 to approximately RMB906.9 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

The Group’s gross profit margin decreased from 4.8% for the year
ended 31 December 2023 to 2.3% for the year ended 31 December
2024, mainly because of lower ASP relative to the respective land
acquisition costs in respect of property projects delivered and
impairment on property projects during the year.

Other income and gains

The Group’s other income and gains primarily include (i) gain from
the offshore debt restructuring; (i) net fair value change on derivative
financial instruments; (i) gain on early derecognition of senior notes;
(iv) forfeiture of deposits; (v) government grants; and (vi) others, which
mainly include sundry income. The Group’s other income and gains
increased by approximately 945.4% from approximately RMB95.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately
RMB998.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2024, primarily
attributable to the gains from the offshore debt restructuring, net fair
value change on derivative financial instruments and gain on early
derecognition of senior notes.

Selling and distribution expenses

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses decreased year-on-
year by approximately 56.4% to approximately RMB391.0 million for
the year ended 31 December 2024, primarily due to the slow-down
in marketing activities and less promotional expenses budget due to
the impact of a weakened real estate market.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses decreased year-on-year by
approximately 37.6% to approximately RMB781.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024. The decrease was primarily due to the
savings in staff costs and management consultancy fees during the
year. The Group continued to strengthen cost control measures.
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Other expenses and other net losses

The Group incurred other expenses of approximately RMB1,393.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2024, as compared to
approximately RMB890.8 million for the year ended 31 December
2023. The increase in other expenses were mainly due to the loss on
disposal of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates and recognition
of the foreign exchange losses.

The Group recorded an aggregate of other net losses of
approximately RMB309.5 million including fair value losses on
investment properties and net fair value/impairment losses on
financial assets for the year ended 31 December 2024, as compared
to an aggregate of other net losses of approximately RMB522.6
million for the previous year. The change was mainly due to the
decrease in impairment losses on financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss during the year.

Finance income

The Group’s finance income, which mainly represents bank interest
income, decreased year-on-year by approximately 58.0% to
approximately RMB29.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs increased year-on-year by approximately
107.5% to approximately RMB644.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2024.

The Group’s total finance costs expensed and capitalised for the year
ended 31 December 2024 was approximately RMB2,051.4 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 0.8%.

Share of profits/losses of joint ventures and associates

The Group recorded share of losses of joint ventures of approximately
RMB162.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2024, versus
share of profits of joint ventures of approximately RMB599.5 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Group recorded share of profits of associates of approximately
RMB360.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2024, versus
share of profits of associates of approximately RMB322.6 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023.
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On an aggregated basis, the Group’s share of profits of joint ventures
and associates amounted to approximately RMB198.2 million for
the year ended 31 December 2024, representing a year-on-year
decrease of approximately 78.5%. The decrease was primarily due to
the decrease in delivery of property projects held by the Group’s joint
ventures and associates during the year ended 31 December 2024.

(Loss)/profit before tax

As a result of the aforementioned changes in the Group’s financials,
the Group recorded a loss before tax of approximately RMB1,388.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2024, as compared to a
profit before tax of approximately RMB398.1 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

Income tax expense

The Group’s income tax expense comprises provisions made for
corporate income tax and land appreciation tax in the PRC plus
deferred tax during the year. The Group’s income tax expense
decreased by approximately 55.2% from approximately RMB3,316.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately
RMB1,486.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Loss for the year and net loss attributable to the owners of the
Company

As a result of the aforementioned changes in the Group’s financials,
the Group’s net loss for the year (before deducting non-controlling
interests) decreased by approximately 1.5% from approximately
RMB2,918.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
approximately RMB2,874.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2024. The Group’s loss for the year attributable to owners of the
Company decreased by approximately 42.8% from approximately
RMB4,245.7 milion for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
approximately RMB2,427.4 million for the year ended 31 December
2024.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL
RESOURCES

The industry in which the Group engages is a capital-intensive
industry. The Group primarily meets its operating capital, capital
expenditure and other capital needs with cash generated from
operations including proceeds from sale and pre-sale of properties,
proceeds from bank and other borrowings, capital contribution from
non-controlling shareholders and other financings.
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Net current assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s net current assets amounted
to approximately RMB14,918.4 million (31 December 2023:
approximately RMB6,360.7 million). Specifically, the Group’s total
current assets decreased by approximately 25.7% from approximately
RMB157,491.8 milion as at 31 December 2023 to approximately
RMB116,941.2 milion as at 31 December 2024. The Group’s
total current liabilities decreased by approximately 32.5% from
approximately RMB151,131.1 miilion as at 31 December 2023 to
approximately RMB102,022.8 million as at 31 December 2024. The
increase in the Group’s net current assets was primarily attributable
to (i) the decrease in contract liabilities; and (i) the decrease in current
portion of senior notes and host debt of convertible bonds.

Cash position

The Group’s cash and bank balances (including restricted cash
and pledged deposits) amounted to approximately RMB5,740.5
million in aggregate as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023:
approximately RMB10,662.5 million), representing a decrease of
approximately 46.2% as compared with the end of 2023. Under the
current strict requirement of local government policies, substantially
most of the Group’s cash were under strict pre-sale cash escrow
in designated bank accounts at project-level in order to ensure
completion of the properties under development.

Financial Ratio

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s assets-to-liabilities ratio after
excluding receipts in advance (calculated by dividing total liabilities
minus contract liabilities by total assets minus contract liabilities)
was approximately 81.3%, the net gearing ratio was approximately
74.9% and the non-restricted cash-to-current borrowings (calculated
by dividing non-restricted cash and cash equivalents by current
borrowings) was approximately 0.41.

Indebtedness

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had total outstanding
indebtedness of approximately RMB20,250.7 million (31 December
2023: approximately RMB21,165.8 million), comprising bank
and other borrowings of approximately RMB11,162.2 million (31
December 2023: approximately RMB14,601.6 million), senior
notes of approximately RMB8,659.4 million (31 December 2023:
approximately RMB6,564.2 million), and convertible bonds of
approximately RMB429.1 million (31 December 2023: nil).
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Table 3: Breakdown of the Group’s total indebtedness

B &R Current
RITER Bank loans
— BT — secured
HaEx Other loans
—BHE — secured
— — unsecured
REFRITERNENEIL S Current portion of long-term bank loans
— B — secured
REEMERWEIE D Current portion of long-term other loans
— BRI — secured
— R — unsecured
BEEE Senior notes
AT]RE % Convertible bonds
BB Total current indebtedness
Ik B H#A Non-current
RITER Bank loans
— B — secured
HiBER Other loans
— B — secured
— K 3 — unsecured
BEEE Senior notes
BN EK AT Total non-current indebtedness
BEAE Total indebtedness
B Secured
fiii i Unsecured
BEXEE Total indebtedness

M12H31H
As at 31 December
2024 F 2023 F
2024 2023
ARET T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

678,397

849,991
3,281,994

4,026,917
2,187,034

461,916
6,564,246

18,050,495

1,662,199

954,100
509,054

3,115,353

21,165,848

10,348,638
10,817,210

21,165,848
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12 B 7E 5 7 B FI| 3 &l 7 By fixed or variable interest rates
M12A831H
As at 31 December
2024 & 2023 4F
2024 2023
AR® Tt AR T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
I —————————
TEF| & Fixed interest rate 17,518,190 19,271,737
FE A & Floating interest rate 2,732,552 1,894,111
B EE Total Indebtedness 20,250,742 21,165,848
BitEE ¥ E 5 By currency denomination
M12A31H
As at 31 December
2024 & 20234
2024 2023
AR Tt ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
NARKEEAE Denominated in RMB 10,869,837 12,820,303
AZETTEHE Denominated in US$ 9,380,905 8,345,545
B EE Total Indebtedness 20,250,742 21,165,848

-,

24



ZHONGLIANG HOLDINGS GROUP COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

THBFIWE S

Management Discussion and Analysis

BEHEXKESE D By maturity profiles
R12A831H
As at 31 December
2024 % 20234
2024 2023
AR¥BTR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
I —————————
EEEBERITERN: Bank loans repayable:
— AR —FARAHIZERKEE  — Within one year or on demand 3,741,639 4,705,314
—ARBE_FEE — In the second year 1,581,051 802,309
—BRE=ZZEEFERTFNA — In the third to fifth year, inclusive
(BIEEREME)ER 189,900 849,890
5,512,590 6,357,513
EEEHMMERN: Other borrowings repayable:
— AR —FAHRIZERKEE  — Within one year or on demand 3,986,013 6,780,935
—ARBE_FEE — In the second year 1,172,219 1,154,604
—BARE=ZZEZFRLFA — In the third to fifth year, inclusive
(BIEEREMF)ER 491,430 308,550
5,649,662 8,244,089
EBEEEERE: Senior notes repayable:
—BR—FREE — Within one year 452,598 6,564,246
—HREBE_FEE — In the second year 905,196 —
—BAREB=ZZEZFLFA — In the third to fifth year, inclusive
(BEEREMF)ER 7,301,559 -
8,659,353 6,564,246
EEETRERES: Convertible bonds repayable:
— AR —FRNRIZEREE  — Within one year or on demand 429,137 —
BRAE Total Indebtedness 20,250,742 21,165,848
S
BIEEFER  FTHELZELTHE  Under the Debt Restructuring, the New Senior Notes and the
BMES WRITFTAEERINBREEZE  Convertible Bonds were issued, and the New Private Loan was

2023F 12 A31 B R EEEINME T I L 48
BETAMARNFE EEEHEBRLAR

AIMRIMETSEE A

signed in exchange of the outstanding offshore debts plus relevant
accrued and unpaid interest as at 31 December 2023. The Debt

Restructuring alleviates the Company from the pressure of its offshore

indebtedness.
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Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s borrowings were secured
by the Group’s assets of approximately RMB38,973.9 million
(81 December 2023: approximately RMB52,342.2 million) which
includes properties under development.

Financial risks

The Group’s activities are exposed it to a variety of financial risks.
Generally, the Group introduces conservative strategies on its risk
management and did not use any derivatives or other instruments for
hedging purposes during the year under review.

The Group has transactional currency exposures arising from
transactions by the group entities in currencies other than their
respective functional currencies. In addition, the Group has foreign
currency exposures from its cash and cash equivalents, bank and
other borrowings, senior notes, convertible bonds and derivative
financial instruments. The Group has not entered into any foreign
currency hedging arrangement. However, the Group will closely
monitor its exposure to exchange rates in order to best preserve the
Group’s cash value. The Group’s interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings are also exposed to risk for changes in market interest
rates. The Group has not used derivative financial instruments to
hedge any interest rate risk.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings, senior notes and convertible bonds. Cash flows
are closely monitored on an ongoing basis.

The Group will continue to explore different means to generate
cashflow in order to improve the overall liquidity of the Group and
to settle its remaining outstanding debts, including but not limited
to: () actively communicate with banks to secure relevant project
development loans for qualified project development in a timely
manner; (i) seek other alternative financing and borrowings to finance
the settlement of its existing financial obligations and future operating
and capital expenditures; (i) focus on accelerating the sales of
properties based on its business plans; (iv) implement measures to
speed up the collection of outstanding sales proceeds and effectively
control costs and expenses; and (v) seek suitable opportunities
to dispose of its equity interests in certain project development
companies in order to generate additional cash inflows.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Mortgage guarantees

The Group provided guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities granted
by certain banks to the purchasers of the Group’s properties. Pursuant
to the terms of the guarantee arrangements, in case of default on
mortgage payments by the purchasers, the Group is responsible to
repay the outstanding mortgage principals together with any accrued
interest and penalties owed by the defaulted purchasers to those banks.
Under such arrangement, the related properties were pledged to the
banks as collateral for the mortgage loans, upon default on mortgage
repayments by these purchasers, the banks are entitled to take over the
legal titles and will realise the pledged properties through open auction.

The Group’s guarantee period starts from the dates of grant of the
relevant mortgage loans and ends upon the issuance and registration
of property ownership certificates to the purchasers, which will
generally be available within half a year to two years after the
purchasers take possession of the relevant properties.

The total outstanding mortgage guarantee amount provided by the
Group to banks amounted to approximately RMB17,516.6 million
as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: approximately
RMB17,392.0 million).

The Group did not incur any material losses during the year in
respect of the guarantees provided for mortgage facilities granted
to purchasers of the Group’s properties under development. The
Directors considered that in case of default on payments, the net
realisable value of the related properties would be sufficient to repay
the outstanding mortgage loans together with any accrued interest
and penalty, and therefore no provision has been made in connection
with the guarantees.

Financial guarantees

As at 31 December 2024, the Group guaranteed certain of the bank
and other borrowings made to its joint ventures and associates
up to approximately RMB4,644.9 milion (31 December 2023:
approximately RMB6,352.2 million).

Legal contingents

The Group may be involved in lawsuits and other proceedings in its
ordinary course of business from time to time. Save as disclosed in
this report, the Group believes that no liabilities resulting from these
proceedings will have a material and adverse effect on its business,
financial condition or operating results.
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COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s property development
expenditures, acquisition of land use rights and capital contributions
payable to joint ventures and associates that had contracted but yet
provided for were approximately RMB13,840.2 million (31 December
2023: approximately RMB19,362.7 million).

OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS AND
ARRANGEMENTS

Except for the contingent liabilities disclosed above, as at 31
December 2024, the Group did not have any outstanding loan
capital issued or agreed to be issued, bank overdrafts, loans, debt
securities, borrowings or other similar indebtedness, liabilities under
acceptances (other than normal trade bills), acceptance credits,
debentures, mortgages, charges, finance leases or hire purchase
commitments, guarantees or other material contingent liabilities.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD,

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES, AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, other than those carried out under
the Group’s ordinary course of business, there were no other
significant investments held, no material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the year, nor was
there any plan authorised by the Group for other material investments
or additions of capital assets during the year ended 31 December
2024,

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed a total of 2,150 full-
time employees (31 December 2023: 3,145). For the year ended 31
December 2024, the staff cost recognised as expenses of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB597.4 million (31 December 2023:
approximately RMB894.8 million). The Group offers its employees
market-level remuneration packages that include basic salaries,
discretionary bonuses, performance-based payments, share options
and share awards.
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and Company Secretary

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. YANG Jian, aged 53, is the founder of the Group and was
appointed as an executive Director and the chairman of the Board in
March 2018. He is also the chairman of the nomination committee
and a member of the remuneration committee of the Company.
Mr. Yang has more than 31 years of experience in the PRC real
estate industry. Mr. Yang is principally responsible for the overall
management and business operations of the Group, including
coordinating board affairs, formulating strategies and operational
plans, and making major business decisions.

Mr. Yang received the Executive Education Program Certificate from
Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business, the PRC, in May 2016
after completing a course in investment and financing in capital
market.

Mr. CHEN Hongliang, aged 43, was appointed as an executive
Director in December 2019. He is currently a co-president of the
property business and a director of various subsidiaries of the
Group. Mr. Chen is also the chairman of the ESG committee of
the Company. He is primarily responsible for the governance and
management of the Group, including strategies, human resources,
mechanism accounting, legal, risk and financial management, real
estate information management and brand building of the Group.

Mr. Chen has more than 19 years of experience in human resources.
Since September 2009, Mr. Chen has worked for the subsidiaries of
the Group holding different positions. He was the assistant president
of the Group and was in charge of human resources center, legal
affairs center and mechanism accounting center from August 2016
to August 2018, then he was promoted to vice president of the
Company in August 2018 and subsequently promoted to the current
position as a co-president of the property business in September
2019. Mr. Chen was the deputy general manager of human resources
of the Group from March 2016 to August 2016, the director of human
resources of the Group from March 2015 to March 2016 and as the
deputy director of the Group from March 2013 to March 2015. He
was the manager of corporate management department and head of
office at Shanghai Zhongliang Real Estate Group Company Limited
from September 2009 to March 2013.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chen was the manager of human resources
administration at Suzhou Shengshi Real Estate Investment Group Ltd.*,
which primarily engages in property development and sales, from January
2007 to October 2008. Mr. Chen graduated from Anhui University of
Science and Technology in Anhui Province, the PRC, in July 2004, majoring
in human resources management. In February 2010, he obtained the
Human Resources Management Certificate (Intermediate level)* granted by
Jiangsu Province Human Resources and Social Security Bureau™.
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Mr. HE Jian, aged 50, was appointed as an executive Director in July
2021. He is currently a co-president of the property business and a
director of various subsidiaries of the Group. He is also a member of
the ESG committee of the Company. Mr. He is primarily responsible
for the investment, product development, sales and customer
services, and overseeing of the business operations of the Group.

Mr. He joined the Group in December 2015 and has over 23 years
of experience in real estate development and sales operations, and
held senior management positions as deputy general manager of
sales and marketing and president of various regional companies and
groups. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. He held senior management
roles in Binjiang, Greentown and Sino-Ocean real estate groups.

Mr. YEUNG Tak Yip, aged 43, was appointed as an executive Director
in June 2024. He is currently the chief financial officer of the Group. Mr.
Yeung is also a member of the ESG committee of Company. From July
2018 to June 2024, he was the company secretary of the Company.
Mr. Yeung is mainly responsible for compliance and corporate
governance as well as corporate finance, capital markets and investor
relations in the Group. Mr. Yeung has more than 20 years of extensive
experience in various aspects including accounting and finance, capital
markets, investor relations and corporate management. Prior to joining
the Group, he was the financial controller, director of investor relations
and company secretary of Modern Land (China) Co., Limited, which
mainly engages in green and sustainable property development and
is listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1107), from April 2016
to April 2018. From October 2012 to April 2016, Mr. Yeung was
the company secretary and group financial controller of China City
Infrastructure Group Limited which is listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 2349). Mr. Yeung previously worked at Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu as an audit manager from April 2008 to February 2011
and as an auditor from September 2003 to April 2008. He received
his bachelor’s degree in professional accountancy from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong in Hong Kong in May 2003. He also obtained
a master’s degree in laws from King’s College London in April 2022.
He has also been a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants (ACCA) since March 2013 and a fellow member
of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA) since
July 2024,

Ms. HU Hui, aged 48, was appointed as an executive Director in
December 2024. She has over 25 years of experience in real estate
development and sales operations. Ms. Hu joined the Group in
May 2016 and has been serving as deputy general manager of the
marketing department since then. Prior to joining the Group, Ms.
Hu served as a marketing director and deputy general manager in
other PRC real estate groups. She received her bachelor’'s degree
in economics from East China Normal University in July 1999. In
December 2022, she was awarded the title of Senior Economist by
Shanghai Municipal Human Resources and Social Security Bureau.
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. WANG Kaiguo, aged 66, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director in June 2019 and is currently a member of the
audit committee and the nomination committee of the Company. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. Wang has served at Shanghai Zhongping
Capital Co. Ltd., an asset management company, as the chairman of
the board of directors since August 2016. Mr. Wang has more than
28 years of experience working in financial institutions. From February
1995 to July 2016, he served at a Chinese securities corporation
Haitong Securities Co., Ltd. and held various positions, including
the deputy general manager, general manager, Secretary of the
Leading Party Members’ Group, Secretary of Party Committee and
chairman of the board where he began to host the work of Haitong
Securities Co., Ltd. in a comprehensive way and led it to become a
leading securities in China. Mr. Wang received his doctor’s degree
in economics from Xiamen University in Fujian Province, the PRC in
May 1990. Mr. Wang was certified as a senior economist by Bank
of Communications in December 1997. Since February 2022, Mr.
Wang has been an independent non-executive director of Greenland
Holdings Corporation Limited, a company which invests in real
estate, energy, finance and hotels, etc. and is listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 600606). Since June 2024, Mr. Wang
has been an independent non-executive director of CMOC Group
Limited, a company which engages in the non-ferrous metal-mining
and processing business, which includes the mining, beneficiation,
smelting and refining of base and rare metals, and mineral trading
business, and the A shares of which are listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 603993) and the H shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3993).
Since June 2024, Mr. Wang has been an independent non-executive
director of Dazhong Transportation (Group) Co., Ltd., a company
which focuses on the transportation industry and has built four major
industry sectors: transportation and automobile services, financial
investment, real estate and hotels, and big data, and is listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600611). From May 2017 to
June 2023, Mr. Wang was an independent non-executive director
of Shanghai Dazhong Public Utilities (Group) Co., Ltd., a supplier of
piped gas and other public utilities the A shares of which are listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600635) and the H
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1635). He also served as an independent non-executive
director of a corporate commercial bank, Shanghai Rural Commercial
Bank Co., Ltd. from March 2017 to June 2023 and the company is
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange since August 2021 (stock
code: 601825). From December 2009 to December 2014, Mr. Wang
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was an independent non-executive director at Shanghai Chlor-Alkali
Chemical Co., Ltd., a company which manufactures and markets
chlorine and alkaline chemicals and is listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 600618). From November 2018 to September
2022, Mr. Wang was an independent non-executive director of J-Yuen
Trust Co., Ltd, (@ company which engages in deposit and lending
business, investment business and trust business and is listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600816)). From November
2018, Mr. Wang was an independent non-executive director of
Caitong Fund Management Co., Ltd., a company which engages in
fund management business, fund establishment and other business
as approved by the China Securities Regulatory Commission.

Mr. WU Xiaobo, aged 65, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director in June 2019 and is currently the chairman of the
remuneration committee and a member of the audit committee and
nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Wu has extensive work
experience acting as a strategy adviser in the manufacturing industry
in terms of providing strategy, innovation, transnational development
and management consulting services. Mr. Wu has served as an
independent director of Hikvision Digital Technology Co., Ltd. (a
video-centric loT solution provider listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange, stock code: 002415) since March 2021. He also served
as an independent director of Ucloud Technology Co., Ltd. (a neutral
third-party cloud computing service provider listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange, stock code: 688158) since June 2020. From August
2018 to September 2024, Mr. Wu served as an independent director
of IKD Co., Ltd. (an auto parts manufacturer listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange, stock code: 600933). Mr. Wu graduated from
Zhejiang University in Zhejiang Province, the PRC, with a doctor’s
degree in management science and engineering in July 1992, a
master’s degree in engineering in June 1989 and a bachelor’s degree
in electrical engineering in January 1982.
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Mr. AU YEUNG Po Fung, aged 57, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in June 2019 and is currently the
chairman of the audit committee and a member of the remuneration
committee and ESG committee of the Company. Mr. Au Yeung
has extensive work experience in the real estate industry. He
held various senior management positions in various real estate
companies, including Beijing Huahong Group Co., Ltd., Sansheng
Holdings (Group) Co. Ltd., Fujian Sansheng Property Development
Company Limited, South China Assets Holdings Limited, Shenzhen
Tianlai Tourism Property Group, Fosun Industrial Holdings Limited (a
subsidiary of Fosun International Limited), Sun Hung Kai Properties
Limited, Powerlong Real Estate Holdings Limited, Greenland Hong
Kong Holdings Limited, Landsea Green Group Co., Ltd., Fu Wah
International Enterprises Group Ltd.. Mr. Au Yeung graduated from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently known as The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University) in Hong Kong in November 1990 with a
bachelor’s degree in business studies. He was admitted as a fellow
of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in November
2000, a fellow of the Hong Kong Society of Accountants (currently
known as the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(HKICPA)) in May 2003, and a fellow of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales in July 2015. Mr. Au Yeung
was also certified as a chartered financial analyst (CFA) of the CFA
Institute in September 2006.
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= In addition, Mr. Au Yeung holds or had served as an independent
MRAREEBLIERITES

non-executive director in the following companies listed on the Stock

BR % 5

Period of service

Exchange:

DEER

Name of company

TEXH

Principal business

2020F6 AES FERBBEEBRRAA HREUEMEEBRRBIRERS
(B 3 5% - 6958)
June 2020 to present Zhenro Services Group Limited complex property management service provider
(stock code: 6958)
2018F6 AZES EFRHGEEBRALT RBMEAREER
(P £ K 5% : 8036)
June 2018 to present eBroker Group Limited financial technology solution provider
(stock code: 8036)
2018F6HES Gt ESEEBR LA MERED
(B 1 5% - 1996)
June 2018 to present Redsun Properties Group Limited real estate developer
(stock code: 1996)
2020510 A £2024 57 A i ESEER DA MERER
(P& £ K 5% : 6900)
October 2020 to July 2024 Sunkwan Properties Group Limited real estate developer
(stock code: 6900)
20194 8 A £2023F 4 A mHEREIDAERAAY MEREH
August 2019 to April 2023 Sinic Holdings (Group) Company Limited"” real estate developer
201845 A 2202146 A EEmEEE RN BRAF PEERRA EERNRE  EHEREEIRRK
(B 3 R 5% = 1749) UNBEEREEES
May 2018 to June 2021 Shanshan Brand Management Co., Ltd.  menswear company focusing on design, marketing
(stock code: 1749) and sale of formal and casual business menswear in
the PRC
201756 A £2020F2 A Bl )E R AE MEREREREDA

June 2017 to February 2020

20167 A 2201959 A

July 2016 to September 2019

201645 A £2016F 9 A

May 2016 to September 2016

B&E

(B 2 5% - 108)
GR Life Style Company Limited
(stock code: 108)

HEBEEEEREEERAA

(B 2 5% - 931)

China HK Power Smart Energy Group Limited
(stock code: 931)

ERBEBERERARY

(B fn H55% - 381)

Kiu Hung International Holdings Limited”
(stock code: 381)

Notes:

property development and management company

BEEE LR %
asset management and new energy development

MARENRERRABEBES

toys manufacturing and resources and leisure-related
business

1) FHEREER)ERDRN2023F48EHE (1)
FEBE S P E R £ T b o

Sinic Holdings (Group) Company Limited was delisted on Main Board of the
Stock Exchange in April 2023.

@ REEREREEERHERAA @

tREESAEE s HREEEKE -

Currently known as AOM International Group Company Limited.

The abovementioned Directors are members of senior management
of the Group.
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* ERZE

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheung Sze Kan, aged 45, joined the Group as compliance
and company secretarial director in August 2018. He is primarily
responsible for corporate compliance, company secretarial matters
and finance management of the Group. Mr. Cheung has over 20
years of extensive experience in corporate secretarial practice,
corporate compliance and financial management. From December
2016 to July 2018, Mr. Cheung served as the compliance director of
Modern Land (China) Co., Limited, a green and sustainable property
developer and is listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1107),
where he was primarily responsible for compliance and company
secretarial matters. From July 2011 to December 2016, Mr. Cheung
worked for China City Infrastructure Group Limited which is listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2349), where his last position held
was company secretary and senior group financial manager. From
February 2006 to July 2011, Mr. Cheung served as a senior auditor
of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. Mr. Cheung served as an assistant
senior auditor of Y. M. Hon & Co. from May 2002 to January 2006.

Mr. Cheung obtained a bachelor’s degree in business administration
in accountancy from City University of Hong Kong in November 2002.
He also obtained a master’s degree in corporate governance from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in October 2014.

Mr. Cheung became a fellow member of the ACCA in June 2011, a
member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (HKCGI)
in March 2015 and a fellow member of the HKICPA in July 2024. In
March 2023, he was also awarded the title of Certified Environmental,
Social and Governance Analyst (CESGA) by the European Federation
of Financial Analysts Societies.

*

For illustrative purpose only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to
enhance corporate value and accountability.

The Company has adopted and applied the Corporate Governance
Code as its own code on corporate governance and, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has complied with all
applicable code provisions under the Corporate Governance Code
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board composition

As at 31 December 2024, the Board consisted of five executive
Directors, namely Mr. Yang Jian (Chairman), Mr. Chen Hongliang (Co-
President), Mr. He Jian (Co-President), Mr. Yeung Tak Yip and Ms.
Hu Hui, and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Wang Kaiguo, Mr. Wu Xiaobo, and Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung. An updated
list of the Directors and their roles and functions is published on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and of the Company, respectively.
The overall management and supervision of the Company’s operation
and the function of formulating overall business strategies were
vested in the Board.

There are no financial, business, family or other material relationships
among members of the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has at all
times met the requirements of Rules 3.10(1) and (2) of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive directors with at least one independent non-executive
director possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise. The three
independent non-executive Directors represented more than one-
third of the Board, complying with the requirement under Rule 3.10A
of the Listing Rules whereby independent non-executive directors
of a listed issuer must represent at least one-third of the board. The
Board believes there is sufficient independence element in the Board
to safeguard the interest of Shareholders.
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Corporate Governance Report

Directors’ responsibilities

The Board takes the responsibility to oversee all major matters of the
Company, including the formulation and approval of all policy matters,
overall strategies, internal control and risk management systems, and
monitor the performance of the senior executives. The Directors have
to make decisions objectively in the interests of the Company. As at 31
December 2024, the Board comprised eight Directors, including five
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.
Their names and biographical details are set out in the “Biographies
of Directors, Senior Management and Company Secretary” section of
this report.

Liability insurance for Directors and senior management of the
Company is maintained by the Company with appropriate coverage
for certain legal liabilities which may arise in the course of performing
their duties.

Delegation by the Board

The management, consisting of executive Directors along with other
senior executives, is delegated with responsibilities for implementing
the strategy and direction as adopted by the Board from time to time,
and conducting the day-to-day management and operations of the
Group. Executive Directors and senior executives meet regularly to
review the performance of the businesses of the Group as a whole,
co-ordinate overall resources and make financial and operational
decisions. The Board also gives clear directions as to their powers
of management including circumstances where management should
report back, and will review the delegation arrangements on a
periodic basis to ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs of
the Group.

Directors’ responsibilities for financial statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group in accordance with
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. The
Directors also acknowledge their responsibilities to ensure that the
consolidated financial statements of the Group are published in a
timely manner.
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Disclaimer of Opinion

The Company’s auditor, ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited issued a
disclaimer of opinion on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group, details of which are set out in the independent auditor’s
report.

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

Scope limitation relating to the assessment on the
appropriateness of the going concern basis of preparing the
consolidated financial statements

The Group has completed the offshore debts restructuring on 20
March 2024 that the default senior notes and other default offshore
debts were all exchanged into new offshore senior notes, new
offshore convertible bonds or new offshore loans with longer maturity
which partially relieved the Group’s liquidity pressure, however, as
set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group recorded a net loss of RMB2,874,620,000 for the year ended
31 December 2024. As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s total
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and senior notes and
host debt of convertible bonds amounted to RMB20,250,742,000,
out of which RMB8,609,387,000 will be due for repayment within
the next twelve months (including other interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings of RMB2,729,094,000 which had not been repaid
according to their scheduled repayment dates), while its cash
and cash equivalents amounted to RMB3,550,680,000. As at 31
December 2024, the default of certain interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings triggered certain long term interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings amounting to RMB602,766,000 becoming
repayable on demand. The aforesaid conditions, together with other
matters set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements,
indicate the existence of material uncertainties which cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors of the Company have been undertaking measures to
improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position, which are set out
in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements. The validity of
the going concern assumption on which the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared depends on the outcome of these
plans and measures, which are subject to multiple uncertainties
including whether the Company can () successfully negotiate with
the Group’s existing debt holders for the renewal or extension for
repayment of the Group’s bank and other borrowings; (ii) successfully
secure project development loans for qualified project development
in a timely manner; (i) successfully obtain additional new sources
of financing as and when needed; (iv) successfully carry out the
Group’s business strategy plan including the acceleration of the sales
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of properties; (v) successfully implement measures to speed up the
collection of outstanding sales proceeds and effectively control costs
and expenses; (vi) successfully manage the payments to construction
contractors and other development vendors; and (vi) successfully
dispose of the Group’s equity interests in project development
companies when suitable. In respect of the plans and measures, (i)
to (i), we were advised by management that no written contractual
agreements from debt holders or banks are available to the Group,
in respect of the plans and measures (iv) to (vii), we were advised by
management that the plans and measures are still in progress and
no sufficient appropriate audit evidence can be obtained to evaluate
the implementation of these plans and measures. Accordingly, we
were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence that we
considered necessary to evaluate the Group’s ability to implement the
above plans and measures on a timely basis for applying the going
concern basis of preparing the consolidated financial statements.

In view of the above scope limitation, there were no other alternative
procedures that we could perform to satisfy ourselves that the Group
would be able to implement its plans and measures, as a result, we
were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence we considered
necessary to conclude whether the use of the going concern basis
of accounting to prepare the consolidated financial statements is
appropriate.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned plans and
measures, it might not be able to continue to operate as a going
concern, and adjustments might have to be made to write down the
carrying values of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to
reclassify non-current liabilities as current liabilities with consideration
of the contractual terms or to recognise a liability for any contractual
commitments that may have become onerous, where appropriate.
The effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

The Management’s Position, View and Assessment on the
Disclaimer of Opinion

In view of the uncertainties relating to going concern, the Directors
have undertaken a number of plans and measures to improve the
Group’s liquidity and financial position, including that the Group:

(@) has been actively negotiating with the Group’s existing debt
holders to seek renewal, extension and replacement of bank
loans and other borrowings;

(o)  will continue to actively communicate with banks to timely
secure relevant project development loans for qualified project
development;

39



FRIZEREEER AT 2024 F F3R

ERER/WE
Corporate Governance Report

 HEESKREMBERBRERER
SRETHRAEVBEREEARRRKE
EREARAZTHEHRES

d EHITAMREEDERLETNER
KBS AT &

€ CHEBRER MRKERNNHEE
WA - B RBIEF AR ER

() A 4B B 2 SR R B R A0 AL 4t R B 4R
ERERAEENRZH &

0 BEBESHKaENRE HEER
ETHEHERBEARMNKRE UEL
BINNEEIRA ©

EMERYEHEETE  ARRIE)BIEE
BHANEEEE EAKESRERE
BENESAEMSERNE—FEHR
PAEE 2 5 1F o 3 65 BROBR ROORTE ¢ (i) 3RS 1
WHEHEERETREHWE  ZF
MBREHAEEERABF ¢ K i) 35
CEEFEREENRRR BREEN
EMBEAHBEEEEK - A2REA
TG NMELHBEAEERRTEYE
HERRFIIBTR

goN - EAREFBRET - AaE—H
EEZVERRAGEHEERANDKRE
e MFBEFT R X B FIE T S (F AW
RIBITRBEREHNFEREEP A
X HAREERHEWRA - X KA
EHTH ARERBEHERSERE  BRE
T 8B P9 B R AR - I B RS M 1 PR K £ 30 R
BRIEBE R ARLRAL -

ARABEERAE KEBE LA RE
M AEEBERHNEELESBHER
BMHEHEE S AR20245F12H31 8 #£ K
R+—EAANBITER U EEE - B
b ARAREZGEH BRBECEEER
BAREEHZE2024F 12 A31H L FE 4R
AU BBERBEE -

40

(c) will continue to seek for other alternative financing and
borrowings to finance the settlement of its existing financial
obligations and future operating and capital expenditures;

(d) has prepared a business strategy plan mainly focusing on the
acceleration of the sales of properties;

(e) has implemented measures to speed up the collection of
outstanding sales proceeds and effectively control costs and
expenses;

()  will continue to negotiate with construction contractors and
other development vendors to manage payment schedules; and

(@ will continue to seek suitable opportunities to dispose of its
equity interest in certain project development companies in
order to generate additional cash inflows.

In respect of the acceleration of sales of properties, the Company has
(i) optimized the management structure in the business department
S0 as to enable the senior management of the Group to have access
to the first-hand knowledge on the market demand for making
timely decision on the selling strategies; (i) strategically concentrated
its sales resources on key areas where the market environment is
more positive to the Group; and (jii) implemented the sales incentive
policy for the sales team including the sales commission and bonus
to motivate the sales team. The Company has published monthly
operating data in order to keep Shareholders updated of the sales of
properties.

In addition, the Company has closely monitored the collection of the
outstanding sales proceeds with the coordination between different
departments. The finance department has closely worked with the
business department so as to ensure mortgage loans from the banks
will be timely released to the customers to settle the outstanding
sales proceeds. In terms of expenses and cost control, the Group
has streamlined its management structure, downsized the business
department and strategically reduced its cost and expenses on land
acquisition or project designing.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that, taking into
account the above plans and measures, the Group will have
sufficient working capital to finance its operations and meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall due within the following
twelve months from 31 December 2024. Accordingly, the directors
of the Company are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 on a going concern basis.
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Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist as to
whether the management of the Group will be able to implement the
aforementioned plans and measures. Should the Group be unable
to operate as a going concern, adjustments may have to be made to
write down the carrying values of assets to their recoverable amounts,
to provide for any further liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and
current liabilities, respectively. The effect of these adjustments has
not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

The Company will implement the measures and plans as set out
above in order to resolving its liquidity problem. It endeavours to
resolve the disclaimer of opinion issue as soon as practicable.
However, as mentioned above, there are still uncertainties as to
whether the Group will be able to implement the plans and measures
successfully. If any of the plans or measures fail to implement, the
going concern issue will subsist and the timing of removing the
disclaimer of opinion may be delayed.

Audit Committee’s View on the Disclaimer of Opinion

The audit committee of the Company had critically reviewed the
disclaimer of opinion, the management’s position concerning the
disclaimer of opinion (the “Management’s Position”) and measures
taken by the Group for addressing the disclaimer of opinion. The audit
committee of the Company agreed with the Management’s Position
based on the reasons above. Moreover, the audit committee of the
Company requested the management to take all necessary actions
to address the uncertainties regarding going concern underlying the
disclaimer of opinion with a view to resolving the going concern issue
as soon as practicable. The audit committee of the Company had
also discussed with ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited regarding the
financial position of the Group, measures taken and to be taken by
the Group, and considered the auditor’s rationale and understood its
consideration in arriving its opinion.

Independent non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors play a significant role in
the Board by virtue of their independent judgment and their views
carry significant weight in the Board’s decision. The functions of
independent non-executive Directors include bringing an impartial
view and judgement on issues of the Company’s strategies,
performance and control; and scrutinising the Company’s
performance and monitoring performance reporting.
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All independent non-executive Directors possess extensive academic,
professional and industry expertise and management experience and
have made positive contributions to the development of the Company
through providing their professional advice to the Board.

All independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of
three years.

Confirmation of independence

The independence of the independent non-executive Directors has
been assessed in accordance with the applicable Listing Rules and
each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an annual
written confirmation of independence to the Company. The Company
is of the view that all independent non-executive Directors meet the
guidelines for assessing independence set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and are independent.

Independence mechanisms

The Company has in place mechanisms to ensure independent views
and input are available to the Board. The Board shall at all times
comprise at least three independent non-executive Directors that
represent at least one-third of the Board, such that there is always a
strong element of independence on the Board which can effectively
exercise independent judgement. Each independent non-executive
Director is required to provide an annual confirmation of his/her
independence to the Company and the nomination committee of
the Company is responsible to assess the independence and time
commitment of each independent non-executive Director at least
annually.

All the Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors,
are given equal opportunity and channels to communicate and
express their views to the Board and have separate and independent
access to the management of the Group in order to make informed
decisions. To facilitate proper discharge of their duties, all the
Directors are entitled to seek advice from the company secretary
of the Company or, upon reasonable request, seek independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense. The chairman of
the Board will hold meetings with the independent non-executive
Directors without the involvement of other Directors at least annually
to discuss any issues and concerns.
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Any Director or his/her associate who has a conflict of interest in a
matter to be considered by the Board will be dealt with by a physical
Board meeting rather than by written resolutions. Such Director
will be required to declare his/her interests before the meeting and
abstain from voting and not counted towards the quorum on the
relevant resolutions. Independent non-executive Directors who, and
whose associates, have no interest in the matter should attend the
Board meeting.

The Board has reviewed and considered that the mechanisms are
effective in ensuring that independent views and input are provided to
the Board during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Board diversity policy

To enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain the high
standard of corporate governance, the Company has adopted
the board diversity policy on 19 June 2019, which sets out the
objective and approach to achieve and maintain diversity of the
Board. Pursuant to the board diversity policy, the Company seeks to
achieve board diversity by taking into consideration of various factors,
including but not limited to professional experience, skills, knowledge,
gender, age, cultural and education background, ethnicity and length
of service with the Group. The Company places high emphasis on
ensuring a balanced composition of skills and experience at the
Board level in order to provide a range of perspectives, insights
and challenge that enable the Board to discharge its duties and
responsibilities effectively, support good decision making in view
of the core businesses and strategy of the Group, and support
succession planning and development of the Board.

The nomination committee is responsible for ensuring the diversity of
the Board members and compliance with relevant codes governing
board diversity under the Listing Rules. The nomination committee
and the Board will review the board diversity policy, its implementation
and its diversity profile annually to ensure its continued effectiveness.

The Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge, skills and
experience, including the areas of real estate, accounting, financial
management, marketing and manufacturing industries. They obtained
professional qualifications and academic degrees in various majors,
including economics/finance, business studies, human resources
management, management science and engineering, professional
accountancy and law. The Company has three independent non-
executive Directors with different industry backgrounds, representing
more than one-third of the members of the Board.
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Gender diversity

The Company has also taken steps to promote gender diversity at
all levels of the Company, including but not limited to the Board and
the management levels. As at 31 December 2024, the Company has
one female Director and aims to maintain at least at this level at all
times. The Board will continue to find ways to increase the proportion
of female members over time as and when suitable candidates are
identified. The Company will also make its best endeavour to ensure
that there is gender diversity when recruiting staff at mid to senior
level of the Group and ensure that sufficient resources are available
for providing appropriate trainings and career development to
develop a pipeline of potential successors to the Board and maintain
gender diversity.

Gender ratio in the workforce is set out in the ESG report of the
Company to be published at the same time as this annual report is
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company
respectively.

The Group makes its best endeavour to encourage gender diversity
since recruitment and selection process and across its workplace.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board was not aware
of any mitigating factors or circumstances which make achieving
gender diversity across the workforce (including senior management)
more challenging or less relevant.

Appointment, re-election and removal of Directors

Each of the executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors has entered into a service contract or a letter of appointment
with the Company for a specific term. Such term is subject to his
retirement by rotation and re-election at an annual general meeting
of the Company in accordance with the Articles. Pursuant to Article
112 of the Articles, the Board shall have power from time to time
and at any time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a
casual vacancy or as an additional Director, provided that the number
of Directors so appointed shall not exceed the maximum number
determined from time to time by the Shareholders in general meeting.
Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an
addition to the existing Board is subject to retirement and shall then
be eligible for re-election in accordance with the Articles.
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Pursuant to Article 108(a) of the Articles, at each annual general
meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being,
shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director (including
those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election. The members of the Company may, at
any general meetings convened and held in accordance with the
Articles, remove a Director by ordinary resolution at any time before
the expiration of his period of office notwithstanding anything contrary
in the Articles or in any agreement between the Company and such
Director and may by ordinary resolution elect another person in his
stead.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, changes of the Directors
are as follows:

Mr. Yau Sze Ka (Albert) retired as an executive Director with effect
from the conclusion of the 2024 AGM held on 20 June 2024 in order
to devote more time on his other personal endeavours. Following
the retirement of Mr. Yau, Mr. Yeung Tak Yip was appointed as an
executive Director with effect from 20 June 2024.

Ms. Hu Hui was appointed as executive Directors with effect from 31
December 2024.

Directors’ training and professional development

As part of continuous professional development of the Directors,
the Company provides in-house training and engages professional
firms to provide training to Directors to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills and continuously update Directors on the
latest developments regarding the Group’s business, the Listing
Rules and other applicable legal and regulatory requirements to
ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices.
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For the newly appointed Director, the Company would arrange a
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction session on his/her
appointment to ensure he/she would have a proper understanding
of the Company’s businesses and operations as well as his/her
responsibilities under relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations as
a director of a listed company.

All the Directors appointed during the year ended 31 December
2024, namely, Mr. Yeung Tak Yip and Ms. Hu Hui, had obtained the
legal advice on 12 June 2024 and 23 December 2024, respectively,
in compliance with Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules. Each of Mr.
Yeung Tak Yip and Ms. Hu Hui has confirmed that they understood
their obligations as a director of a listed issuer.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, each of the Directors
attended training relating to the Group’s businesses, Listing Rules,
legal and regulatory requirements and corporate governance
practices, and read relevant materials to keep themselves abreast of
regulatory developments and changes.

Board meetings

The Board meets regularly to discuss and formulate the overall
strategy as well as the operation and financial performance of
the Group. Directors may participate either in person or through
electronic means of communications. The Board holds at least
four meetings a year at approximately quarterly intervals. Additional
meetings would be arranged, if and when required. The date of each
meeting is decided in advance to enable the Directors to attend the
meeting in person.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Directors have made
active contribution to the affairs of the Group and seven board
meetings were held to consider, among other things, the business
development, various transactions contemplated by the Group, and
to review and approve the interim results and annual results of the
Group. According to Article 107(d) of the Articles, a Director shall not
vote (nor be counted in the quorum) on any resolution of the Board
approving any contract or arrangement or any other proposal in
which he or any of his close associates is materially interested.
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EENHEDH Attendance record of Directors

H E£2024F12 A 31 E! Jt ¢ B EE%2H The attendance record of Directors at the meetings of the Board, the
EEe EELZELBREMEITEE  Board committees and the Shareholders held during the year ended
WD ERE ST - 31 December 2024 is set out below:

HE EHEEBRE

Number of meetings attended/meetings eligible to attend

BB -
HrER
BE= Exe EREEE® ¥FMEEE REZEEE EREET KRRAKE
Audit Remuneration Nomination ESG  General
Directors Board committee committee committee committee meetings
HITES
Executive Directors
et (EFR) 7/7 i A 3/3 3/3 58 A 1/1
Mr. Yang Jian (Chairman) N/A N/A
PR AL 50 55 4 (Bt 48 2K 77 A iE A i@ A i@ A 1/1 1/1
Mr. Chen Hongliang (Co-President) N/A N/A N/A
o] @ 55 4 (Bt e 42 &) 7/7 i A iE A iE A 1/1 1/1
Mr. He Jian (Co-President) N/A N/A N/A
5 1 2k 5 A (B RET) 4/4 i@ A i TiE A TiE A 1/1
Mr. Yeung Tak Yip (Note 1) N/A N/A N/A N/A
tAIE 2+ ([ 5E 2) T E A T E A A3 A i A A3 A A3 A
Ms. Hu Hui (Note 2) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Bk (FEE3) 2/2 NE A i A iE A 1/1 1/1
Mr. Yau Sze Ka (Albert) (Note 3) N/A N/A N/A
BYKHTES
Independent non-executive
Directors
FHE A& 7/7 4/4 i A 3/3 i A 1/1
Mr. Wang Kaiguo N/A N/A
R K& 7/7 4/4 3/3 3/3 38 A 0/1
Mr. Wu Xiaobo N/A
ggka 7/7 4/4 3/3 i A 1/1 11
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung N/A
P 5 Notes:

(1) BEELENR2024F6A20BEZRITAES - ( Mr. Yeung Tak Yip was appointed as Director on 20 June 2024,

(2 tHEZLTR2024F12A31BEZTAESE- (2)  Ms. Hu Hui was appointed as Director on 31 December 2024. No board meeting
2024 F12 AT AMERITEETE G - was held on 31 December 2024.

@) HMEBELEEEN2024F6 20 REES - (3)  Mr. Yau Sze Ka retired as Director on 20 June 2024.

=
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the guidelines for the
Directors’ dealings in the securities of the Company since the Listing.
In response to specific enquiry made by the Company, all Directors
confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

As required by the Company, relevant officers and employees of
the Company are also bound by the Model Code, which prohibits
them to deal in securities of the Company at any time when he/
she possesses inside information in relation to those securities. No
incident of non-compliance of the Model Code by the relevant officers
and employees was noted by the Company.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy, pursuant to which the
Company may declare and distribute dividends to the Shareholders,
provided that the Group records a profit after tax and that the
declaration and distribution of dividends does not affect the normal
operations of the Group. In deciding whether to propose a dividend
and in determining the dividend amount, the Board would take into
account the Group’s earnings, cash flow, financial condition, capital
requirements, statutory fund reserve requirements and any other
conditions that the Board may consider relevant. Whilst the Board will
review from time to time for determination on proposed dividend with
the above factors taken into account, there can be no assurance that
dividends will be declared or paid in any particular amount for any
given period.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties including:

— to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

— to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

— to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

— to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

— to review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code.

The Board had performed the above duties during the year ended 31
December 2024.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the positions of the
chairman and the chief executive officer were held separately.
The role of chairman was held by Mr. Yang Jian, and the role of
chief executive officer were held by Mr. Chen Hongliang and Mr.
He Jian, the co-president of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2024. The segregation of duties of the chairman and the
chief executive officer ensures a clear distinction in the Chairman’s
responsibility to manage and provide leadership for the Board and the
chief executives responsibility to manage the Company’s business.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees with specific written
terms of reference to oversee particular aspects of the Group’s
affairs. All the Board committees are empowered by the Board under
their own terms of reference. The terms of reference of the audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee have
been posted on Stock Exchange’s website and/or the Company’s
website.
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Audit committee

The Company has established an audit committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rules 3.21 of the Listing
Rules and the Corporate Governance Code. The primary duties of
the Company’s audit committee include, among others, (a) making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment
and removal of the external auditor and approving the remuneration
and terms of engagement of the external auditor; (b) reviewing the
Group’s financial statements, annual report and accounts and half-
year report and significant financial reporting judgments contained
therein; and (c) reviewing the Group’s financial controls, internal
control and risk management systems.

The audit committee consists three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung (being the chairman
of the audit committee), Mr. Wang Kaiguo and Mr. Wu Xiaobo.
In compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Au Yeung
Po Fung possesses the appropriate professional and accounting
qualifications.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the audit committee held
four meetings with the senior management and independent auditor
of the Company to consider, among other matters, the change
of auditor of the Company, the independence and audit scope of
independent auditor, and to review and discuss the risk management
and internal control systems, the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal audit and risk control function, consolidated interim and
annual financial statements of the Group and the opinion and report
of independent auditor before reporting and submitting to the Board
for their approval.

Remuneration committee

The Company has established a remuneration committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 and Corporate
Governance Code. The remuneration committee reviews and
recommends to the Board the remuneration and other benefits
paid by the Group to its Directors and senior management. The
remuneration of all of the Directors and senior management is subject
to regular monitoring by the remuneration committee to ensure that
levels of their remuneration and compensation are appropriate.

The remuneration committee consists of three members, two of
whom are independent non-executive Directors. The three members
are Mr. Wu Xiaobo (being the chairman of the remuneration
committee), Mr. Yang Jian and Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the remuneration
committee held three meetings to consider the appointment of
Directors, assess the performance and review the remuneration
structure of the Directors and senior management and made
recommendation to the Board for approval.

The remuneration of Directors and senior management is reviewed
at least annually and determined with reference to the skills and
knowledge of the Directors and senior management, their job
responsibilities and level of involvement in the Group’s affairs, the
performance and profitability as well as remuneration benchmark
in the industry and the prevailing market conditions. Remuneration
comprise basic salaries and allowances, bonus, equity-settled share
based payments and retirement benefit contributions.

Details of the remuneration payable to members of senior
management, all being Directors of the Company, by band, are set
out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established a nomination committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.27A and Corporate
Governance Code. The primary responsibilities of the nomination
committee are to consider and recommend to the Board suitable and
qualified candidates of Directors and to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board and the board diversity policy adopted by
the Company on a regular basis.

The nomination committee consists of three members, two of whom
are independent non-executive Directors. The three members are
Mr. Yang Jian (being the chairman of the nomination committee), Mr.
Wang Kaiguo and Mr. Wu Xiaobo.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the nomination committee
held three meetings to review the structure and composition of the
Board and its committees, made recommendation to the Board on
the appointment and re-election of Directors having considered the
existing composition and size of the Board, the diversity of the Board
members in terms of gender, age, culture and accomplishment,
experience and reputation in relation to the business of the Company
and other related industries and assessed the independence of
independent non-executive Directors.
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Nomination policy

The primary responsibilities of the nomination committee are to
consider and recommend to the Board suitable and qualified
candidates of Directors and to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board and the board diversity policy adopted by
the Company on a regular basis.

The nomination committee utilises various methods for identifying
candidates for directorship, including recommendations from Board
members, management, and professional search firms. In addition,
the nomination committee will consider candidates for directorship
properly submitted by the Shareholders. The evaluation of candidates
for directorship by the nomination committee may include, without
limitation, review of resume and job history, personal interviews,
verification of professional and personal references and performance
of background checks. The Board will consider the recommendations
of the nomination committee and is responsible for designating the
candidates for directorship to be considered by the Shareholders for
their election at the general meeting of the Company, or appointing
the suitable candidate to act as Director to fill the Board vacancies
or as an additional to the Board members, subject to compliance of
the constitutional documents of the Company. All appointments of
Director should be confirmed by letter of appointment and/or service
contract setting out the key terms and conditions of the appointment
of Directors.

The nomination committee should consider the following qualifications
as a minimum to be required for a candidate in recommending to
the Board to be a potential new Director, or the continued service of
existing Director:

— the highest personal and professional ethics and integrity;

—  proven achievement and competence in the nominee’s field and
the ability to exercise sound business judgment;

—  skills that are complementary to those of the existing Board;

— the ability to assist and support management and make
significant contributions to the Company’s success;

— diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, experience
and length of service;
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— an understanding of the fiduciary responsibilities that is required
for a member of the Board and the commitment of time and
energy necessary to diligently carry out those responsibilities;
and

— independence: the candidates for independent non-executive
directorship should meet the “independence” criteria as required
under the Listing Rules and the composition of the Board is in
conformity with the provisions of the Listing Rules.

The nomination committee may also consider such other factors
as it may deem are in the best interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole.

ESG Committee

The Company has established an ESG committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. The
primary responsibilities of the ESG committee are to assist the
Board to review and monitor the ESG policies and practices of the
Group to ensure compliance with the relevant legal and regulatory
requirements, monitor and respond to emerging ESG issues and
related risks, and make recommendations to the Board where
appropriate to improve the Group’s ESG performance.

As at the year ended 31 December 2024, the ESG committee
consists of four members. The four members are Mr. Chen Hongliang (being
the chairman of the ESG committee), Mr. He Jian, Mr. Yeung Tak Yip
and Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the ESG committee
held one meeting to formulate the Company’s ESG strategies and
directions, review the ESG report and made recommendation for the
Group’s ESG matters.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING SYSTEM, RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM

Financial reporting system

The Board, supported by the finance department, is responsible
for the preparation of the financial statements of the Company and
the Group. In preparation of the financial statements, International
Financial Reporting Standards have been adopted and the
appropriate accounting policies have been consistently used and
applied. The Board aims to present a clear and balanced assessment
of the Group’s performance in the annual and interim reports to the
Shareholders, and make appropriate disclosure and announcements
in a timely manner. Pursuant to code provision D.1.1 of the Corporate
Governance Code, management would provide sufficient explanation
and information to the Board to enable the Board to make an
informed assessment of the financial and other information put before
the Board for approval.

The work scope and reporting responsibilities of ZHONGHUI ANDA
CPA Limited, the Company’s external auditor, are set out in the
“Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 84 to 88 of this report.

Risk management and internal control system

The Board and senior management is responsible for establishment,
review and implementation of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group. The risk management and internal
control system is designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The internal control system covers all major
aspects of the Group’s operations, including, among others, property
development, property sales, investment property management,
procurement, financial reporting, asset management, budgeting and
accounting processes. The Group also has an internal audit and risk
control function which primarily carries out analysis and independent
appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of its risk management
and internal control systems, and reports their findings to the Board
on, at least, an annual basis. The Board conducted reviews and
discussed with the management on the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems as required by principle D.2
of the Corporate Governance Code, covering adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes for the staff
and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions and any resolutions for material internal control
defects.
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With respect to the Group’s risk management and internal control
measures, the Group has a set of comprehensive policies and
guidelines which set out details regarding the internal control
standards, segregation of responsibilities, approval procedures and
personnel accountability in each aspect. The Group also carries out
regular internal assessments and training to ensure its employees are
equipped with sufficient knowledge on such policies and guidelines.
In addition, the Group also implemented risk management policies
against corruption and fraudulent activities. The Group’s major anti-
corruption and anti-fraud measures and procedures include:

— the internal audit and risk control function shall be primarily
responsible for establishing, reviewing and evaluating the
Group’s anti-corruption and anti-fraud policies and monitoring
their implementation;

— as specified in the Group’s staff handbooks, employees are
explicitly prohibited from taking/offering bribes or kickbacks
from/to suppliers or other third parties, manipulating bidding
procedures, misusing the Group’s assets, or providing improper
hospitality and entertainment to suppliers or other third parties;

— all of the Directors and senior management are requested
to identify and make periodical reports to the headquarters
about conflicts of interest, including potential related party
transactions, the engagement of competing businesses, or the
receipt of unjust benefits or enrichment by using the Group’s
assets or resources or taking advantage of his or her position;

— the Group provides anti-corruption and anti-fraud compliance
trainings periodically to the Directors, senior management and
employees to enhance their knowledge and awareness of the
relevant laws and regulations; and

— the Group undertakes rectification measures with respect to
any identified corruption or fraudulent activities, evaluating such
activities and proposing and establishing preventative measures
to avoid future non-compliances.
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The Group also engaged an external consultant specialising in
identifying and evaluation of significant risks of its business and
operation, including ESG-related risks. The external consultant does
not have any connection with the Group and the Board believes that
their involvement could enhance the objectivity and transparency of
evaluation process. In conjunction with the Group’s internal audit and
risk control function and senior management, the external consultant
conducts an annual assessment on risk management and internal
control systems of the Group together with suggestion and solutions
and submit to the Board for their consideration.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has
implemented procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information. In particular, the Group:

— has conducted its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines
on Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities
and Futures Commission in June 2012;

— has established its own disclosure obligation procedures, which
set out the procedures and controls for the assessment of
potential inside information and the handling and dissemination
of inside information. The procedures have been communicated
to the senior management and staff of the Company, and their
implementation was monitored by the Company; and

— has made broad, non-exclusive disclosure of information to
the public through channels such as financial reports, public
announcements and its website.

The risk management and internal control systems are reviewed
and assessed on an on-going basis by the audit committee and the
executive Directors, and will be further reviewed and assessed at least
once each year by the Board. During the year ended 31 December
2024, these systems covering all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls, were reviewed and considered
effective and adequate.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the remunerations paid
or payable to ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited in respect of its audit
services and non-audit services were approximately RMB3,800,000
and RMB120,000, respectively. The amount for 2024 non-audit
services consisted mainly of consulting service. The audit committee
was satisfied that the non-audit services in 2024 did not affect the
independence of the auditor.

COMPANY SECRETARY

In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Cheung Sze
Kan confirmed that for the year ended 31 December 2024, he has
taken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training. The
biography of Mr. Cheung is set out in the “Biographies of Directors,
senior management and Company Secretary” section on page 35 of
this report.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles, one or more Shareholders
holding not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings shall have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the company secretary, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.
Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Putting forward proposals at Shareholders’ meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles or the Companies Act of the
Cayman Islands for Shareholders to put forward new resolutions
at general meetings. Shareholders who wish to put forward a new
resolution may request the Company to convene a general meeting
in accordance with the procedures set out in the above paragraph
heading “Convening an extraordinary general meeting”.

Shareholders communication policy

The Company ensures prompt dissemination of corporate
communications to enable Shareholders and other stakeholders to
keep abreast of the Group’s business and developments so that they
can make informed decisions. It publishes regulatory announcements
and other corporate communications on its website.

The Company maintains balanced, clear and transparent
communications with Shareholders to facilitate their understanding of
the Group’s performance and business operations, the Company has
ongoing dialogue with the Shareholders and other investors through
various communication channels and takes any areas of concern into
consideration in formulating its business strategies.

Shareholders may at any time make enquiries to the Board in
writing or by call to the Corporate Finance and Investor Relations
Department or directly by raising questions at general meetings.
Please refer to the sections headed “Other Information” and “Investor
Relations” in the Investor Relations Report for contact details of the
Company.

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings of
the Company. Sufficient notice of general meetings will be given
to the Shareholders in accordance with the Articles and applicable
rules and regulations. The chairman of the Board, chairman of each
Board committee, management of the Company and, if appropriate,
the external auditors, will attend the general meetings and answer
questions raised by Shareholders.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, one general meeting
was held, all the Directors attended either by person or by means of
electronic facilities to communicate with the Shareholders, except Mr.
Wu Xiaobo, an independent non-executive Director, who was unable
to attend the AGM due to other business commitments. All corporate
communications and regulatory announcements were published by
the Company on its website and the website of the Stock Exchange
in a timely manner. The Board reviewed and considered that the
shareholders communication policy was effective during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

At the AGM held on 20 June 2024, a special resolution was passed
by the Shareholders to adopt the third amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association of the Company (the
“Memorandum and Articles of Association”) in order to bring
the Memorandum and Articles of Association in line with the latest
requirements under the Listing Rules. The Company’s Memorandum
and Articles of Association is available on the Company’s website
and the Stock Exchange’s website.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS, COMMUNICATIONS
WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has adopted a stringent internal control system
to ensure accurate, complete and timely disclosure of relevant
information pursuant to requirements of relevant laws and regulations
to ensure all shareholders and investors equal access to information.

The Group updates its investor relations website (http://ir.zldcgroup.com)
in an active and timely manner as so to keep investors informed
of the Group’s latest development. Meanwhile, the Group uses its
WeChat official account as an efficient channel to maintain investor
relations and information disclosure. In addition, the Group maintains
regular contacts with shareholders and investors through various
channels.

OTHER INFORMATION

Shareholder Service

Shareholders may notify the registrar in writing on matters relating
to their shareholding, such as share transfer, change of name or
address and loss of share certificate.

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,

183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2862 8628

Facsimile: (852) 2529 6087

Shareholder Enquiries

Enquiry hotline during normal office hours:
Telephone: (852) 3793 3135

INVESTOR RELATIONS

For enquiries from investors and securities analysts, please contact:

Corporate Finance and Investor Relations Department,
Unit 1905, 19/F, 308 Central Des Voeux

No. 308 Des Voeux Road Central, Sheung Wan

Hong Kong

Telephone: (852) 3793 3139
Facsimile: (852) 3793 3134
Email: ir@zldcgroup.com
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in property development, property leasing
and management consulting services. An analysis of the Group’s
revenue and operating results for the year ended 31 December
2024 by its principal activities is set out in note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements of the Group on page 98 in this report.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are
set out in the “Chairman’s Statement” section of this report and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income of the Group on
page 90 of this report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

General

A review of the business of the Group and a discussion on the
Group’s future business development during the year are set out
in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 9 to 13 and pages 14 to 28,
respectively, of this report. An analysis of the Group’s performance
during the year using financial key performance indicators is set out in
the “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 14 to 28 of this
report.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Principal risks and uncertainties the Group faces include (i) inabilities
as to the acquiring of land reserves for development; (ii) uncertainty
as to business operations in different geographic locations; (i)
uncertainty as to obtaining sufficient funding for developments
and refinancing; (iv) risks related to the fluctuation of profitability
of property projects; (v) risks related to obtaining administrative
certificates; (vi) risks related to the performance of the PRC property
markets; (vii) risks related to the government policies and regulations
regarding the PRC property industry; and (vii) risks related to the
increasing raw materials price and labor costs.

The Group’s financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group are set out in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

Going concern

The Company’s auditor issued a disclaimer of opinion on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group, details of which are
set out in the independent auditor’s report.

Additional information on the management’s position, view and
assessment, the Audit Committee’s view and the Company’s
proposed plans in this regard are set out in the section headed “Corporate
Governance Report — Disclaimer of Opinion” on pages 39 to 41 of
this annual report.

Environmental policies and performance

It is the Group’s corporate and social responsibility in promoting a
sustainable and environmental friendly environment, and the Group
strives to minimise its environmental impact and comply with the
applicable environmental laws and regulations. The measures it takes
to ensure its compliance with the applicable environmental laws and
regulations include: (i) strictly selecting construction contractors and
supervising the process of construction; (i) applying for review by the
relevant government authorities in a timely manner after the project
is completed; and (i) actively adopting environmentally friendly
equipment and designs. The Group also takes voluntary actions with
respect to environmental protection and make energy conservation
and emission reduction as primary considerations when designing its
property projects.

None of the Group’s properties had received any material fines or
penalties associated with the breach of any environmental laws or
regulations during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The 2024 Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Group
will be published separately on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.
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Directors’ Report

Relationship with Employees

The Group believes high-quality employees who value its corporate
culture are essential elements to promote its sustainable growth. The
Group intends to attract and retain skilled and talented employees
through various initiatives, including creative trainee programs,
competitive compensation packages and effective incentive system.
For details regarding employees and staff costs and the emolument
policy of the Group, please refer to the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis — Employee and Remuneration Policy”.

Relationship with Suppliers

The Group is dedicated to develop good relationship with suppliers
as long-term business partners to ensure stability of the Group’s
businesses. It reinforces business partnerships with suppliers by ongoing
communication in a proactive and effective manner. For further details
regarding the Group’s major suppliers, please refer to the section
headed “Directors’ Report — Major Customers and Suppliers”.

Relationship with Customers

Customers satisfaction with services and products has a profound
effect on the profitability. The Group’s dedicated sales team is in
constant communication with its customers and potential customers
to uncover and create customer needs and help customers make
informed decisions. Identification of customers’ pain points alongside
grasping the market trend are critical for the Group to timely adjust
our operating strategies to fit the market requirement. For details
regarding the Group’s major customers, please refer to the sections
headed “Directors’ Report — Major Customers and Suppliers”.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands with the Shares
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The Group’s
subsidiaries are incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong
and the PRC. The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the
Group’s subsidiaries in China while the Group also has a corporate
and administrative office in Hong Kong.

Its establishments and operations accordingly shall comply with
relevant laws and regulations in the Cayman Islands, the British
Virgin Islands, the PRC and Hong Kong. During the year ended 31
December 2024 and up to the date of this report, the Group has
complied with all the relevant laws and regulations in the Cayman
Islands, the British Virgin Islands, the PRC and Hong Kong that have
a significant impact on the Group.
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Changes to the property, plant and equipment of the Group and the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in
note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS, SENIOR NOTES AND CONVERTIBLE
BONDS

Details of the Group’s borrowings, senior notes and convertible
bonds during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note
29 and 31 respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

During the year ended 31 December 2024, an aggregate of
726,781,820 Shares were issued upon the conversion of the
Convertible Bonds.

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out on
pages 93, 94 and 238 of this report. In respect of Company, the
amount of reserves available for distribution (subject to the Article)
under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands as at 31 December
2024 was RMB2,148.9 million.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Save as disclosed in this report, the Company and its subsidiaries
have not purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed securities
(including sale of treasury shares) of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2024. As at 31 December 2024, the Company
did not hold any treasury shares.
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Directors’ Report

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 20 March 2024, the Company issued the 3.0% Convertible Bonds
due 2027 with an aggregate principal amount of US$139,999,920
as part of the Scheme consideration. The Convertible Bonds
are listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited
with an initial conversion price of HK$1.2 per Share (the “Initial
Conversion Price”). Subject to the terms of the Convertible Bonds,
the conversion price of the Convertible Bonds (the “CB Conversion
Price”) is subject to a reset mechanism at the end of 6 months, 18
months and 24 months (each, a “Reset Date”) after 1 January 2024,
if the 30-trading-day volume-weighted average price per Share at
immediately preceding (and excluding) the relevant Reset Date (the
“Average Market Price”) is less than the Initial Conversion Price, the
CB Conversion Price shall be adjusted to the higher of (i) the Average
Market Price and (i) HK$0.8 per Share (the “Lowest Conversion
Price”). Assuming the principal amount of the Convertible Bonds (not
including any payment-in-kind interest (“PIK Interest”) is all converted
in full at the Initial Conversion Price or the Lowest Conversion Price,
an aggregate of up to 909,999,480 Shares (with an aggregated
nominal value of HK$9,099,994.80) or 1,364,999,220 Shares (with
an aggregated nominal value of HK$13,649,992.20) will be issued,
respectively. The closing price of the Shares as quoted on the Stock
Exchange on 13 July 2023, being the last trading day prior to the
signing of the restructuring support agreement on 14 July 2023, was
HK$0.455 per Share. No proceeds was received by the Group from
the issue of the Convertible Bonds. In July 2024, the conversion
price of the Convertible Bonds was adjusted to HK$0.8 per Share
in accordance with the indenture of the Convertible Bonds, and
additional Convertible Bonds were issued as PIK Interest, which
increased the outstanding principal amount of the Convertible
Bonds by US$1,882,157. For further details in relation to the issue of
Convertible Bonds, the payment of interest and reset of Conversion
Price, please refer to the circular of the Company dated 12 December
2023 and the announcements of the Company dated 20 March 2024
and 28 June 2024.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, Convertible Bonds
with an aggregate principal amount of US$79,382,656 were
converted into 726,781,820 Shares with an aggregate nominal
value of HK$7,267,818.20, which were issued and allotted by the
Company to the relevant bondholders. As at 31 December 2024, the
outstanding aggregate principal amount of the Convertible Bonds
was US$62,499,421.

65



FRIZEREEER AT 2024 F F3R

EFERE

Directors’ Report

BREEHFHFAEALEE - P EBRATRR
BEH TR RAR G (@MK2024F12 A
31H : RO)E KH2025F1 1B EA
EMINFEBRTHEINTRBRESD
BT BEBRITEFABRERE M (B
EEEREIHERITHRKRESR)EBD
BEERE TBEREAQAFBEEHTRAS
2024 F 12 A I HE W AE IR A B RE
(rHEEREBYEREMED

Assuming no Conversion Bonds are further converted by the
bondholders, the table below illustrates the shareholding structure
of the Company (a) as at 31 December 2024; and (b) immediately
upon the issue of the adjusted conversion shares (i.e. full conversion
of the Convertible Bonds at the Lowest Conversion Price), taking into
account the additional Convertible Bonds to be issued as PIK Interest
on 1 January 2025, assuming there is no other change in the issued
share capital of the Company from 31 December 2024 up to the date
of the full conversion of the outstanding Convertible Bonds:

L) ER LB BRE -
ERERTKARERRG
(b) Immediately upon the issue
of the adjusted conversion
shares based on the
assumptions stated above

(@)R2024512831H

(a) As at 31 December 2024

M 8B A% R & B B4 %

Number of Number of
Shares Approx. % Shares Approx. %
R Liangzhong 2,822,167,839 65.50% 2,822,167,839 57.28%
REBEBRERRAA Liangtai International Co., Ltd 59,414,060 1.38% 59,414,060 1.21%
RBEEERA Holders of Convertible Bonds — — 618,509,892 12.55%
H AR R Other Shareholders 1,426,991,421 33.12% 1,426,991,421 28.96%
BEt Total 4,308,573,320 100% 4,927,083,212 100%

AR RRESEIZTENESZFIE
FL2RGRAMBwERMEI2-

fiid B A= ERESA I B i B I E 5w M
DI — W RR] —ESAEN AR
EEHEHARAKEABRBTER AR
BrFETHEREME-

AR R A BRBE S B A D /AT R
T HRESFKAAMS BRERS
BEROREMARREFERER
BMABREREFEM K LREAM R
m:ARRESHNESHEALEEER
BRAESARRESERRRD X
REAJBEBRESNROGIRITEEZRD
B AZEBHBRLAIRKRESNF
BT -

66

Further details on the dilutive impact on Convertible Bonds are set out in
note 12 to the consolidated financial statement.

If the Group is able to successfully implement all of the measures set
out in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis —
Financial risks”, the Directors expect that the Company will be able to
meet its redemption obligations under the Convertible Bonds.

Without taking into the interest element of the Convertible Bonds,
it would be equally financially advantageous for bondholders to
convert the Convertible Bonds when the trading price of the Shares
approximates the prevailing CB Conversion Price in the future.
However, bondholders of the Convertible Bonds shall consider
their own circumstances as well as the interest payments under the
Convertible Bonds in determining whether and when to convert the
Convertible Bonds into the Shares or to hold until redemption in
accordance with the terms of the indenture of the Convertible Bonds.
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SENIOR NOTES

On 20 March 2024, as part of the Scheme consideration, the
Company issued the New Senior Notes due 1 July 2027 with an
aggregate principal amount of US$1,279,450,986. Interest shall start
to accrue on and from the end of 12 months after 1 January 2024,
and is payable semi-annually in arrears on the outstanding principal
amount of the New Senior Notes at 5.0% per annum.

LITIGATION

On 21 November 2022, a winding-up petition (the “Petition”) was
filed by China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited as trustee
of the May 2022 Notes (defined as below) against the Company at
the Court in relation to the outstanding 8.5% senior notes due May
2022 (“May 2022 Notes”, ISIN: XS2341214059; Common Code:
234121405) in the principal amount of approximately US$18.65
million (plus accrued and unpaid interest), in which the Company was
the issuer. On 25 March 2024, the Petition against the Company was
dismissed by the Court. For details, please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 25 March 2024.

COMPLETION OF THE OFFSHORE DEBT
RESTRUCTURING

The Scheme in connection with the Company’s offshore debt
restructuring came into effect on 20 March 2024 with all conditions
satisfied, as a result, all outstanding scheme debts including the
Company’s default senior notes and other default offshore debts
were cancelled. As part of the Scheme consideration, the Company
issued the New Senior Notes with an aggregate principal amount
of US$1,279,450,986 and Convertible Bonds with an aggregate
principal amount of US$139,999,920, and signed the New Private
Loan upon the restructuring effective date. The New Senior Notes,
the Convertible Bonds and the New Private Loan have extended
final maturity with amortization of principal repayments during the
terms of the new offshore debt, cash interest reduction and effective
grace period of payment-in-kind. For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 20 March 2024.
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DONATIONS

No charitable donations made by the Group during the year ended
31 December 2024.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

In January 2025, in accordance with the indenture of the Convertible
Bonds, additional Convertible Bonds were issued as paid-in-kind
interest, which further increased the outstanding principal amount of
the Convertible Bonds to US$63,436,912, details of which are set
out in the Company’s announcement dated 31 December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, Group had no significant events occurred
which have material impact on the performance of the Group after
the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 and
the state of the Group’s financial position as at that date are set out
in the consolidated financial statements on pages 89 to 92 in this
report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2024 and as at
the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Jian (Chairman)

Mr. Chen Hongliang (Co-President)

Mr. He Jian (Co-President)

Mr. Yeung Tak Yip (appointed on 20 June 2024)
Ms. Hu Hui (appointed on 31 December 2024)
Mr. Yau Sze Ka (Albert) (retired on 20 June 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wang Kaiguo
Mr. Wu Xiaobo
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung
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In accordance with the Articles, at each annual general meeting
one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their number is
not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not
less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A
retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election. The Company at the
general meeting at which a Director retires may fill the vacated office.
Further, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
or as an addition to the existing Board is subject to retirement
and shall be eligible for re-election in accordance with the Articles.
Accordingly, Mr. He Jian, Me. Yeung Tak Yip, Ms. Hu Hui and Mr.
Wang Kaiguo shall retire from office by rotation at the 2025 AGM
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election. The Company
has received, from each of the independent non-executive Directors,
an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company and each of the non-executive Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) has signed an appointment
letter with the Company. The appointment of all the Directors is
for a period of three years and shall continue thereafter until being
terminated by either party giving not less than 2 months’ prior written
notice.

None of the Directors who are proposed for election or re-election
at the 2025 AGM has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the Directors
nor their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had
any interest in a business that competed or might compete with the
business of the Group.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Each of Mr. Yang Jian, being the executive Director and the
controlling shareholder of the Company, Ms. Xu, Liangzhong and
Liangtai, all being the controlling shareholders of the Company, has
confirmed to the Company that, during the year ended 31 December
2024, he/she/it has complied with the deed of non-competition dated
24 June 2019 (the “Undertakings”) as disclosed in the Prospectus.

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the status
of compliance and the confirmation provided by the controlling
shareholders as part of the annual review process. On the basis that:
(i) the Company has received the confirmations from its controlling
shareholders regarding the Undertakings; (i) there was no competing
business reported by the controlling shareholders; and (i) there
was no particular situation rendering the full compliance of the
Undertakings being questionable, the independent non-executive
Directors are of the view that the Undertakings have been complied
with and been enforced by the Company in accordance with the
terms.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report, there was no other contract
of significance entered into between the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and the controlling shareholders of the Company or any
of its subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2024, and no
contract of significance for the provision of services to the Company
or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was entered into during the year ended 31
December 2024.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 19 June 2019, the Company adopted the Share Option Scheme
which is subject to the requirements under Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules.
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Details of the Share Option Scheme

1)

2

3)

Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide selected
participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests
in the Company and to encourage selected participants to work
towards enhancing the value of the Company and its Shares
for the benefit of the Company and Shareholders as a whole.
The Directors believe the Share Option Scheme will enable the
Group to reward its employees, the Directors and other selected
participants for their contributions to the Group. The Share
Option Scheme provides the Company with a flexible means of
retaining, incentivising, rewarding, remunerating, compensating
and/or providing benefits to selected participants.

Participants

Any individual, being an employee, director, officer, consultant,
advisor, distributor, contractor, customer, supplier, agent,
business partner, joint venture business partner or service
provider of any member of the Company or any affiliate who
the Board or its delegate(s) considers, in their sole discretion, to
have contributed or will contribute to the Company is entitled to
be offered and granted options. However, no individual who is
resident in a place where the grant, acceptance or exercise of
options pursuant to the Share Option Scheme is not permitted
under the laws and regulations of such place or where, in the
view of the Board or its delegate(s), compliance with applicable
laws and regulations in such place makes it necessary or
expedient to exclude such individual, is eligible to be offered or
granted options.

The maximum number of Shares available for issue

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the aggregate of the
Shares in issue on the day on which trading of the Shares
commences on the Stock Exchange, and such 10% limit
represents 353,000,000 Shares, representing approximately
8.16% of the total Shares in issue as at the date of this report.
As at the date of this report, 339,100,000 share options are still
available for future grant, representing 7.84% of the total Shares
in issue as at the date of this report.

71



FRIZEREEER AT 2024 F F3R

EFERE

Directors’ Report

(4)

(5)

(6)

72

E2HENRAER
B B SRt A S T 1218 A H

A FREERER S R AEEE
MEMBERESERS2EERD
k& TFRONBRE(BRETER
el AR 1T 62 O B RSCAE) AT M & 1T M2
HTETHRNDEE THEBBA
NAERDETRANTI% °

EBRENEMARTE
REBEREZOVEREZLH R
P REEEBRRNEZEHN BSERA
B NAT R B FIE 1.0078 7T ©

AR ET E1 30 M D) B ME 0 &R R B
HIR HEZCARETCEMER
TTERIZBFH AR -

1R 8 T R A T 05 1, 0 £ £ AR
1T iE I E F R A
#9115 14 18 16 D AR 3% 1 R 2
LR

IR 47 89 32 B (B
BRESSETNERKRORBEE
HREFEETNER EAEER
T BERF &S

) RELBHMAREER) AR
T R AT SRR &R ) K
miE

(i) REERLBHIINAMESE

B B X AT B SRR P 1 B B R
I FHWRHE: &

iy AEHBH-—RERONEE-

4)
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(6)

The maximum entitlement of each participant

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the total number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted and to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme of the Group (including
both exercised and outstanding options) to each participant in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share
capital of the Company for the time being.

Acceptance and exercise of options

The acceptance of an offer of the grant of share options must
be made within ten business days from the date of offer with a
non-refundable payment of HK$1.00 from each grantee.

The Share Option Scheme does not specify any minimum
vesting period but the Board has the authority to determine for
which a share option must be held before it can be exercised.

The exercise period of any share option granted under the
Share Option Scheme shall be determined by the Board but
such period must not exceed ten years from the date of grant
of the relevant share option.

Subscription price for Shares
The subscription price per Share under the Share Option
Scheme will be a price determined by the Directors, but shall
not be less than the highest of:

(i)  the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant,
which must be a business day;

(i)  the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and

(i)~ the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant.
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The duration of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for the
period of ten years commencing on the Listing (after which,
no further options shall be offered or granted under the Share
Option Scheme), but in all other respects the provisions of
the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect
to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any
options granted prior thereto or otherwise as may be required in
accordance with the provisions of the rules of the Share Option
Scheme.

As at the date of this report, the remaining life of the Share
Option Scheme is approximately 4 years and 3 months.

For further details of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to the
section headed “Statutory and general information — D. Share
incentive scheme” in Appendix V to the Prospectus.

Particulars of the movement of options granted under the Share Option
Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2024 are as follows:

BR R2024F 20245
TEE 1A1A8 128318
SHENE BEBEH  GBxm) HRTE" B 7% Ed ¥ HRTHE
Exercise Outstanding Outstanding
price per as at as at
Share 1 January 31 December
Category of participants  Date of grant (HK$) 2024" Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed 2024
s
Directors
BRAL S & & 20206 7A7H
Mr. Chen Hongliang 7 July 2020 5.83 10,000,000 — — — — 10,000,000
Al &1 5 4 20207 A7H
Mr. He Jian 7 July 2020 5.83 1,300,000 — — — - 1,300,000
HittB8EE
Other Participants
AEBEREE 20205 7A7H
Employees of the Group 7 July 2020 5.83 3,900,000 — — — — 3,900,000
et 15,200,000 — — — — 15,200,000
Total
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Notes:

The options shall be exercisable from 7 July 2020 to 6 July 2030, and vested,
in five tranches, subject to the individual performance, results and financial
performance of the Group in the following manner:

0] 10% shall be vested on 7 July 2021;

(ii) 20% shall be vested on 7 July 2022;

(iii) 20% shall be vested on 7 July 2023;

(iv) 20% shall be vested on 7 July 2024; and

(V) 30% shall be vested on 7 July 2025.

The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date on which these
options were granted was HK$5.92.

SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME

0]

@

Purpose

In order to recognise the contributions and provide incentives
to senior management and employees of the Group for
the continual operation and development of the Group
and to attract suitable personnel for the growth and further
development of the Group, the Company adopted the Share
Incentive Scheme on 31 December 2021. The Share Incentive
Scheme shall be subject to the administration of the Board and
the trustee (the “Trustee”) in accordance with the rules of the
Share Incentive Scheme and the trust deed dated 31 December
2021 entered into between the Company as settlor and the
Trustee (the “Trust Deed”).

Participants

Any of the (i) senior management of the Group; and (ii)
employees of the Group, other than those who is resident in a
place where the grant of the incentive shares and/or the vesting
and transfer of the incentive shares pursuant to the terms of
the Share Incentive Scheme is not permitted under the laws
and regulations of such place, or in the view of the Board or the
Trustee (as the case may be), compliance with applicable laws
or regulations in such place makes it necessary or expedient
to exclude such eligible person. For the avoidance of doubt,
excluding Directors, chief executives or substantial shareholders
of the Company and any of their respective close associates.
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The maximum number of Shares available for grant

The Board shall not grant any further incentive share which will
result in the aggregated number of incentive shares exceeding
5% of the total number of issued Shares from time to time. No
award had been granted under the Share Incentive Scheme
since adoption of the Scheme. As at the date of this report, the
5% scheme limit represents 216,331,028 Shares are available
for future grant.

As at the date of this report, the Trustee holds the entire interest
in Liangyi International Co., Ltd., which in turn directly holds
89,121,090 Shares, representing approximately 2.06% of the
total number of issued Shares, as the incentive shares for the
purpose of the Share Incentive Scheme.

Any further incentive shares shall be either () existing Shares
purchased by the Trustee from the open market (either on-
market or off-market); or (i) new Shares to be allotted and
issued to the Trustee (which will hold the same on behalf of the
selected participant(s)) by the Company pursuant to the general
mandate granted by the Shareholders at the annual general
meeting of the Company from time to time, subject to the
Company’s compliance with the Listing Rules. The Trustee will
hold such Shares on behalf of the relevant selected employees
on trust, until such Shares are vested with the relevant selected
employees in accordance with the rules of the Share Incentive
Scheme.

The maximum entitlement of each participant

The maximum number of Shares which may be granted to a
selected participant under the Share Incentive Scheme in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the number of the
Shares in issue.

Acceptance and vesting period

Selected participants shall sign and return the acceptance form
to the Board within such time limit as specified in the notice of
grant to accept the award.

The Share Incentive Scheme does not specify a minimum
vesting period or any amount payable on application or
acceptance of the award. Subject to the fulfilment of all vesting
conditions as determined by the Board, incentive shares shall
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vest in the selected participant pursuant to the rules of the
Share Incentive Scheme.

(6) The duration of the Share Incentive Scheme

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the
Board, the Share Incentive Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a term of ten years commencing on 31 December 2021.

As at the date of this report, the remaining life of the Share
Incentive Scheme is approximately 6 years and 9 months.

For further details of the Share Incentive Scheme, please refer to
announcement of the Company dated 31 December 2021.

The aggregate number of options and awards available for grant
under the Share Option Scheme and the Share Incentive Scheme as
at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 is set out below:

2024 F 2024 F
12A31H 1A81H
As at As at
31 December 1 January
2024 2024
BREMEETAIRELN Number of options available for grant under
AR S A the Share Option Scheme 337,800,000 337,800,000
R B &1 T A A Number of awards available for grant under
HEE A the Share Incentive Scheme 215,428,666 179,089,575
AEENBERERZEEZE  Total number of options and awards
available for grant 553,228,666 516,889,575

AR A DRI 2019F 6 A198 K& 20214
12 331 B R M B AR #E 5T 8) & A% 10 BB &t
2 REZEE TERETHERE
KEHRECREEBHR - AR A BE
ERAERYBREFEEREFEHRAX
NREEENSREBEAERHEREL
BENEE EPESERELTHEL
FI7TENHTEFNEZEERZEEEN
R
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B 25 1% T (0 {a] B8 IR A o 42 R -
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The Share Option Scheme and Share Incentive Scheme were
adopted by the Company on 19 June 2019 and 31 December
2021, respectively, under which there is no minimum vesting period
stipulated in the respective schemes in relation to the grant of
options or awards. The Company will make appropriate disclosures
in its announcements and financial reports in relation to the grant of
the options or awards to Directors and senior management of the
Company, which shall include the remuneration committee’s view on
these matters as required under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no options or awards
were granted to any Directors, senior management of the Company
or other eligible participants under the Share Option Scheme and the
Share Incentive Scheme.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY OR ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be entered in the register kept by the Company pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, or which were otherwise required, to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code, are set out below:

Interests in Shares and underlying Shares of the Company

X MR EE BH
EE BETHRAEME HEZnE RH g E WEY WED R E Y
Number of Approximate
Name of Director/ Number of underlying percentage of
chief executive Nature of interest Shares™*”  Shares™™"  shareholding™*"
585 (B EE]) 2REEEA T A 2,822,167,839 (1) - 65.50%
Mr. Yang Jian (“Mr. Yang”)  Founder of a discretionary trust"*®?
(AR S 59,414,060 (L) - 1.38%
Interest of spouse™*?
BA=EE BxEaANTEY — 10,000,000 (L) 0.23%
Mr. Chen Hongliang Beneficial owner"*®”
OF P Bxapa A — 1,300,000 (L) 0.03%
Mr. He Jian Beneficial owner™¢?
I Notes:

(1)  H2024F12H318 &KX A 7 B & 17
4,308,573,320 & fp - FRHLOER~Z B AT
REBROSKBAROFAETFE -

@  2,822,167,839 K B AR B FR A A (R
W ))# B 2 fiChangxing International Co.,
Ltd. B2 & %A © MChangxing International Co.,
Ltd. Bl 1 Changxing Pte. Ltd. 2&#4 ° Changxing
Pte. Ltd. 35 S £ B RS FEMZFEA < 1R
BEAE NS G EXVE  BEEWBARR
FRENBROPHEER -

1) As at 31 December 2024, the Company issued 4,308,573,320 Shares. The letter (L)
denotes the person’s long position in the relevant Shares or underlying Shares.

2 2,822,167,839 Shares are held by Liangzhong International Co., Ltd. (‘Liangzhong”),
a company directly wholly-owned by Changxing International Co., Ltd., which is
in turn wholly-owned by Changxing Pte. Ltd. Changxing Pte. Ltd. is the trustee
of a discretionary trust set up by Mr. Yang. By virtue of Part XV of the SFO, Mr.
Yang is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Liangzhong.
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59,414,060 Shares are held under a discretionary trust set up by Ms. Xu Xiaogun (“Ms.
Xu”). By virtue of Part XV of the SFO, Ms. Xu is deemed to be interested in the
Shares held under the trust and Mr. Yang, as the spouse of Ms. Xu, is deemed
to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Ms. Xu is interested.

These underlying Shares in which Mr. Chen Hongliang is deemed to be
interested represent the 10,000,000 Shares which may be issued to him upon
the exercise of the share options granted to him on 7 July 2020 pursuant to the
Share Option Scheme.

These underlying Shares in which Mr. He Jian is deemed to be interested
represent the 1,300,000 Shares which may be issued to him upon the exercise
of the share options granted to him on 7 July 2020 pursuant to the Share Option
Scheme.

Interests in debentures of the Company

AT
BEIFNEEH
Principal amount of
debentures of the

Name of Director Nature of interest Company held
Bk 2REFATAY 26,593,280 % T
Mr. Yang Founder of a discretionary trust” USD26,593,280
P RE - Note:

(1) AL 4BEAE1,279,450,986 K T FE L EIR (1) The New Senior Notes with an aggregate principal amount of US$1,279,450,986

AR R RAR B & B R RN 2024 F3 H20 H %
T ZERRREEEFARPREE  BH A
i Changxing International Co., Ltd. B 1% 2 &
A KA R - MChangxing International Co., Ltd.
Bll A Changxing Pte. Ltd.Z & # A ° Changxing
Pte. Ltd. W15 EK I B REEFEHNZTEA ©
BRIEEHFRBPEGKROEXVI  BEEEWHER
RRFRRBENAAREEEPHERERZ -

B%LS(FMEZE‘E%GI\* 20244 12 A 31

CHMEEENARAERITHRAER
ZIK A EMEB B MRS, - HERHD
MMEEETHECELRBEESREB
BIEPIEMGEEFENELMARIBE
ERESFRIZEA S AR QB KB R FTHE M
R IRE o
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were issued by the Company on 20 March 2024 in accordance with the terms
of the Scheme. These debentures of the Company are held by Liangzhong, a
company directly wholly-owned by Changxing International Co., Ltd., which is
in turn wholly-owned by Changxing Pte. Ltd. Changxing Pte. Ltd. is the trustee
of a discretionary trust set up by Mr. Yang. By virtue of Part XV of the SFO, Mr.
Yang is deemed to be interested in the debentures of the Company held by
Liangzhong.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any interests or

short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or its associated corporations, recorded in the register

required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

So far as is known to the Company, as at 31 December 2024,
the following persons, other than a Director or chief executive of
the Company, had interest in the Shares or underlying Shares as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO:

B4
BRREB HH EaME BRDEEME ERE S HMEY
Approximate
Number of percentage of
Name of Shareholder Nature of interest Shares™"  shareholding™*"
2 EnlEAA 2,822,167,839 (L) 65.50%
Liangzhong Beneficial owner
it RIS A AT 59,414,060 (L) 1.38%
Ms. Xu Founder of a discretionary trust"**?
Fio {8 25 Y 2,822,167,839 (L) 65.50%
Interest of spouse™?
Changxing International Co., Ltd. ok B 25 Y 2,822,167,839 (L) 65.50%
Interest of controlled corporation™*
Changxing Pte. Ltd. FEE A MY 2,822,167,839 (L) 65.50%
Trustee™*?
Cithara Global Multi-Strategy SPC EmEBA 275,335,513 6.07%
Beneficial owner
Cithara Investment International Limited 1% & & 12 A 275,335,513 6.07%

Investment manager

B

(1)  H2024F12H318H &N A 7 B & 171
4,308,573,320 & f& 19 ° F &
REBROFHETE -

2) 59,414,060 f% I% 15 R 1R B TR ) B RS FEFF
B REFFRBERN R THEBRZ
ERABENROTHEEER -

@ HBEL ERBEENER WERNGELE
HEEANERBENRNDPEEER -

(4 Z A /HEChangxing International Co., Ltd. B &
&4 » M Changxing International Co., Ltd.fl
FA Changxing Pte. Ltd. 2 & # /& ° Changxing
Pte. Ltd. IG5 EX B BT ZXTA °
BIEES R EED - Changxing Pte. Ltd. &
Changxing International Co., Ltd.#% 1% A&7 2
BAENRGO R HEER -

Notes:

1)

As at 31 December 2024, the Company issued 4,308,573,320 Shares. The letter (L)
denotes the person’s long position in the relevant Shares.

59,414,060 Shares are held under a discretionary trust set up by Ms. Xu. By
virtue of the SFO, Ms. Xu is deemed to be interested in the Shares held under
the trust.

Ms. Xu, as the spouse of Mr. Yang, is deemed to be interested in the same
number of Shares in which Mr. Yang is interested.

Liangzhong is directly wholly-owned by Changxing International Co., Ltd., which
is in turn wholly-owned by Changxing Pte. Ltd. Changxing Pte. Ltd. is the trustee
of a discretionary trust set up by Mr. Yang. By virtue of the SFO, Changxing Pte.
Ltd. and Changxing International Co., Ltd. are deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by Liangzhong.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Company
had not been notified of any persons (other than a Director or chief
executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position in
the Shares or underlying Shares that were recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme and the Share Incentive
Scheme, at no time during the year was the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debt securities including debentures of, the Company
or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report, no transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significance in relation to which the Company, its
holding company or subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director
or his connected entities had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, revenue attributable to
the Group’s largest customer amounted to approximately 0.07% of
the Group’s total revenue and the Group five largest customers in
aggregate accounted for less than 0.28% of the Group’s revenue for
the year.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, purchases attributable
to the Group’s largest supplier amounted to approximately 1.91%
of the Group’s total purchases and the Group five largest suppliers
in aggregate accounted for less than 3.86% of the Group’s total
purchase for the year.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders,
which to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued Shares, had an interest in the share capital of any
of the five largest suppliers and customers.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2024 which were disclosed in note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements did not constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS AND TAX RELIEF

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or
the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company is incorporated under which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

PUBLIC FLOAT

The Stock Exchange has granted the Company a public float waiver
under Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules to accept a lower public
float percentage of the total issued share capital of 17.06%. Details
of the waiver is set out in the section headed “Waivers from Strict
Compliance with the Listing Rules — Waiver in relation to Public
Float” of the Prospectus.

As at the date of this report, based on information that was publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors,
the Directors confirmed that the Company maintained the amount of
public float as required under the public float waiver.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is of opinion that the Company had adopted, applied and
complied with the applicable code provisions as set out in Part 2 of the
Corporate Governance Code during the year under review. Principal
corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set out
in the “Corporate Governance Report” section of this report.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out in the section headed “Five
year financial summary” on pages 239 to 240 of this report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024
are set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Articles provide that every Director is entitled to be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which he may incur or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred
in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty or supposed duty
in their respective offices or trusts, except such (if any) as they shall
incur or sustain through their own fraud or dishonesty.

The Group has taken out and maintained directors’ liability insurance
for the year ended 31 December 2024, which provides appropriate
cover for the Directors. The permitted indemnity provision was in
force during the year ended 31 December 2024 and remained in
force as at the date of this report for the benefit of the Directors.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the above paragraphs headed “Convertible
Bonds”, “Share Option Scheme” and “Share Incentive Scheme” in
this section, no equity-linked agreements were entered into during
the year and subsisted at the end of the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of any business of the Company were
entered into during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.
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AGM AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The 2025 AGM will be convened and held on Thursday, 12
June 2025. A notice convening the AGM will be published on
the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website
and disseminated to the Shareholders in accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules in due course. For the purpose of
determining the Shareholders’ eligibility to attend, speak and vote
at the 2025 AGM, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Monday, 9 June 2025 to Thursday, 12 June 2025,
both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares will
be effected. In order to determine the identity of members who
are entitled to attend and vote at the 2025 AGM, all share transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged for registration with the Company’s branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 6 June
2025.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young has resigned as the auditor of the Company with effect
from 15 November 2024. ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited has been
appointed as the auditor of the Company to fill the casual vacancy
following the resignation of Emnst & Young with effect from 15
November 2024. For more details, please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 15 November 2024.

Save as disclosed herein, there has been no other change in auditors
of the Group in the preceding three years.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 have been audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA
Limited, who will hold office until the conclusion of at the forthcoming
AGM at which a resolution will be proposed to re-appoint them as
the auditor of the Company.

By order of the Board

Yang Jian
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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7

ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ZHONGLIANG HOLDINGS GROUP
COMPANY LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of Zhongliang Holdings Group Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 89 to 238, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report,
we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial
statements. In all other respects, in our opinion, the consolidated
financial statements have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Scope limitation relating to the assessment on the
appropriateness of the going concern basis of preparing the
consolidated financial statements

The Group has completed the offshore debts restructuring on 20
March 2024 that the default senior notes and other default offshore
debts were all exchanged into new offshore senior notes, new
offshore convertible bonds or new offshore loans with longer maturity
which partially relieved the Group’s liquidity pressure, however, as
set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group recorded a net loss of RMB2,874,620,000 for the year ended
31 December 2024. As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s total
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and senior notes and
host debt of convertible bonds amounted to RMB20,250,742,000,
out of which RMB8,609,387,000 will be due for repayment within
the next twelve months (including other interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings of RMB2,729,094,000 which had not been repaid
according to their scheduled repayment dates), while its cash
and cash equivalents amounted to RMB3,550,680,000. As at 31
December 2024, the default of certain interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings triggered certain long term interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings amounting to RMB602,766,000 becoming
repayable on demand. The aforesaid conditions, together with other
matters set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements,
indicate the existence of material uncertainties which cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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The directors of the Company have been undertaking measures to
improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position, which are set out
in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements. The validity of
the going concern assumption on which the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared depends on the outcome of these
plans and measures, which are subject to multiple uncertainties
including whether the Company can () successfully negotiate with
the Group’s existing debt holders for the renewal or extension for
repayment of the Group’s bank and other borrowings; (i) successfully
secure project development loans for qualified project development
in a timely manner; (i) successfully obtain additional new sources
of financing as and when needed; (iv) successfully carry out the
Group’s business strategy plan including the acceleration of the sales
of properties; (v) successfully implement measures to speed up the
collection of outstanding sales proceeds and effectively control costs
and expenses; (vi) successfully manage the payments to construction
contractors and other development vendors; and (vi) successfully
dispose of the Group’s equity interests in project development
companies when suitable. In respect of the plans and measures, (i)
to (i), we were advised by management that no written contractual
agreements from debt holders or banks are available to the Group,
in respect of the plans and measures (iv) to (vii), we were advised by
management that the plans and measures are still in progress and
no sufficient appropriate audit evidence can be obtained to evaluate
the implementation of these plans and measures. Accordingly, we
were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence that we
considered necessary to evaluate the Group’s ability to implement the
above plans and measures on a timely basis for applying the going
concern basis of preparing the consolidated financial statements.

In view of the above scope limitation, there were no other alternative
procedures that we could perform to satisfy ourselves that the Group
would be able to implement its plans and measures, as a result, we
were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence we considered
necessary to conclude whether the use of the going concern basis
of accounting to prepare the consolidated financial statements is
appropriate.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned plans and
measures, it might not be able to continue to operate as a going
concern, and adjustments might have to be made to write down the
carrying values of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to
reclassify non-current liabilities as current liabilities with consideration
of the contractual terms or to recognise a liability for any contractual
commitments that may have become onerous, where appropriate.
The effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and to issue an auditor’s report. However,
because of the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of
Opinion section of our report, we were unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on
these consolidated financial statements.
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We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lee Chi Sum

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number;: PO8391

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

H = 2024912 831 B IEFE Year ended 31 December 2024

2024 2023 F
2024 2023
M AR¥FR ARETT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
' ON REVENUE 5 39,681,871 66,615,080
5 & B AR Cost of sales (38,774,931)  (63,430,455)
EF GROSS PROFIT 906,940 3,184,625
= N & Other income and gains 5 998,402 95,503
HERDIHMAX Selling and distribution expenses (391,026) (896,566)
TH X Administrative expenses (781,770) (1,252,796)
TREEREEE  F8 Impairment losses on financial assets, net 6 (191,727) (422,772)
HAnf Other expenses (1,393,934) (890,817)
KEMELNTEEE Fair value losses on investment properties 14 (120,062) (102,575)
BAFEFABRD Fair value gains on financial assets at fair
TRIBEEMNRAFEKE value through profit or loss 2,271 2,736
R E = Finance income 29,011 69,100
A& B AN Finance costs 7 (644,374) (310,492)
FEAG ) B K E518 - Share of profits and losses of:
AEDE Joint ventures (162,257) 599,529
iR /NI] Associates 360,497 322,625
Bar (&8 RHE (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6 (1,388,029) 398,100
Frig i = Income tax expense 10 (1,486,591) (3,316,886)
FABE LOSS FOR THE YEAR (2,874,620) (2,918,786)
AT AT EAS - Attributable to:
YNSIEZ RSN Owners of the parent (2,427,358) (4,245,658)
FE1E AR M 2R Non-controlling interests (447,262) 1,326,872
(2,874,620) (2,918,786)
BRAAEBEEEAA LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
EhtERER ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE PARENT
EXRREE Basic and diluted
— FAEE — For loss for the year AR®(0.66)T AKX (1.22)7T
12 RMB(0.66) RMB(1.22)
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H = 2024912 4318 I F € Year ended 31 December 2024

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR®TRT AR®T
RMB’000 RMB’000
FREER LOSS FOR THE YEAR (2,918,786)
REZEEMTEENDE Other comprehensive loss that may be
ZERZEMPHEEIE reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent
periods:
MEBINEBREE ZEREZRE Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations (9,275)
FREMEZEES - OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR
MR BIE THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (9,275)
FRE2EHFRARE TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR
THE YEAR (2,928,061)
AT AL EAG - Attributable to:
NSIEZZ=DN Owners of the parent (4,254,933)
JEIZERR R Non-controlling interests 1,326,872

(2,928,061)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

20244 12 A 31 H 31 December 2024

2024 5 20234
2024 2023
s AR%®FTx ARBT T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
I
IRBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
M BE KK Property, plant and equipment 13 35,728 34,309
FTREEE Right-of-use assets 16 310 4,055
"EYE Investment properties 14 1,412,300 1,508,800
EMmEEE Other intangible assets 15 824 1,198
REEDLENKE Investments in joint ventures 17 3,455,213 5,333,585
REERARINKRE Investments in associates 18 10,427,773 14,824,400
R IE B BE Deferred tax assets 19 903,085 1,569,841
IEmBEERE Total non-current assets 16,235,233 23,276,188
REBEE CURRENT ASSETS
BRATFEFAERD Financial assets at fair value through profit
TREE or loss 20 39,273 37,002
EEWE Properties under development 21 41,854,872 69,283,257
BIEHEMNEZRIME Completed properties held for sale 22 17,049,885 26,440,141
2 5 W ERIE Trade receivables 23 11,893 7,857
& UL B B A R 3R IB Due from related companies 39 9,887,435 10,700,345
FER AR EMEUWEIAE  Prepayments and other receivables 24 40,488,808 38,170,206
A] W B 7 I8 Tax recoverable 1,868,571 2,190,509
e RIRITHE S Cash and bank balances 25 5,740,489 10,662,500
mMBEERE Total current assets 116,941,226 157,491,817
REBAEE CURRENT LIABILITIES
BoEMMRENENERE  Trade and bills payables 26 23,085,941 25,614,187
HEEMREREZTERA  Other payables and accruals 27 24,385,954 23,390,513
HE&ARE Lease liabilities 16 258 2,752
ERNEaE Contract liabilities 28 29,546,369 65,018,077
FE < B Bk A B RUIR Due to related companies 39 11,956,903 14,633,537
FFERIT R EMER Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 29 7,727,652 11,486,249
JE @ Fi 18 Tax payable 10 4,004,336 4,011,904
MBERENBE Provision for financial guarantee contracts 30 429,841 409,596
PTEesmIA Derivative financial instruments 3,818 —
BEZEBERITBKBES Senior notes and host debt of convertible
FEH bonds 31 881,735 6,564,246
MBBEMEE Total current liabilities 102,022,807 151,131,061
REBEEFRE NET CURRENT ASSETS 14,918,419 6,360,756
EEBBEARDEE TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES 31,153,652 29,636,944

e
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2024 5 20234
2024 2023
s AR%®FTx ARBT T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
FRBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
T RERTT R A A B 3K Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 29 3,115,353
HEAE Lease liabilities 16 1,376
ELERIEEE Deferred tax liabilities 19 121,225
BEERE Senior notes 31 —
JEMEB B EAR Total non-current liabilities 3,237,954
BEEFE NET ASSETS 26,398,990
= EQUITY
BAREEAEGES Equity attributable to owners of
the parent
[N Share capital 32 31,450
Gk Reserves 34 6,858,008
6,889,458
IR ER Non-controlling interests 19,509,532
R TOTAL EQUITY 26,398,990
RAZEE BEELLE
Mr. Chen Hongliang Mr. Yeung Tak Yip
- -l
Director Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

B Z£2024%12 A31 8 |E F ¥ Year ended 31 December 2024

BAREAAEL
Attributable to owners of the parent
K& e 1 EiEEK BRE MERE FER B
R& BE B W i f#E  RENE W &t [ £ ag
Statutory Share Exchange Non-
Share Share Merger Capital surplus option Retained  fluctuation controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits reserve Total interests equity

ARBTRE ARBTR ARETR ARMTRT ARETR ARETR AR%TR ARETR ARMTR AR®TR ARETR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
M2  HiEsde) M) M40 KM Mz 33 M3 34(e)

Note32  Note 34(a) Note 34(b) Note 34(d)  Note 34(c) Note 33 Note 34(¢)

R2024F1A1E  Asat1January 2024

FREE Loss for the year
EREMPEBE:  Other comprehensive loss
for the year:

BEBNERE Exchange differences on
EYEREER translation of foreign
operations

FRNREFBAE  Total comprehensive loss for

the year
WEBRAARESR  Sharesissued upon the
Bk conversion of convertible
bonds
WBARFEERRE  Capital contribution
EbEy from non-controling
shareholders of
Subsidiaries
FERERD Capital reduction of
WEBLARRE subsidiaries from

non-controling interests

BAMERKERH  Partial disposal of equity

ENHEAR interests in subsidiaries
i without losing control
W SRR Acauisition of non-controling
interests
I & EMEARE Equity-settied share option
B arangements
ETRSEEER  Aopropriations to statutory
surplus reserve
FFEERERS KA Dividends declared to
Ra non-controling interests
HENBAR Disposal of subsidiaries

720245128318 Asat 31 December 2024
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BRREEAER
Attributable to owners of the parent
k& i g% iEEH BRE MERE FER 35
B& BE e e e e RERE e @it Ei gE
Statutory Share Exchange Non-
Share Share Merger Capital surplus option Retained  fluctuation controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits reserve Total interests equity
ARBTRE ARBTR ARETR ARETRT ARETR ARETR AR%TR ARETR ARMTR AR®TR ARETR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
W32 BiEdsa)  KiEEsab)  KiES4d)  MESe)  HMESS Hi334(e)
Note 32  Note34(a) Note34(b) Note34(d)  Note 34(c) Note 33 Note 34(¢)
7202351418 As at 1 January 2023 31,450 2,672,435 3,138 13609 2,176,107 18,027 6,228,178 (81,0200 11,111,824 20,262,314 31,374,138
ERFR Loss for the year - - - - - - (4245658 — (4245658 1326872  (2918,786)
EREMEEEE:  Other comprehensive loss
for the year:
BEBNERE Exchange differences on
EYEREER translation of foreign
operations - - - - - - - (9,275) (9,275) - (9,275)
FALEFEBEE  Total comprehensive loss for
the year - - - - - - (4245658 0275 (4254933) 1326872  (2.928,061)
WEARFEERRE  Capital contrioution
by from non-controling
shareholders of
subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - 408,993 408,993
FHERERD Capital reduction of
HWELAKE subsidiaries from
non-controling interests - - - - - - - - - (1,829549) (1,829,549
HHMERKEES  Partial disposal of equity
ENHBAE interests in subsidiaries
g without losing control - - - 18,704 - - - - 18,704 7,561 26,265
WEEERER Acquisition of non-controling
interests - - - 18,529 - - - - 18529 (32480 (13.951)
WEHBAR Acquisition of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - (22,824) (22,824)
INEREEMEMRIE Equity-settled share option
ZH arrangements - - - - - (4,666) - - (4,666) - (4,666)
EEBBEEET  Appropriations to statutory
surplus reserve - - - - 334,213 - (334,213 - - - -
FSERREREE RN Dividends declared to
B’ E non-controling interests - - - - - - - - —  (494897)  (494:897)
HERBAR Disposal of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - (116458  (116458)
W2023F 12318 Asat31 December 2023 31450 2,672,435 3,138" 50,742 2,510,320" 13,361" 1,648,307 (40,295 6,889,458 19,509,532 26,398,990

. ZERBREREAMBRARZEAH

# A B #4,496,988,000 7T (2023 4
6,858,008,0007T) °
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These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated

reserves of

RMB4,496,988,000 (2023: RMB6,858,008,000) in the consolidated statement of

financial position.
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2024 2023
2024 2023
it AR®TR ARETT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
O
RETBHHESRE CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Bian (&5 18),/ F (Loss)/profit before tax 6 (1,388,029) 398,100
U TRIBFE: Adjustments for:
M BERREERNE Depreciation of items of property, plant and
. equipment 6,13 9,591 30,956

Hoph 77 & i o Amortisation of other intangible assets 6,15 771 9,879
REBYEERNBERBE Impairment losses recognised for properties
R under development 6, 21 1,512,421 2,008,965
REFEHENEZTTYE Impairment losses recognised for completed
_ERHREEE properties held for sale 6, 22 289,251 750,890
ReMEERRORELSR Impairment losses recognised for financial

o assets 191,727 422,722

BE 3B 18 R ) Exchange loss, net 6 69,592 176,375

MBRERENEBEZD Changes in provision for financial guarantee
o R contracts 6 19,545 169,230

HEME MERZMEEE  Loss/gain) on disposal of items of property,

BB () plant and equipment 6 81 (@74)
BOMER EA W Gain from offshore debt restructuring (429,948) —
TTESRMTIARFEE Net fair value change on derivative financial

HEE instruments (406,493) -
BRERTHEYE Gain on markdown of senior notes (135,575) —

BB L A B () Loss/(gain) on disposal of subsidiaries 6, 36 521,629 123,680

HEABPEREE QA Loss on disposal of joint ventures and
BE associates 6 483,905 173,630

ElhaSENBRER Share of profits and losses of joint ventures 162,257 (599,529
FE G B & N /] A B 1R Share of profits and losses of associates (360,497) (322,625)
REMELNTEZE Changes in fair value of investment properties 14 120,062 102,575
BAFEFABZO SR Fair value gains on financial assets at fair value

BEMARTERS through profit or loss (2,271) (2,736)
EREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 16 4,981 39,962
BEMKA Finance costs 7 644,374 310,492

mE R Finance income (29,011) (69,100)

DNiEatEmERER Equity-settled share option expense 33 1,295 (4,666)

1,279,658 3,718,376

ERMERBELHED Decrease in properties under development and

BT ITYERD completed properties held for sale 35,675,788 38,299,043
A R8I A e U 5RO (Increase)/decrease in prepayments and
_ogEm),/ RSy other receivables (5,747,144) 2,077,850
IR 2R GEm) Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash 25 1,469,701 (1,569,465)
2T CE M), R D (Increase)/decrease in pledged deposits 25 (235,819) 128,037
25 R RIEE M Increase in trade receivables (4,036) (106)
BHEMFANENER (Decrease)/increase in trade and bills payables

CRd)sgm 26 (2,293,681) 4,887,102
Hitb N RIEREER Increase/(decease) in other payables

2/ O ) and accruals 3,522,552 (1,181,605)
aRaERD Decrease in contract liabilities (35,881,545)  (48,250,067)
EEfAES Cash used in operations (2,214,526) (1,890,835)
2 WA 2 Interest received 29,136 71,970
B A8 Tax paid (501.876) (375.860)
RETEFMARSREFHE Net cash flows used in operating activities (2,687,266) (2,194,725)

. —————————
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2024 &

2024

izt AE¥TR
Notes RMB’000

20234
2023

ARBETT

RMB’000

-

RETHRERE CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
BEVE BEREH®ER Purchases of items of property, plant and
equipment 13 (11,262) (5,259)
BEHMEVEE Purchases of other intangible assets 15 (397) (5,826)
HEME  BER&E Disposal of property, plant and equipment 13 96 849
HEREME Disposal of investment properties 8,429 —
RAERENEEARIMNIKRE  Investments in joint ventures and associates (73,890) (431,655)
HERKBRRIMNEE Disposal of investments in subsidiaries 36 (2,597) (101,738)
HERASME RS NAH  Disposal of investments in joint ventures and
BE associates 809,258 168,442
W B BT B A A Acquisition of subsidiaries - (113,438)
EETLERBENTRE Capital reduction from joint ventures and
associates 1,342,128 253,081
WEREAEDENE S DEH Dividend received from joint ventures and
I & associates 714,467 999,314
BEREMZF Purchases of investment properties 14 (31,991) (67,675)
Rl INGIEEA Advances to related companies 39 (2,881,396) (2,173,771)
BEMEH AR Repayment of advances to related companies 39 3,649,564 4,332,552
RETHMERERE Net cash flows generate from
FEE investing activities 3,522,409 2,854,882
METHRERE CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
MEAREERBRENTE Capital contribution from non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries 175,853 408,993
REBHRARBK Advances from related companies 39 1,277,627 1,669,973
BEXRBBEHAFER Repayment of advances from related companies 39 (3,954,261) (3,690,185)
YHHEEE Payment of lease liabilities 16 (5,246) (45,325)
EfF & Interest paid (364,500) (653,510)
U B8 JE TR AR 2 Acquisition of non-controlling interests (109,392) (13,951)
[r) FF 128 % AR R A+ B9 AR B Dividends distribution to non-controlling
shareholders (145,908) (69,253)
FEREZNHRBRRNE Capital reduction of subsidiaries from
non-controlling interests — (604,549)
E‘B HERKELHENME  Partial disposal of equity interests in subsidiaries
NS Hﬂ& without losing control 30,723 26,265
& i?; BEZER Repayment of senior notes (65,774) —
FigEt SR R E A AR New interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 275,269 849,354
BEFERITREMER Repayment of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings (1,637,866) (5,903,007)
METEMARSREFHE Net cash flows used in financing activities (4,523,475) (8,025,195)
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2024 & 20234

2024 2023

izt AR®TR AREBTT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

-

ReRFESEBYRD FHE NET DECREASE IN CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS (3,688,332) (7,365,038)
FENRERBEFEY Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 7,238,809 14,603,726
EXEEyB58 Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net 203 121
FRRERBAEEEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

AT END OF YEAR 3,550,680 7,238,809

RERBEEENERDIN ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

Be RBTHES Cash and bank balances 25 5,740,489 10,662,500
B REHIRE Less: Restricted cash 25 1,860,149 3,329,850
[REELYES A Pledged deposits 25 329,660 93,841
REeERERAFIRER CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AS STATED
HREEEY IN THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 3,550,680 7,238,809

. ————————
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RAREEEH

KRR —ZFXRASHESTMMX
UWERRE AR NAREMPEE
BE bk 4190 Elgin Avenue, George
Town, Grand Cayman, KY1-9008,
Cayman Islands °

FR AEBIT2REYEHIH
MEHEARREHREEBBRS

EERR ARFAHHRERRAT
7= Changxing International Co., Ltd. °

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands. The registered office address of the Company
is 190 Elgin Avenue, George Town, Grand Cayman, KY1-9008,
Cayman Islands.

During the year, the Group was principally involved in property
development, property leasing and management consulting
services.

In the opinion of the directors, the ultimate holding company of
the Company is Changxing International Co., Ltd.

WELTER Information about subsidiaries
KRB EEMERAAFESHET Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out
LU below:
TEMARL BRTEE/ ERAREN
L EMREEBE FEMBEA(F ) REBAL FEER
Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ registered share  equity attributable
Name registration and business capital ('000) to the Company  Principal activities
EREE:
Directly held:
ERRERRAT EERAHEE £750 100.00% HEERK
Ample Sino Investment Limited British Virgin Islands US$50 Investment holding
PRERERERAF EERAHES £7150 100.00% HAER
Zhongliang International Development Company Limited British Virgin Islands US$50 Investment holding
BEEE:
Indirectly held:
LEPRCERRERAR REARAMA(REA],/ AR 100.00% HRAZER
B R 3,330,000
Shanghai Zhongliang Enterprise Development Co., Ltd. People’s Republic of China RMB3,330,000 Investment holding
(“PRC”)/Chinese Mainland
BERPAREEBRAA hE/HERL AE%10,000 100.00% M
Xunyi Zhongliang Kunyi Property Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000 Property development
RRABEEEEARAA RE/RE R AR 90,000 100.00% #ERE
Ankang Liangsheng Jiye Property Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB90,000 Property development
REMARCEERAABRAA HE/RE R AR 125,000 100.00% #ERHE
Jieshou Liangsheng Enterprise Management Consulting PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB125,000 Property development
Co., Ltd.
AEREEEERAA HE/ B R AR #50,000 100.00% #EH%
Henan Lianglong Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000 Property development
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out
below: (Continued)

HEMRL/ BRTERE/ ARAREML

A1 ERUEE $:1 Rl e NG REBSL FEEHR
Issued ordinary/ Percentage of

Place of incorporation/ registered share  equity attributable
Name registration and business capital ('000) to the Company  Principal activities
BERE: (&)
Indirectly held: (Continued)
RHEREBRARA &% #70.08 100.00% & AEHK
Liangyi Investment Co., Ltd. Hong Kong HK$0.08 Investment holding
RV EXERARA B/ R AE%10,000 100.00% HEERK
Shanghai Liangtong Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000 Investment holding
TREBEEEERDA RE/RERL AR #10,000 100.00% & ER
Shanghai Cijin Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000 Investment holding
HIRBEEBERDA RE/RENM AR 50,000 10000% HEZK
Zhejiang Liangcheng Property Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000 Investment holding
FERHEEBERDA RE/RENL AR 10,000 100.00% HEER
Shanghai Tiandu Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000 Investment holding
BRPREHEREERAT RE/HE R AR 50,000 100.00% BEZK
Fujian Zhongliang Real Estate Development Limited PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000 Investment holding
EREEBEEFRAERAA B/ R AR 700,000 100.00% HEERK
Shanghai Liangzhuo Business Information Consulting Co.,Ltd.  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB700,000 Investment holding
BREAREREAF Bk B0 10000% {REZRK
Heng Rong Co., Ltd. Hong Kong HK$10 Investment holding
RERERRAF KBERHS AR50 100.00% HEER
Liangheng Investment Company Limited British Virgin Islands RMB50 Investment holding
HWEERR AT BB 7 700.001 100.00% HAEERK
Yangna Investment Co., Limited Hong Kong HK$0.001 Investment holding
ERTRBEEERDA RE/RE R AR #50,000 96.07% EME
Ningbo Liangjin Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000 Property development
MNEREXBERAE R/ HERL AR #50,000 93.32% MEME
Hangzhou Shichen Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000 Property development
EHRERHEREERAA B/ R AE%50,000 89.13% MEME
Wuxi Liangxing Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000 Property development
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out
below: (Continued)

HEMRL/ BRTERE/ ARAREML

A1 ERUEE $:1 Rl e NG REBSL FEEHR
Issued ordinary/ Percentage of

Place of incorporation/ registered share  equity attributable
Name registration and business capital ('000) to the Company  Principal activities
BERE: (&)
Indirectly held: (Continued)
EERRCKEBRFANERAA R/ HERL AR #130,000 86.62% MEME
Ningguo Liangci Enterprise Management Consulting Co., Ltd. ~ PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB130,000 Property development
RINTRREZERAF B/ R AE%50,000 84.81% MEME
Yinchuan Liangchen Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000 Property development
BETREBEEERAA R/ E A AR 50,000 77.00% MEME
Nanyang Zhongliang Chengtong Property Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000 Property development
BRAREEERDA RE/RENM AR 100,000 72.78% MEREE
Jinan Liang'an Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB100,000 Property development
BEOREXBERDA RE/REN AR 20,000 70.82% MEME
Shaoxing Shicheng Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB20,000 Property development
EEXBERBRAA B/ R AR 925,700 70.00% EME
Qingdao Wenyang Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB925,700 Property development
SHRARBEFRD A RE/RE R AR #55,000 65.00% #EME
Ezhou Liangtai Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB55,000 Property development
BRILRKCEEBARERAA RE/E R AR 50,000 64.37% MEME
Maanshan Liangyong Enterprise Management Consulting Co.,  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000 Property development

Ltd.

BEMAHEEEERAA RE/HE R AR 20,000 64.00% MEME
Sugian Liangxiwang Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB20,000 Property development
TIERGRBEERA A RE/ PR AR #300,000 60.00% EFE
Jiangyin Liangrui Property Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB300,000 Property development
BAkMRREEERAA B/ E R AR %50,000 57.31% MERE
Lishui Liangding Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000 Property development
BNRBEZERAA B/ R AR %20,000 51.00% #EME
Xuzhou Liangdu Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB20,000 Property development
FEREVEBEEHEREERAA B/ R AR#20,000 51.00% WERE
Yuxi Jinke Junhui Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB20,000 Property development
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out
below: (Continued)

HEMRL/ BRTERE/ ARAREML

A1 ERUEE $:1 Rl e NG REBSL FEEHR
Issued ordinary/ Percentage of

Place of incorporation/ registered share  equity attributable
Name registration and business capital ('000) to the Company  Principal activities
BERE: (&)
Indirectly held: (Continued)
BHEREHEREERAA R/ HERL AR #50,000 51.00% MR
Suzhou Zhuojun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000 Property development
BITRABEARAF HE/ T E R AR 50,000 47.82% MEEH
Yinchuan Liangcheng Real Estate Co., Ltd."®" PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000 Property development
BYRREMBEARAF FE/ TR AR 50,000 47.56% EEH
Nanping Zhongliang Mingmen Real Estate Co., Ltd."*®" PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000 Property development
FERHBEARAR E/ R E A AR 150,000 4734% MERE
Sugian Liangyue Real Estate Co., Ltd."*" PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000 Property development
HEmREELARAT RE/RER AR 50,000 4504% MEHRE
Bengbu Ruilong Real Estate Co., Ltd."™*" PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000 Property development
BARBOEERRRNERAFT B/ R AR #50,000 44.78% MERE
Wuhu Liangrui Enterprise Management Consulting Co., Ltd."*®"  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000 Property development
EMmERELARAT" B/ RE R AR 50,000 41.00% WEEH
Changzhou Honghe Real Estate Co., Ltd.""’ PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000 Property development
tETREBLARAE R/ E A AR # 285,000 39.74% MERE
Shangrao Chende Real Estate Co., Ltd."**" PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB285,000 Property development
BaRREHEREARAT RE/RER AR#35,000 30.22% W%
Yantai Weicheng Real Estate Development Limited"*®" PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB35,000 Property development
EERNEBEHEREARAF" HE/ T E R AR%100,000 3570% MEEH
Chongging Liangcheng Chengyang Real Estate Development  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB100,000 Property development

CO., Ud.NoteW

REBRBEHEREARAR HE/ RN AR 61,000 34.00% B
Zhangjiagang Dongjun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd."*"  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB61,000 Property development
mEMEBENEARAF FE/ TR R AR¥100,000 3170% M
Rugao Hongxin Real Estate Co., Ltd."**" PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB100,000 Property development
R ERNERRARAT" E/ R E A AR 120,000 23.93% MEME
Tai"an New City Hongjing Real Estate Development PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB20,000 Property development

Co., Ltd."*’
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out
below: (Continued)

Note 1: As the Group has exposure or rights to variable returns from its
involvement with those companies, and has the ability to affect those
returns through its majority voting position and the existing rights to
direct the relevant activities including but not limited to the budget,
pricing and promotion strategies of these companies, the Group has
control over these companies and these companies are thus accounted
for as subsidiaries of the Group.

The English names of the companies registered in Chinese
Mainland referred to above in this note represent management’s
best efforts in translating the Chinese names of those
companies as no English names have been registered or are
available. The legal forms of all the above disclosed principal
subsidiaries are limited liability companies.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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Notes to Financial Statements
2024412 A 31 H 31 December 2024

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards (which include International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), International Accounting
Standards (“IAS”) and Interpretations) approved by the
International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for investment properties, financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) and other financial
liabilities which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.
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2.1.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-
controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and
recognises the fair value of any investment retained and any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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2.1. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Going Concern Basis

The Group recorded a net loss of RMB2,874,620,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2024. As at 31 December 2024, the
Group’s total interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and
senior notes and host debt of convertible bonds amounted
to RMB20,250,742,000, out of which RMB8,609,387,000
will be due for repayment within the next twelve months
(including other interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
of RMB2,729,094,000 which had not been repaid according
to their scheduled repayment dates), while its cash and
cash equivalents amounted to RMB3,550,680,000. As at 31
December 2024, the default of certain interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings triggered certain long term interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings amounting to RMB602,766,000
becoming repayable on demand.

The Company has completed a scheme for its offshore debts
including senior notes and certain other offshore debts. The
scheme came into effect on 20 March 2024 with all conditions
satisfied under the holistic solution. All outstanding scheme
debts including the Company’s default senior notes with an
aggregate amount of principal of RMB6,564,246,000 and
interest of RMB834,295,000 and other default offshore debts
with an aggregate amount of principal of RMB1,781,299,000
and interest of RMB479,258,000 were cancelled and all
guarantees in connection with the scheme debts were released.
New convertible bonds and new senior notes were issued,
and certain other offshore debts were extended and became
effective in accordance with their terms.

Also, the directors of the Group have evaluated the sustainable
operation ability for 12 months from the end of the reporting
period, which is affected by the macroeconomic environment,
industry environment and credit environment and came to an
opinion that the liquidity risk of the Company is facing periodic
challenges.
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2.1.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Going Concern Basis (Continued)

The above conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt over the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. In view of such
circumstances, the directors of the Company have undertaken
a number of plans and measures to improve the Group’s
liquidity and financial position, including:

(@ the Group has been actively negotiating with the Group’s
existing debt holders to seek renewal or extension for
repayment of the Group’s bank and other borrowings;

(b) the Group will continue to actively communicate with
banks to secure relevant project development loans for
qualified project development in a timely manner;

(c) the Group will continue to seek other alternative financing
and borrowings to finance the settlement of its existing
financial obligations and future operating and capital
expenditures;

(d) the Group has prepared a business strategy plan focusing
on the acceleration of the sales of properties;

(e) the Group has implemented measures to speed up the
collection of outstanding sales proceeds and effectively
control costs and expenses;

() the Group will continue to negotiate with construction
contractors and other development vendors to manage
payment schedules; and

(99 the Group will continue to seek suitable opportunities
to dispose of its equity interests in certain project
development companies in order to generate additional
cash inflows.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that, taking into
account the above plans and measures, the Group will have
sufficient working capital to finance its operations and meet
its financial obligations as and when they fall due within the
following twelve months from 31 December 2024. Accordingly,
the directors of the Company are satisfied that it is appropriate
to prepare the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2024 on a going concern basis.
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2.1. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Going Concern Basis (Continued)

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist
as to whether the management of the Group will be able to
implement the aforementioned plans and measures. Whether
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern will
depend upon the Group’s ability to generate adequate financing
and operating cash flows through the following:

(i) successfully negotiating with the Group’s existing debt
holders for the renewal or extension for repayment of the
Group’s bank and other borrowings;

(i) successfully securing project development loans for
qualified project development in a timely manner;

(i) successfully obtaining additional new sources of financing
as and when needed;

(iv) successfully carrying out the Group’s business strategy
plan including the acceleration of the sales of properties;

(v)  successfully implementing measures to speed up the
collection of outstanding sales proceeds and effectively
control costs and expenses;

(vi) successfully manage the payments to construction
contractors and other development vendors; and

(viiy successfully disposing of the Group’s equity interests in
project development companies when suitable.

Should the Group be unable to operate as a going concern,
adjustments may have to be made to write down the carrying
values of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any
further liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities, respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not
been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
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2.2.

2.3.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and
amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards that are relevant
to its operations and effective for its accounting year beginning
on 1 January 2024. IFRS Accounting Standards comprise
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS Accounting
Standards”); International Accounting Standards (“lIAS”); and
Interpretations. The adoption of these new and amendments to
IFRS Accounting Standards did not result in significant changes
to the Group’s accounting policies, presentation of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements and amounts reported for the
current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new IFRS Accounting Standards
that have been issued but are not yet effective. The application
of these new IFRS Accounting Standards will not have material
impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights
and over which it has significant influence. Significant influence
is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the
net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists
only when decisions about the relevant activities require the
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
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2.3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are
stated in the consolidated statements of financial position at
the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made
to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may
exist. The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures
is included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. In addition, when there has been
a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the
Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable,
in the consolidated statements of changes in equity. Unrealised
gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
investments in the associates, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates or joint
ventures is included as part of the Group’s investments in
associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted
for under the equity method. In all other case, upon loss of
significant influence over the associate or joint control over the
joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant
influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained
investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit
or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is
classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance
with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations.
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2.3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition
date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair
value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.
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2.3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than
the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition
date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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2.3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
right-of-use assets) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. Such properties are measured initially at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects
market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in profit or loss in the year in
which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in profit or loss in the year
of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties or inventories, the deemed cost of a property for
subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of change in
use. If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied
property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts
for such property in accordance with the policy stated under “Property,
plant and equipment and depreciation” for owned property and/
or accounts for such property in accordance with the policy
stated under “Right-of-use assets” for property held as a right-
of-use asset up to the date of change in use, and any difference
at that date between the carrying amount and the fair value of
the property is accounted for as a revaluation in accordance
with the policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment
and depreciation” above. For a transfer from inventories to
investment properties, any difference between the fair value of
the property at that date and its previous carrying amount is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements
2024412 A 31 H 31 December 2024

2.3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties (Continued)

Transfers to or from investment property
Transfers to or from investment property shall be made when
there is a change in use evidenced by:

(@) commencement of owner-occupation, for a transfer from
investment property to owner-occupied property;

(b) commencement of development with a view to sale, for a
transfer from investment property to inventories;

(c) end of owner-occupation, for a transfer from owner-
occupied property to investment property; and

(d) inception of an operating lease to another party and the
property is held for leasing, for a transfer from inventories
to investment property.

Properties under development

Properties under development are intended to be held for sale
after completion.

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
comprising land costs, construction costs, borrowing costs,
professional fees and other costs directly attributable to such
properties incurred during the development period and net
realisable value.

Properties under development are classified as current assets
unless those will not be realised in normal operating cycle.
On completion, the properties are transferred to completed
properties held for sale.
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2.3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated in the statements
of financial position at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined by an apportionment of the total costs of
land and buildings attributable to the unsold properties. Net
realisable value takes into account the price ultimately expected
to be realised, less estimated costs to be incurred in selling the
properties.

Allocation of property development costs

Land costs are allocated to each unit according to their
respective saleable gross floor areas (“GFA”) to the total saleable
GFA. Construction costs relating to units were identified and
allocated specifically. Common construction costs have been
allocated according to the saleable GFA similar to land costs.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Software is stated at cost less any impairment loss and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life
of 3 to 5 years.
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Notes to Financial Statements
2024412 A 31 H 31 December 2024

2.3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Office properties 1to 6 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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2.3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments to
be made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by
the Group and payments of penalties for termination of
a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
the option to terminate the lease. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which the event
or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of office equipment (that
is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). It also applies the recognition exemption
for leases of low-value assets to leases of office equipment
and laptop computers that are considered to be of low
value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2.3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either
an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in
revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating
nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee are
accounted for as finance leases.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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2.3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash
flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling
the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business model
with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified and
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of both holding
to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date,
that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset.
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2.3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss (“FVTPL”)
are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with
net changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

This category includes equity investments which the Group had
not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through other
comprehensive income. Dividends on the equity investments
are also recognised as other income in the statement of profit
or loss when the right of payment has been established.
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2.3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either
(@) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and
the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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Notes to Financial Statements
2024412 A 31 H 31 December 2024

2.3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information. The Group
considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.
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2.3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts
in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash
flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs
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Notes to Financial Statements
2024412 A 31 H 31 December 2024

2.3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and lease receivables, the Group chooses as its
accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs with policies as described above.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings, corporate bonds and senior notes and
host debt of convertible bonds (collectively called “loans and
borrowings”), lease liabilities, trade and bills payables, other
payables, and amounts due to related parties.
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2.3.
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2.3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-
bearing borrowings and lease liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or
loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a
debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised
initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: () the ECL
allowance determined in accordance with the policy as set out
in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (i) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of
income recognised.

Senior notes

Senior notes issued by the Company that contain both liability
and early redemption option (which is not closely related to the
host contract) are classified separately into respective items on
initial recognition. At the date of issue, both the liability and early
redemption option components are recognised at fair value.
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2.3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Senior notes (Continued)

In subsequent periods, the debt component of the senior notes
is carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The early redemption option is measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the senior
notes are allocated to the liability and early redemption
option components in proportion to their relative fair values.
Transaction costs relating to the early redemption option are
charged to profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs relating
to the debt component are included in the carrying amount of
the liability portion and amortised over the period of the senior
notes using the effective interest method.

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds which entitle the holder to convert the
loans into equity instruments, other than into a fixed number
of equity instruments at a fixed conversion price, are regarded
as combined instruments consist of a liability and derivative
components. At the date of issue, the fair values of the
derivative components are determined using an option pricing
model. The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the liability
component and is carried as a liability at amortised cost using
the effective interest method until extinguished on conversion
or redemption. The derivative components are measured at fair
value with gains and losses recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and
derivative components of the convertible bonds based on the
allocation of proceeds to the liability and derivative components
on initial recognition.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit
or loss.
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2.3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if,
and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly
liquid deposits with a maturity of generally within three months
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and held for
the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statements of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at
banks, and short-term deposits as defined above, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be
reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate
asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The
expense relating to a provision is presented in the statement of
profit or loss net of any reimbursement.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of each of the Reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in
the discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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2.3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods
are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from
or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of each of the Reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in which
the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

U in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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2.3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss
and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
the reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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2.3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it
is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to profit or loss over
the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset
and released to profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.
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2.3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it
is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted
for the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in IFRS 15.
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Notes to Financial Statements
2024412 A 31 H 31 December 2024

2.3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Sale of properties

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the asset is
transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms of the
contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the
asset may transfer over time or at a point in time. Control of the
asset is transferred over time if the Group’s performance:

° provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

° creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the Group performs; or

° does not create an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effect of financing
component if it is significant.

For a property development and sales contract for which
the control of the property is transferred at a point in time,
revenue is recognised when the customer obtains the physical
possession or the legal title of the completed property and the
Group has the present right to payment and the collection of
the consideration is probable.
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2.3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Property management services

Property management service income derived from the
provision of property maintenance and management services
is recognised when the relevant services are rendered and the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group.

Management consulting services

Management consulting service income derived from the
provision of support services in connection with development
of property projects is recognised when the relevant services
are rendered and the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that discounts
the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument of the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right
to receive payment has been established, it is probable that
the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before
the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or
services to the customer).
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2.3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme. Employees (including
directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of
share-based payments, whereby employees render services in
exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants is measured by reference to the fair value at the date
at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an
external valuer using a binomial model, further details of which
are given in note 33 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to
which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit or loss for
a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair
value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of
an award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.
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2.3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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2.3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those Hong
Kong employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the statement of
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary which operates
in Chinese Mainland are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government
(the “Central Pension Scheme”, together with the MPF Scheme,
the “Defined Contribution Schemes”). This subsidiary is
required to contribute a certain portion of its payroll costs to
the Central Pension Scheme. The contributions are charged
to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the Central Pension Scheme. No
forfeited contribution under the Defined Contribution Schemes
is available to reduce the existing level of contributions or those
payable in future years.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e. assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period
in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest
and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.
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2.3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs (Continued)

Borrowing costs include interest expense, finance charges and
exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings
to the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest
costs. The exchange gains and losses that are adjustments
to interest costs include the interest rate differences between
borrowing costs that would be incurred if the entity had
borrowed funds in its functional currency, and the borrowing
costs actually incurred on foreign currency borrowings. Such
amounts are estimated based on forward currency rates at the
inception of the borrowings.

When the construction of the qualifying assets takes more
than one accounting period, the amount of foreign exchange
differences eligible for capitalisation is determined for each
annual period and is limited to the difference between the
hypothetical interest amount for the functional currency
borrowings and the actual interest incurred for foreign currency
borrowings. Foreign exchange differences that did not meet
the criteria for capitalisation in previous years should not be
capitalised in subsequent years.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

[tems included in the financial information of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented
in RMB, which is the Company’s functional currency because
the Group’s principal operations are carried out in the PRC.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
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2.3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling
at the end of each of the reporting period. Differences arising
on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in
profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item
(i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or
loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date
on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration.
If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than the RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the differences are
attributable to non-controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Going Concern Consideration

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, apart
from those involving estimations, management has prepared the
consolidated financial statements on the assumption that the
Group will be able to operate as a going concern in the coming
year, which is a critical judgement that has the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements. The assessment of the going concern assumption
involves making a judgement by the directors, at a particular
point of time, about the future outcome of events or conditions
which are inherently uncertain. The directors consider that the
Group has the capability to continue as a going concern and
the major events or conditions, which may give rise to business
risks, that may individually or collectively cast a significant doubt
upon the going concern assumption are set out in note 2.1 to
the financial statements.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements:

Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on
its investment property portfolio. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, such as the lease term not constituting a major
part of the economic life of the commercial property and the
present value of the minimum lease payments not amounting
to substantially all the fair value of the commercial property,
that it retains substantially all the significant risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of these properties which are leased out
and accounts for the contracts as operating leases.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

Classification between investment properties and owner-
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the
Group considers whether a property generates cash flows
largely independently of the other assets held by the Group.
Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation and another portion that is held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold
separately or leased out separately under a finance lease, the
Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions could
not be sold separately, the property is an investment property
only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the production
or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes.
Judgement is made on an individual property basis to determine
whether ancillary services are so significant that a property does
not qualify as an investment property.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below:

Provision for properties under development and completed
properties held for sale

The Group’s properties under development and completed
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Based on the Group’s historical experience and
the nature of the subject properties, the Group makes estimates
of the selling prices, the costs of completion of properties
under development, and the costs to be incurred in selling the
properties based on prevailing market conditions.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for properties under development and completed
properties held for sale (Continued)

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in
net sales value, the net realisable value will decrease and this
may result in a provision for properties under development and
completed properties held for sale. Such provision requires
the use of judgement and estimates. Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, the carrying value and
provision for properties in the periods in which such estimate
is changed will be adjusted accordingly. The carrying amounts
of properties under development and completed properties
held for sale at 31 December 2024 were RMB41,854,872,000
(2023: RMB69,283,257,000) and RMB17,049,885,000 (2023:
RMB26,440,141,000). Further details are given in note 21 and
note 22, respectively.

Significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the timing
value of money if the timing of payments agreed to by the
parties to the contract provides the Group with a significant
benefit of financing.

Advance payments received from customers provides a
significant financing benefit to the Group. Although the Group is
required to place all deposits and periodic payments received
from the pre-completion sales in a stakeholder account, the
Group is able to benefit from those advance payment as it
can withdraw money from that account to pay for expended
construction costs on the project. The advance payments
received in effect reduce the Group’s need to rely on other
sources of financing.

The amount of the financing component is estimated at the
inception of the contract. After contract inception, the discount
rate is not updated for changes in interest rates or other
circumstances, such as a change in credit risk. The period of
financing is from the time that the payment is received until the
transfer of goods to the customers.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”)

The Group is subject to corporate income taxes in the PRC.
As a result of the fact that certain matters relating to the
income taxes have not been confirmed by the local tax bureau,
objective estimate and judgement based on currently enacted
tax laws, regulations and other related policies are required
in determining the provision for income taxes to be made.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts originally recorded, the differences will impact on
the income tax and tax provisions in the period in which the
differences realise.

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The provision for LAT
is based on management’s best estimates according to the
understanding of the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC
tax laws and regulations. The actual LAT liabilities are subject to
the determination by the tax authorities upon the completion of
the property development projects. The Group has not finalised
its LAT calculation and payments with the tax authorities for
certain of its property development projects. The final outcome
could be different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
and any differences will impact on the LAT expenses and the
related provision in the period in which the differences realise.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-use
assets) at the end of the reporting period. Other non-financial
assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of
its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on
available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less
incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use
calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the
expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating
unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimate of fair value of investment properties

In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar
properties, the Group considers information from a variety of
sources, including:

(@) current prices in an active market for properties of a
different nature, condition or location, adjusted to reflect
those differences;

(b)  recent prices of similar properties on less active markets,
with adjustments to reflect any changes in economic
conditions since the date of the transactions that occurred
at those prices; and

(¢) discounted cash flow projections based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, supported by the terms of
any existing lease and other contracts and (when possible)
by external evidence such as current market rents for
similar properties in the same location and condition,
and using discount rates that reflect current market
assessments of the uncertainty in the amount and timing
of the cash flows.

At 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of investment
properties was RMB1,412,300,000 (2023: RMB1,508,800,000).
Further details, including the key assumptions used for fair value
measurement are given in note 14 to the financial statements.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon
the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with
future tax planning strategies. The carrying value of deferred
tax assets relating to recognised tax losses at 31 December
2024 was RMB128,976,000 (2023: RMB191,703,000). The
amount of unrecognised tax losses and deductible temporary
differences at 31 December 2024 was RMB6,797,183,000 (2023:
RMB5,141,910,000). Further details are contained in note 19 to
the financial statements.
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e EER 4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
ERERBENEEREASEER Management monitors the operating results of the Group’s
(BIEMERBT)NCEEE LY business which includes property development by project
BRI ERBEFTFHIELH AR B location for the purpose of making decisions about resource
—UEMBA FREXEELE allocation and performance assessment, while no revenue,
MEI BB RNEELGES WA F net profit or total assets from a single location exceeded
FEIEEREBENI10%  BAFTE A 10% of the Group’s consolidated revenue, net profit or total
EREBEURLERSE BEMERE assets, respectively. As all locations have similar economic
LHERETEEMNLE EAEBR characteristics with similar nature of property development
BOME FREBNRTEPEAL and leasing and management, nature of the aforementioned
Bl LA K2 4> e B 2 sk 1R AR 7% BT AR business processes, type or class of customers for the
FEELN REMBNERER aforementioned businesses and methods used to distribute the
— ARG E B o properties or provide the services, all locations were aggregated
as one reportable operating segment.
ih & & # Geographical information
HRAEBEREIINTFREFPHBAE No geographical information is presented as the Group’s
BEARPEAMHKCEMEARE revenue from the external customers is derived solely from its
I A% FE R B & B L R B A DA operation in Chinese Mainland and no non-current assets of the
SN - IR 2 T MR B K o Group are located outside Chinese Mainland.
FREXEXEFMER Information about major customers
RFERE HE KPS HERE No revenue from sales to a single customer or a group of
HITH—EHEFPHHEE KA &G customers under common control accounted for 10% or more
AEB R AR10%K A E of the Group’s revenue for the reporting period.
WA Hig AR WS 5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
HWABWDHTAT - An analysis of revenue is as follows:
2024 F 2023 F
2024 2023
AR®TRT AR%T
RMB’000 RMB’000
KEBEFPEHHRA Revenue from contracts with
customers 39,665,003 66,600,928
KRB E AR WA Revenue from other sources
SEX =4 Property lease income 16,868 14,152
st Total 39,681,871 66,615,080

A ——————————
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5. A

- HAb g A B U3 E)

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(Continued)

REEFEHHIWA Revenue from contracts with customers
() ZHVAEHR () Disaggregated revenue information
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
ARETRT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
I
ERSkRFER Types of goods or services
YIS Sale of properties 39,457,318 66,466,526
E b AR 75 Other services 207,685 134,402
RKEREFAELOMBRIKA Total revenue from contracts with
customers 39,665,003 66,600,928
PN ST Timing of revenue recognition
REESHESEE L Sale of properties transferred
Y HE at a point in time 39,457,318 66,466,526
BE Ry M B % B AR 15 Services transferred over time 207,685 134,402
RKEREFPELOBNBRIKA Total revenue from contracts with

144

customers 39,665,003 66,600,928

A ———————————

WO zEMBEYL 8 BEHME
BITHRENEEERNEHER

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of

WA EHE - the reporting period and recognised from performance
obligations satisfied in previous periods:
2024 F 2023 F
2024 2023
AR®BFTRT AR%®TET
RMB’000 RMB’000
SFAREHVZALA[ER  Revenue recognised that was
ERRKA : included in contract liabilities
at the beginning of the reporting
period:
MEHE Sale of properties 32,247,705 55,333,292

-,
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(i) Performance obligations
Information of the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale of properties

For property sales contracts, the Group receives payments
from customers based on billing schedules as established
in the contracts. Payments are usually received in advance
of the performance under the contracts.

Provision of services

For other service contracts, the Group recognises revenue
equal to the right to invoice amount when it corresponds
directly with the value to the customer of the Group’s
performance to date, on a monthly basis. The majority of
the service contracts do not have a fixed term. The Group
has elected the practical expedient for not to disclose
the remaining performance obligations for these types of
contracts.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially

SERSTENOT : unsatisfied) as at 31 December are as follows:

2024 F 2023

2024 2023

AR®TR ARBTT

RMB’000 RMB’000

-

EHERAERANERE Amounts expected to be
recognised as revenue

—F R Within one year 15,904,383 37,475,350

—F 1% After one year 38,962,446 66,380,349

Bt Total 54,866,829 103,855,699

-,
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5. WA EMbr AR W E @

KEREFEHAHBA )

(i) BEHEE @
R (&)
FREEHR —FRrERARKRA
MAOBREZFRHBBEHETORS
BReHEEENR=ZFRNETH
VEHEEBRB - 12024F12 A
31H o E BRIk HE R
MEBRBOETNER SER
TEAARBEZIIT(2023F - A
R #254,184,0007T ) » + it #
EMNSBETREIRG A&

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(ii)

Performance obligations (Continued)

Provision of services (Continued)

The above amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations which are expected
to be recognised as revenue after one year relate to the
sale of properties that are to be satisfied within three
years. As 31 December 2024, the aggregate amount of
transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance
obligations relate to the provision of services is RMBNIl (2023:
RMB254,184,000). The amounts disclosed above do not
include variable consideration which is constrain.

RE-
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR®TRT AR%FT
RMB’000 RMB’000
-
Hib g A & W= Other income and gains
BIMER EA W T Gain from offshore debt restructuring 429,948 —
MTHEEMIARTEEZS Net fair value change on derivative
EiE=E] financial instruments 406,493 -
BERBFHEWE Gain on markdown of senior notes 135,575 —
FER R EEE W Gains on payable settlement 130 33,268
B WE & Forfeiture of deposits 5,574 32,350
X T 48 B Government grants 5,189 6,806
Hh, Others 15,493 23,079
Hag A R =B E Total other income and gains 998,402 95,503
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BiAl (&518) R 6. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX
AEERA(ER) FBEENRS The Group’s (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after charging/
GITA)UT&IE: (crediting):
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
M AR®BTFR ARETT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
-
EEWEKR Cost of properties sold 22 38,304,612 61,036,997
B RS A Cost of services provided 49,064 31,751
HERYERRE Impairment losses recognised for
BEEE properties under development 21 1,512,421 2,008,965
MEBEHEMETIY  Impairment losses recognised for
XERNBEEE completed properties held for sale 22 289,251 750,890
MEBIEREMEXTIY  Imparment losses written off for
EMER R EEE completed properties held for sale 22 (1,380,417) (398,148)
Y BB NMREIE  Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 13 9,591 30,956
FREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 16 4,981 39,962
E b A A Amortisation of other intangible assets 15 771 9,879
Tt ATAEBETEH  Lease payments not included in the
HEMK measurement of lease liabilities 16 14,684 19,198
1% BORM % B Auditor’s remuneration 3,800 10,400
EERAMAXZ Employee benefit expense (including
(BREEEN&ES/TH  diectors’ and chief executive’s
ANBE M (M7E8)) : remuneration (note 8)):
IT&8kHF® Wages and salaries 486,546 794,034
BESFEHRIE Pension scheme contributions and
=W social welfare 109,573 105,451
NHEREENERE Equity-settled share option expenses
X 33 1,295 (4,6606)
MEHZ% ¥ Foreign exchange differences, net 69,592 176,375
TREERESE Impairment losses on financial assets,
FRE net 191,727 422,772
B ERANBEE S Changes in provision for financial
guarantee contracts 19,545 169,230
HEMEAREE Loss on disposal of subsidiaries 521,629 123,680
HEGEPEREE Loss on disposal of joint ventures and
NAEEE associates 483,905 173,630
HEME - BENEZME  Loss/gain) on disposal of items of
Bia, (W) property, plant and equipment 81 (474)
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7. BLERA 7. FINANCE COSTS
BEKADHTAT : An analysis of finance costs is as follows:
2024 £ 20234
2024 2023
AR®BTRT ARE®TET
RMB’000 RMB’000

RITERREMER - BHLEE  Interest on bank loans and other

K AT R & 25 A R borrowings, senior notes and
convertible bonds 1,436,902
WAEBHEENF BEHAX Interest expense arising from revenue
contracts 597,719
HEBENNE Interest on lease liabilities 673
WIEE A FEFABRED Total interest expense on financial
EHMABENEMX AR liabilities not at fair value through
profit or loss 2,035,294
BARHE Interest capitalised (1,724,802)
et Total 310,492
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b),
(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2
of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR¥ T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
e Fees 1,110 1,110
Hame : Other emoluments:
TE - -ZAREWREHN Salaries, allowances
and benefits in kind 9,863 12,447
BEHEe Performance-related bonuses* 649 1,899
WHESEENBERERZ Equity-settled share option
expenses 1,295 467
EESEHEREREESET Pension scheme contributions and
social welfare 345 339
INE Subtotal 12,152 15,152
@5t Total 13,262 16,262

e

© AREETATEEARESES X
e T EARERBEFEEN -

£ B AR B A A A M B R A )
B 8 7 o 4R 4 0 TR 5 4R M R
O S HERAYBREME
3B ZECRBEMAERSERRE
RrBREATEDRNEY DSBS
FRAFEMBREANSED
HALREFERBSTRABEH
ZHBEAR -

Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to bonus
payments which are associated with the profit after tax of the Group.

Certain directors were granted share options, in respect of
their services to the Group, under the share option scheme of
the Company, further details of which are set out in note 33 to
the financial statements. The fair value of such options, which
has been recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the
vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant and
the amount included in the financial statements for the current
year is included in the above directors’ and chief executive’s
remuneration disclosures.
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8. EERBRSITHAEHFMu@m 8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (continued)
(@) BIUFHITES (a) Independent non-executive directors
B ELhE THEXER Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung, Mr. Wang Kaiguo and Mr. Wu
REEOR St ER2019F6 A19H Xiaobo were appointed as independent non-executive
BZERARAB)BILIERTT directors of the Company on 19 June 2019.
BEo
2024 F 2023 4F
2024 2023
AR®TRT AR%T
RMB’000 RMB’000
-
we Fees
— B EE LA — Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung 370 370
— THELSE — Mr. Wang Kaiguo 370 370
— REEFGE — Mr. Wu Xiaobo 370 370
st Total 1,110 1,110

RER - BEEMNBEZIFNTT
EEMEME B (20234 « )

b) BTES

BRlLE BRO=hAE KR
BHRE(HLEE]D  mgLE -
BEEXERPEEBLZ T 5 R
MR2018FE3 A29H 2019 F
12 4238 2019412 A23H -
2019412 A 23 H 202147 A
1H 202456 A20H &20244F
12A31BEZEAARRAHIT
B Eo N ER2024F6 H20
HiRfE -
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A ———————————

There was no other emolument payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year (2023:
Nil).

(b) Executive directors

Mr. Yang Jian, Mr. Chen Hongliang, Mr. Yau Sze Ka (Albert)
(“Mr. Yau”), Mr. He Jian, Mr. Yeung Tak Yip and Ms. Hu
Hui were appointed as executive directors of the Company
on 29 March 2018, 23 December 2019, 23 December
2019, 28 December 2019, 1 July 2021, 20 June 2024
and 31 December 2024, respectively. Mr. Yau was retired
on 20 June 2024.
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8. EERBRSTHAEHM@m 8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) BITEE®E) (b) Executive directors (Continued)
HZE2024F12A31ALLFEE Year ended 31 December 2024
B2t
1% 2R BE 13 NEREEN
He ENEAN Euke REERA BRERX FMas
Salaries,
allowances Pension scheme Equity-settled
and benefits Performance- contributions and share option Total
Fees inkind  related bonuses social welfare expenses remuneration
AR®Tr AR%Trn ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BoES: Executive directors:
- Bal%E — Mr. Yang Jian
—RAZ%EE  — Mr. Chen Hongliang
- A8l%E — Mr. He Jian
—BBEEE  — M YauSzeKa(Aber)
—BBEEE  — Mr Yeung Tak Yip
- HERt — Ms. Hu Hui
@it Total
HZE2023F128318 1Lt EE Year ended 31 December 2023
&5
T% 28R SHEfR INEREER
#e ENET Eugke kit RRERY HMA
Salaries,
allowances Pension scheme Equity-settled
and benefits Performance-  contributions and share option
Fees inkind  related bonuses social welfare expenses  Total remuneration
AREFT  ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
BiTES: Executive directors:
- BRlkE — M. Yang Jian - 3,454 846 112 - 4,412
—BimEE  — M Chen Hongliang - 2,188 531 121 413 3,253
— g% — Mr. He Jian - 2,115 522 90 54 2,781
- BEEEE - Mr YauSzeKa (Albert) - 4,690 - 16 - 4,706
@it Total - 12,447 1,899 339 467 15,162
RERN BHEEEAZSTH There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
A B W E R E NE T ] 37 B executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
B HE o the year.
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9. EEBRESFMES 9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
FAMNhEmeiMEERENA The five highest paid employees during the year included four
EE(2028F: WEBHEE)  HFH M directors (2023: four directors), details of whose remuneration
FIEE R B FES - Bl = 2024 F & are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the
202312 H31HIEFE - AR AA years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 of the five highest
AT MEENTFMFBOT paid employees of the Company are as follows:

2024 20234
2024 2023
AR¥BTR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
T & M EBL Salaries and allowances 10,412 14,161
BiEe Performance related bonuses 849 2,374
NEEENERERS Equity-settled share option expenses 1,295 467
BEEcEEHARTEREN Pension scheme contributions and
social welfare 483 451
“Et Total 13,039 17,453
I —————————
TN TRATHEMIEEE R IE The remuneration of the non-director and non-chief executive
ERTHRAEZSFTMEES AH highest paid employee within the following band is as follows:
LU
EE A"
Number of employees
2024 20234
2024 2023
1,500,001 7% JT 2 2,000,000% 7T HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1 —
2,000,001 7T & 2,500,000/ 7T HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 — 1

AEEYEAARAEEFSILAK
BEFMALINME FRBER
FMAREBE R FEEFMAREE R
M ERB S E R RERFE -
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No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of the
Company or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office.
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10. INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the tax jurisdictions in which members
of the Group are domiciled and operate. Pursuant to the rules
and regulations of the Cayman Islands, the Company and the
Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in the Cayman Islands are not
subject to any income tax. The Group’s subsidiary incorporated
in Hong Kong is not liable for income tax as it did not have any
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the reporting
period.

Subsidiaries of the Group operating in Chinese Mainland are
subject to the PRC corporate income tax with a tax rate of 25%
for the reporting period.

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on
the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from the sale
of properties less deductible expenditures including land costs,
borrowing costs and other property development expenditures.
The Group has estimated, made and included in taxation a
provision for LAT according to the requirements set forth in the
relevant Chinese Mainland tax laws and regulations. The LAT
provision is subject to the final review and approval by the local
tax bureau.

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR®BTR AR®BTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

B EAF 18 - Current tax:
PR PRC corporate income tax 610,887 1,370,188
B IR (E A PRC LAT 198,879 956,517
EERIE (M 5E19) Deferred tax (note 19) 676,825 990,181
FAMIEBEZ LR Total tax charge for the year 1,486,591 3,316,886

L
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10.
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Fr 8% ()

Apm REXEBD W E AR AT
EREEBRZIEEMRRFTENR
Al (B R FEEROMEHGE
)/ AXERERRRFTENTIEA

10. INCOME TAX (Continued)

A reconciliation of income tax (credit)/expense applicable to
(loss)/profit before tax at the statutory tax rate for the jurisdiction
in which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are
domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rate is as

FAXREERNT : follows:
2024 20234
2024 2023
AR®BTR AR®BFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FiAT (E518), )8 (Loss)/profit before tax (1,388,029) 398,100
BEEMGHETE At the statutory income tax rate (347,007) 99,525
EEPEREE QT Profits and losses attributable to
FEAG ) E & B 18 joint ventures and associates (49,560) (230,539)
FERBUA Income not taxable for tax (243,004) —
IRk 0k -335! Expenses not deductible for tax 321,730 648,325
BEFEFANTIEESRE Tax losses utilised from previous
years (75,841) (85,004)
KRR IAE B Tax losses not recognised 1,295,279 1,333,848
RERATEME R EEEE Deductible temporary differences
not recognised 435,835 833,433
& b IR E AR B Provision for LAT 198,879 956,517
THIEEBRO BT E Tax effect on LAT (49,720) (239,129)

BAKBERVEAEDN
IR

Tax charge at the Group’s
effective rate 1,486,591 3,316,886

AELERBERAELHEEY
R & IEE 2 A R % 40,564,000
JL(2023F : M H X H AR K
199,843,0007T) R B X I A R &
90,124,000 7 (20234 : F B & 5 A
R #107,542,0007T) ' Hit Az A 18
mRNELHAECERBZL QEF
g e

L

The share of tax attributable to joint ventures and associates
amounting to tax credit of RMB40,564,000 (2023: tax charge
of RMB199,843,000) and tax charge of RMB90,124,000 (2023:
tax charge of RMB107,542,000), respectively, is included in
“Share of profits and losses of joint ventures and associates” in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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IEEETAC ) 10. INCOME TAX (continued)
REMBRRARANEHTIIEE Tax payable in the consolidated statement of financial position
represents:
2024 F 2023
2024 2023
AR®TRT AR%T
RMB’000 RMB’000
- e
FE ST E Tax payable
FE < FR 1 2 PSS PRC CIT payable 2,658,845 2,545,340
JE P B b 3R R PRC LAT payable 1,345,491 1,466,564
FE S % TE 48 58 Total tax payable 4,004,336 4,011,904
.
R E 11. DIVIDENDS
EEQUVERERRNBEE2024F12 The Board does not recommend a final dividend for the year
A31BIEFE 2 REIR B (20234 - ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).
) o
BATREBEERIEE AE{ 12. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
BRER ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE

BREAEBEBSENIRESAGLE
BEaBEARLFABEBRFRNEHE
17 3% 18 A% h0 #E - 39 £43,693,842,564 [i%
(20234 : 3,492,670,4100%) 5+ & o

BERESEBEERORES AR E
BESFEAEABRGFABBREER
PAERGCEHELARERSEBAR
i 2 17 £ 51 &9 & 38 AR 60 #E 7 15 B
APE o AR R R B R EE T R AR
BEREBRERATRRESEHD

B dn -

PARENT

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based on
the loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
3,693,842,564 (2023: 3,492,670,410) in issue during the year.

The calculation of the diluted loss per share amounts is based
on the loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares into ordinary shares. The Company’s dilutive
potential ordinary shares are derived from the shares granted
under the share option and convertible bonds.
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12. B AR EEREEEFE AEM 12. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
BREE® ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT (Continued)
EREANEESBENTEREDOT - The calculation of the basic loss per share amounts is based
on:
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR® T AR T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
I ——————————
NAIEEERTB AEML Loss attributable to ordinary equity
B ARETESK holders of the parent, used in
HARZEF the basic earnings per share
calculation (2,427,358)* (4,245,658)
igvig gE|
Number of shares
2024 F 2023 F
2024 2023
B 2 Shares
FAREETT % L AR o 15 & Weighted average number of
AR EERERZT ordinary shares in issue during the
year used in the basic earnings per
share calculation 3,693,842,564* 3,492,670,410
ey e - TRRMEFHE :  Effect of dilution — weighted average
number of ordinary shares:
— W P — Share options T FN/A* S8 A N/A
— Al ] AR & 55 — Convertible bonds EAN/A*  TEFEANA
st Total 3,693,842,564 3,492,670,410

';Jrﬁﬁizomimﬂsmii
ﬁ%tﬁx}%é%?@ﬁﬂrﬂﬂ?“$
AR EHFETE  REARR Hﬁém
FHEERTRBERY  RTEEZE
20244 ;202312 AB1A L EE W E
% 4 55 55 18 B I B R AR A A BB AR R
B1IE REARZZHERENTEES
R E E2024F &2023F 12 A31 8 Ik F
ERMETFEME QT ERESHE
E2024%F K2023F12A31BILEEZ
DM ERERNEESHEFELFE -
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No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share amounts
presented for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 in respect
of dilution as (i) the calculation of diluted loss per share for the year ended
31 December 2024 does not assume the exercise of the Company’s
convertible bonds since their assumed exercise would result in a decrease
in loss per share; and (ii) the calculation of diluted loss per share for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 does not assume the exercise
of the Company’s share options because the exercise price of those
options was higher than the average market price for shares for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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13. ¥ -HERRE 13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BARBER

BF "E ETRE HEEE 5t
Office
equipment

Motor  and electronic Leasehold

Buildings vehicles devices  improvements Total

ARBTT AR¥TR ARBTT ARBTRT AR%TrR

RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

20245128318

R2024%1 A1H

31 December 2024

At 1 January 2024

A Cost
2t e Accumulated depreciation
RETE Net carrying amount

m2024F1A18

Nk EFE
NE
HEHBRA
(P =£36)
HE
FENERE
GE)

At 1 January 2024, net of
accumulated depreciation
Additions
Disposal of subsidiaries
(note 36)

Disposal

Depreciation provided
during the year (note 6)

R2024F 12 A31H

MK RAME

At 31 December 2024,
net of accumulated
depreciation

R2024F 12 A31H :

At 31 December 2024:

A Cost
ZEE Accumulated depreciation
REFE Net carrying amount
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13. ¥ BRERRKE@ 13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

MRRER

BF AE BEf&iE HEXE @t
Office
equipment

Motor  and electronic Leasehold

Buildings vehicles devices  improvements Total

ARETT ARETT ARBTT AR®TT ARETT

RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

202312831 H 31 December 2023

R2023%F1 18 At 1 January 2023

PR AN Cost 81,420 42,897 105,726 59,923 289,966
25t E Accumulated depreciation (54,199) (38,002) (81,968) (55,310) (229,479)
REFE Net carrying amount 27,221 4,895 23,758 4,613 60,487

R2023F1A1E - At1January 2023, net of

MBREFHE accumulated depreciation 27,221 4,895 23,758 4,613 60,487
NE Additions 2,688 52 1,705 808 5,253
HEHB DA Disposal of subsidiaries

(Ki5x36) (note 36) - (29) (71) - (100)
& Disposal - (53) (322) - (375)
FENERE Depreciation provided

(M #E6) during the year (note 6) (13,492) (2,897) (10,964) (3,603) (30,956)

2023412 A31H At 31 December 2023,
Mk 2FHE net of accumulated
depreciation 16,417 1,968 14,106 1,818 34,309

R20235 12 A31H © At 31 December 2023:

P2 Cost 84,108 42,554 106,137 60,731 293,530
ZEHE Accumulated depreciation (67,691) (40,586) (92,031) (58,913) (257,221)
EEFE Net carrying amount 16,417 1,968 14,106 1,818 34,309
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2xT T et
Under
Completed construction Total
ARBFTT AR®TT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R2023%F 1 A1 B ERMEE Carrying amount at
1 January 2023 776,100 767,600 1,543,700
NE Additions — 67,675 67,675
R Transfer 138,300 (138,300) —
NEEFHEMSEIEFE Netloss from a fair value
adjustment (97,305) (5,270) (102,575)

MR2023F12 A31H &

Carrying amount at 31 December

20241 A1HKEEMEE 2023 and 1 January 2024 817,095 691,705 1,508,800
NE Additions — 31,991 31,991
E= Disposal (8,429) - (8,429)
o 5 Transfer 169,100 (169,100) -
N ERAEMBEEFRE Netloss from a fair value

adjustment (98,871) 21,191)  (120,062)
R 202412 A31 B HY Carrying amount at 31 December
EEE 2024 878,895 533,405 1,412,300

AEEMKREMEAURFBENA
o RIBB L HEHEE B KA ERF
EBTLETFGHELABZABR AT
((MHEBTHDETHNGHE AEE
BT E Y E R 2024F12 A31 B E
A A R #1,412,300,000 7T (2023 4F :
A R #1,508,800,0007T) ° & 7N R A
EEgHAEE  XEEBARATEZEIHN
EAEEMEEARNSEYENINE
BE-TEREREMSGAH 28
BUIMERERFBEERE - RN Y
PR ESETHER  AEBE
HEBRELGELERAHERMETT

A e

The Group’s investment properties are situated in Chinese
Mainland. The Group’s investment properties were revalued on
31 December 2024 based on valuations performed by Jones
Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited
(“JLL"), an independent professionally qualified valuer,
at RMB1,412,300,000 (2023: RMB1,508,800,000). The
Group decide, after approval from the board of directors of the
Company, to appoint which external valuer to be responsible
for the external valuations of the Group’s properties. Selection
criteria includes market knowledge, reputation, independence
and whether professional standards are maintained. The Group
has discussions with the valuer on the valuation assumptions
and valuation results when the valuations are performed for
financial reporting.
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14. BEYWE @ 14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
ATEEER Fair value hierarchy
TERHPAEEKREYWEN QAT E The following table illustrates the fair value measurement
AERER hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties:

MR2024F12831 HEA
LTERAEN D TEE
Fair value measurement as
at 31 December 2024 using
RERBME EBEXRTEE EXRFTH
W R E WARE ZEWAHE
(8—18) (=) (B8=5E)
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs et
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ARBTRT AR%TR ARTR AR%Tr
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

BLLATIEE #1TH Recurring fair value

SE N A measurement for:
e

EEXZES Commercial properties
BExXT Completed
b e Under construction

BET Total
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14. REWZE @) 14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
AEEERE) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

20234 12 A 31 B & A

AT EREENATE

Fair value measurement as

at 31 December 2023 using
RIERMS BEARAHEE BXRLAAH
0 R 1E BWARE REAZE
(B—F) (BE=_B) (B=RE)

Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs S
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ARBEFTIT ARBETT ARBTT ARBTE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BIATIEB #7178 Recurring fair value
KEEQNFE measurement for:
ETE
EEX/ES Commercial properties
gxL Completed — — 817,095 817,095
T Under construction — — 691,705 691,705
@5t Total — — 1,508,800 1,508,800
RERN F—ERF_E2HEILE During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
ATFEFESER  TEEANE T measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
E=E(2023F : £]&) - into or out of Level 3 (2023: Nil).
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14. RE W @)

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

AEEERE) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
WTARKREMEMEMANGBER Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the
MEkEEEm ASBEHRE - key inputs to the valuation of investment properties:
BB M EXTIBEBARE BEGMEFHE
Range or weighted average
12A31H
31 December
Valuation Significant unobservable 2024 F 2023
techniques inputs 2024 2023
.
ExI@EME L PNz fhat i fE AK#16.4-156.8T A X% 18.3-106.46 7T
Completed commercial Income approach (BERAREAR) RMB16.4-156.8 RMB18.3-106.46
properties Estimated rental value
(per square metre and
per month)
BR{LE® 4.25%-5.75% 4.5%5.75%
Capitalisation rate
REZEEX 5%-15% 5%-15%
Long term vacancy rate
EEREYDR bt BUE EEAE® 10%-15% 10%

Commercial properties  Comparison method
under construction

EXTRAEXMENQFEIERK
NEBE DA BBFALRERYD
XARBEHMELE R RERT
M5 T Al e RE & W (B A
MEEEHBRAELTD BE) - A
BRILBEENERCEIMIAE R -
NEEBEBRATZERLEHM@™
L EAESHAELBHEERS -

162

Expected profit margin

The fair value of completed commercial properties is determined
using the income approach by taking into account the rental
income of the properties derived from the existing leases and/
or achievable in the existing market with due allowance for the
reversionary income potential of the leases, which have been
then capitalised at an appropriate capitalisation rate. Where
appropriate, reference to the comparable sales transactions as
available in the relevant market has also been considered.
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et HEARENORND) BEHE
ST LRAEYEN R FEAREE MO
D) RMEERRENCEREFAKA
BEMOAD)BEHETTIEHED
W RFEXERD GBI -

EREREDENRTEFALBE
BT L2ZHBMSLUESHK
AELHREEZREY (EA) &
BRIUATEEERSEYENAFE(R
REBERI):

s WMBE2EEZKWESELN
et EERARG T HNEE
AR

e MEZSEERVERBEZT
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

A significant increase (decrease) in the estimated rental value
would result in a significant increase (decrease) in the fair value
of the completed commercial properties. A significant increase
(decrease) in the long term vacancy rate and the capitalisation
rate in isolation would result in a significant decrease (increase)
in the fair value of the completed commercial properties.

The fair value of commercial properties under construction is
determined using the comparison method, with reference to
comparable sales evidence as available in the relevant market
to derive the fair value of the properties assuming they were
completed and, where appropriate, after deducting the following
items:

o Estimated construction cost and professional fees to
be expensed to complete the properties that would be

incurred by a market participant, and;

o Estimated profit margin that a market participant would
require to hold and develop the properties to completion.

A higher expected profit margin would result in a lower fair value
of the investment properties under construction.
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15. HthEBREE

15. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2024 F 2023 F
2024 2023
ARBTR AR®BTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
B4 Software
REA - At the beginning of the year:
DN Cost 24,044
REt# Accumulated amortisation (18,793)
REFE Net carrying amount 5,251
FHREE Carrying amount at the beginning of
the year: 5,251
NE Additions 5,826
FREBEEHE(HE6) Amortisation provided during the
year (note 6) (9,879)
FRIEEE: Carrying amount at the end of the
year: 1,198
RER: At the end of the year:
DN Cost 29,870
ZEtHEH Accumulated amortisation (28,672)
FREFE Net carrying amount 1,198
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16. LEASES

The Group as a lessee
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Notes to Financial Statements
2024412 A 31 H 31 December 2024

The Group has lease contracts for various items of office
properties and office equipment used in its operations. Leases
of office properties generally have lease terms between one and
six years, while office equipment generally has lease terms of 12
months or less and/or is individually of low value. Generally, the
Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased

assets outside the Group.

(@ FHAEEE (a) Right-of-use assets
FRAAEEGXRAEEEZRA The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets
BEREHAT and the movements during the year are as follows:

MAEYE

Office

properties

ARMF

RMB’000
]

R2024%F1A1H As at 1 January 2024 4,055

NE Additions 1,236

FERX Depreciation charge (4,981)

1K2024 %12 A31H As at 31 December 2024 310
-

NS S

Office

properties

AREF T

RMB’000

72023F1H1H As at 1 January 2023 40,713

NE Additions 3,304

TERX Depreciation charge (39,962)

R2023F 12 H31H As at 31 December 2023 4,055
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16. HE @)

16. LEASES (Continued)

REBERBAEANE) The Group as a lessee (Continued)
b) HEEE (b) Lease liabilities
FRNEHEBGBZREABELRES The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements
W during the year are as follows:
2024 & 20234
2024 2023
AR¥BTR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
M A1BZEEE Carrying amount at 1 January 45,476
g New leases 3,304
FRE RN BN Accretion of interest recognised
during the year 673
E:S Payments (45,325)
M12 A31H Z R E Carrying amount at 31 December 4,128
DA Analysed into:
mEE S Current portion 2,752
e BB > Non-current portion 1,376

HEAB 2SI TR ER
KU FE420 55 -

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note
42 to the financial statements.
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16. LEASES (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(@) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to
leases are as follows:

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
ARBTRT AREBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

- ————————————————

HEBRBZNE Interest on lease liabilities 140 673
CTRAEEEZITERX Depreciation charge of right-of-
use assets 4,981 39,962
HEBMHEREE  AX Expense relating to short-term
(BT AfTER ) leases (included in administrative
expenses) 14,464 19,188
HEEBEEEHSEBEBM A  Expense relating to leases of
(GTATTE R ) low-value assets (included in
administrative expenses) 220 10
RERERZ AR Total amount recognised in profit
or loss 19,805 59,833

b MEZHRERHEERYE R
7= Pff 73 35(b) #2 5% °

FEBERHBEA

AEBTRHEREWE(WHE14)
ERRESLHEZHET ZZR
EEYME - HEGR —REKBEP
SNRFEIY A EREZRMOIETT
TR EHAEES AEERFER
MR 2 e WA A R 16,868,000
JC (20234 © A R #14,152,0007C) °
ERFBHR Y EHREM TS -

e

(b)  The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 35(b)
to the financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 14) consisting
of three commercial properties under operating lease
arrangements. The terms of the leases generally require the
tenants to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent
adjustments according to the then prevailing market conditions.
Rental income recognised by the Group during the year was
RMB16,868,000 (2023: RMB14,152,000), details of which are
included in note 5 to the financial statements.
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16. HE @) 16. LEASES (Continued)
R2024F 12 A31H  REB IR & At 31 December 2024, the undiscounted lease payments
HEAPZAAHBELERER KK receivable by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable
BB 2 RMBHEENKEOT : operating leases with its tenants are as follows:
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
ARTRT AR®T
RMB’000 RMB’000
I —————————
—FR Within one year 17,591 17,884
—FREMEN After one year but within two years 18,114 17,591
WEBE=FNK After two years but within three years 17,892 18,114
—FBEOFER After three years but within four years 17,921 17,982
MEZREBRFR After four years but within five years 35,994 17,921
hF& After five years 98,421 134,415
Bt Total 205,933 223,907
17. REELEZRE 17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR®TRT AR%T
RMB’000 RMB’000
-
JE(E & EFE Share of net assets 3,338,178 5,214,875
RETELELENTHER Financial guarantees provided to
joint ventures 117,035 118,710
HEt Total 3,455,213 5,333,585
I —————————
AEEEREGELERHEE TR The Group has guaranteed certain of the bank and other
TREMMERER  EFBIHRH borrowings made to its joint ventures, details of which are
H-EETRAE UWBHBERRBT set out in note 30. In the opinion of the directors, the financial
AAERARFREFHE wE guarantee services are unlikely to be compensated in the

BERAEERAELENEDF
BE -

AEBRS SRR EKKIERE
RIBR B R R I L9 FE
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foreseeable future and are considered as part of the Group’s
net investments in the joint ventures.

The Group’s receivables and payables with joint ventures are
disclosed in note 39 to the financial statements.
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17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

AEBEESELEFE (a) Particulars of the Group’s material joint ventures
rEBEEMNG
o i B HMRA FrEEER
NEER H{E Batk EFEH
Percentage of
Nominal ownership
value of interest
Place and year registered attributable to Principal
Name of companies of registration share capital the Group activities
ARET T
RMB’000
EEERFMEREERAA PHREE 40,817 51.00% #0353
1997 F
Chongaing Longquan Real Estate  Chongaing, PRC Property
Development Co., Ltd development
BMNEEBBESENR B8 M 10,000 30.00% )2 GA
BRAR* 20184
Wenzhou Changzhuo Business Wenzhou, PRC Property
Information Consulting Co., Ltd.* development
MMNEREXEERBRAR FEM 100 24.50% ¥
20194
Hangzhou Binsong Business Hangzhou, PRC Property
Management Co., Ltd.* development

* FEBESERAE ZEERER
H E2023F12A31BEFE A
BEAEDLE BEREE2024F
12A31BLFEEAFMNEEEN

AL

EEESEHEREER AR
([EEER]) REE20245F12
ASIBLEFERBALAEER
EEZRECE HPRAMH
Hma&aBHHsREMER
BIHAE  WiRERENER-

BMNEERBKERBAERA
AI(ORMEF]) RMNEMEE
X¥EBHERAB([MMEME]D
R EH £2023F12H31H It F
EHGEAAEBENEEZESZ D
¥ ERRAMHNEMEER
HHEMEYWERBTIEER I
B IEYIER -

(b)

The directors of the Group are of the view that the joint venture
was the material joint ventures for the year ended 31 December
2023 but was not individually material for the year ended 31
December 2024.

Chongqging Longgquan Real Estate Development Co.,
Ltd (“Chongging Longquan”), which were considered a
material joint venture of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2024, co-developed property development
projects with the other joint venture partners in Chinese

Mainland and were accounted for using the equity
method.

Wenzhou Changzhuo Business Information Consulting
Co., Ltd. (“Wenzhou Changzhuo”), and Hangzhou
Binsong Business Management Co., Ltd. (“Hangzhou
Binsong”), which were considered a material joint venture
of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023,
co-developed property development projects with the
other joint venture partners in Chinese Mainland and were
accounted for using the equity method.
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17. REEDLEZRE @) 17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)
(b) (&) (b) (Continued)
TRINTEREEERNUBE The following table illustrates the summarised financial
ERBME HEPREpREME information in respect of Chongaing Longquan, adjusted
BREZERELHABLDRASZE for any differences in accounting policies and reconciled
M m kBRI EYER : to the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements:
EEER
Chongging Longquan
2024 &
2024
AR¥T T
RMB’000
RehBEEEEYD Cash and cash equivalents
Htme & E Other current assets
MENEE Current assets
ERMEBEE Non-current assets
SRAaE(TREE S REME Financil labilties, excluding trade and other
F3RIE) payables
MENAE Current liabilities
BEFE Net assets
EAEBENREEDEMNEZZ  Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in the
R - joint venture:
AEBEFFAERMGL Proportion of the Group’s ownership
AEERLEEFE Group’s share of net assets
wEREE Carrying amount of the investment
A Revenue
X Expenses
Bi1E Tax
FAFHE Profit for the year

FANEE K= B Total comprehensive income for the year
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17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

(%) (b) (Continued)
TRIREBBRIMNE Z KM The following table illustrates the summarised financial
B M #H ®2023F12A31H It information in respect of Wenzhou Changzhou and Hangzhou
FEMNHBERBE HEh 2 Binsong for the year ended 31 December 2023, adjusted for
AN REZEELES any differences in accounting policies and reconciled to the
B ERGEMBREEEE carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements:
AR =N=1 LB 18
Wenzhou Changzhuo Hangzhou Binsong
20234 20234
2023 2023
ARETT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BeMIRESEEY Cash and cash equivalents 15,398 123,022
EM R EE Other current assets 149,722 2,027,727
MENEE Current assets 165,120 2,150,749
ERBNE E Non-current assets 40 225
CRABaEMTEEE Sk Financl liabilities,
H b FE T FRIE) excluding trade and
other payables
HReham’ Other current liabilities (129,837) (1,771,302)
mREEBE Current liabilities (129,837) (1,771,302)
BEFE Net assets 35,323 379,672
BEAEBENRAELDERN  Reconciliation to the
w8 Group's interest in the
joint venture:
AEBTA ML Proportion of the Group’s
ownership 30.00% 24.50%
AEERLEEDE Group’s share of net
BEFE assets of the joint
venture 10,597 93,020
A RHEE Carrying amount of the
investment 10,597 93,020
N Revenue 3,220,780 5,874,625
X Expenses (2,624,315) (6,272,210)
I8 Tax (149,116) (150,719)
FARFE Profit for the year 447,349 451,696
FANEE K =B Total comprehensive

income for the year 447,349 451,696
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17. R ¥ 2KRE @)

() TRINRAKE@EREEKRH
BEMEMELMKER

17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

(c) The following table illustrates the aggregate financial
information of the Group’s joint ventures which are not

individually material:

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
ARETR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

FARGEELEER

B

FiEAEEEEHKmAR

AEERAELEREN
fRE#AE

Share of the joint ventures’ profits

-

and losses for the year (225,572) 354,659
Share of the joint ventures’ total

comprehensive income (225,572) 354,659
Aggregate carrying amount of the

Group’s investments in the joint

ventures 3,396,286 5,229,968

A ——————————

BELCEERAEDREAR-

KRAREZRAE R2024F
12AHEZELE BRERE

(20234 : #E) o

18. REELQTNRKRE

The joint ventures have been accounted for using the
equity method.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that
no provision for impairment was necessary as at 31
December 2024 (2023: Nil).

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

172

2024 F 20234

2024 2023

AR¥ETR ARBTT

RMB’000 RMB’000

JE(E & EFE Share of net assets 10,159,158 14,553,509
BT E QAW B ER Financial guarantees provided to

associates 268,615 270,891

Bt Total 10,427,773 14,824,400

-,

AEBERAEBERRRME TR
TTREMERER EFBHRH
A0 -EBEFERR WHEERRHE

KA

ERARBRESEM#EE WA

BRESAEERE 2 QXA D F

BE

o

7N £5 [ LB 2 N R B FE UK IR L B
5 FRIB B 75 #R R Y E 394K BE

The Group has guaranteed certain of the bank and other
borrowings made to its associates, details of which are set
out in note 30. In the opinion of the directors, the financial
guarantee services are unlikely to be compensated in the
foreseeable future and are considered as part of the Group’s
net investments in the associates.

The Group’s receivables and payables with associates are
disclosed in note 39 to the financial statements.
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18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

AEBEEHREQNAFE (@) Particulars of the Group’s material associates
AEBEEML
HMBRA FrEEER
ACIEE = i it B K% 4 H & Botk TEES
Percentage of
Nominal ownership
value of interest
Place and year registered attributable to Principal
Name of companies of registration share capital the Group activities
AREFT
RMB’000
X #D & R AR E P b 2E B B | 840,000 40% R
BRA A 2020
Chengdu Jingi Shengze Real Sichuan, PRC Property
Estate Development Co., Ltd 2020 development
HEGBZFMERERERAR HEEHE 808,000 41.01% ¥R
20194
Yixing Yuehong Real Estate Yixing, PRC Property
Development Co., Ltd 2019 development
BEMRHEBRBER QA B M 742,860 49.00% ¥R
20194
Changzhou Liangyue Real Estate Changzhou, PRC Property
Co., Ltd** 2019 development
EREEEEXFGR QA R A 50,000 30.22% ¥R E
20204
Hefei Jufeng Real Estate Hefei, PRC Property
Co., Ltd* 2020 development
** AEBEZRAR ZEHEQT b The directors of the Group are of the view that those associates

NE E2023F12A318 It F &

REABERR"

BB £ 2024

F1I2A31BLEFEAERNEEKR

BB E AT -

were the material associates for the year ended 31 December
2023 but were not individually material for the year ended 31

December 2024.
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18. REE A TIHNKRE &)

(b)

MR ESHERERR
ARl (TR & B )) kB B1if &
EHERZEAR AR ([HE1
TR E E2024%F12 A31 8 1
FEWHRIEASENEEZH &
@m’ﬁ¢mmmmﬁm%%

NABEREBEYWEFRAEIERE -
WiR AR -

TRITEBEEKBMEEHE
1B RE E2024F 12 A31H IEHF
EHOVBEERME EhE R

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

(b)

Chengdu Jingi Shenze Real Estate Development Co.,
Ltd (“Chengdu Jingi”) and Yixing Yuehong Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd (“Yixing Yuehong”), which were
considered material associates of the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2024, co-developed property
development projects with the other associates in Chinese
Mainland and were accounted for using the equity
method.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information in respect of Chengdu Jingi and Yixing Yuehong
for the year ended 31 December 2024, adjusted for any

E MEtREEEFELARL differences in accounting policies and reconciled to the
FiFe M BREAREEYR: carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements:
R #R & B HEARE
Chengdu Jingi  Yixing Yuehong
2024 F 2024 F
2024 2024
AR® TR AR® T
RMB’000 RMB’000
MEBEE Current assets
ERBEE Non-current assets
nBEE Current liabilities
ERBEE Non-current liabilities
BEEFE Net assets

AAEBERBERANES L

Reconciliation to the Group’s interest

HER: in the associate:
AEEMEREGL Proportion of the Group’s ownership
AEEENBEAREEFE  Group's share of net assets of the
associate

REEREEAE Carrying amount of the investment

A Revenue

FRHE Profit for the year

FAEHEKREBE Total comprehensive income for the year
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18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

(b)

BEMBEBEFBRAA(EM
Z2HNDRAEEEEEBRAD
AEREEE]) RE £2023F
12A31BIEFEHRIERAEE
A H A E R
MEMBLE AIBAMEYE

MEEBEAQ

FEIER - WIRREIETIRR

TRINTBEBEMNRHREE
E & & £2023F12A31H It
FEMNMBKERBE EhE
MEMNSTBHEEEZMEDLH
BUYER&EZEHBREKREE

(Continued)

Changzhou Liangyue Real Estate Co., Ltd (“Changzhou
Liangyue”), and Hefei Jufeng Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Hefei
Jufeng”), which were considered material associates of
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023,
co-developed property development projects with the
other associates in Chinese Mainland and were accounted
for using the equity method.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information in respect of Changzhou Liangyue and Hefei
Jufeng for the year ended 31 December 2023, adjusted
for any differences in accounting policies and reconciled
to the carrying amount in the consolidated financial

HER - statements:

EMRHE EEEE
Changzhou Hefei
Liangyue Jufeng
2023 % 2023 F
2023 2023
ARETT ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000
MEBEE Current assets 1,683,701 1,310,745
ERBEE Non-current assets 501 4,496
nEBAaE Current liabilities (319,742) (523,392)
FRBAE Non-Current liabilities (205,000) (2,493)
BEFE Net assets 1,159,460 789,356

RIAEEREE A RMEZR 2 4B Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in the

associate:
AEBEMEREGLE Proportion of the Group’s ownership 49.00% 30.22%
REBEEHZD Group’s share of net assets of the

associate 568,133 238,528
REREE Carrying amount of the investment 568,133 238,528
A Revenue 2,698,791 2,052,459
FRNE Profit for the year 435,982 384,738
FAZAMEBE Total comprehensive income for the year 435,982 384,738
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18. REE A TIHNKRE &)

() TRINRAKE@EREEKRH

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

(c)

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial

i N E) B BE 4B B S B R information of the Group’s associates which are not
individually material:
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR®ETR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
I —————————
FREGEE R RFE R Share of the associates’ profits and
518 losses for the year 206,688 (7,266)
JE(RE 2 AR 2 HEUW AT Share of the associates’ total
comprehensive income 206,688 (7,266)
REBERBEARKREDN Aggregate carrying amount of
REEE the Group’s investments in the
associates 9,639,276 14,017,739

4
FE/A

R L B 75 & L R B
RAERIEAR-

A2

KAaEERE MR2024F
12A331 8 & FFEH R E#EH
(20234 : #) -
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The associates have been accounted for using the equity
method in the above financial information.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that
no provision for impairment was necessary as at 31
December 2024 (2023: Nil).
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19. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the

BT year are as follows:
ELEREBEEE Deferred tax assets
% E 3N AREH eHER
ERBRE ARERB ol sttt
HEEE THANES FEHEX BEHE REBUA BEH @it
Losses
available for Expenses Unrealised
offsetting for offsetting revenue in
Lease against future  against future Impairment of contract
liabilities ~ taxable profits ~taxable profits assets liabilities  Accrued LAT Total
AREFT AREFT AREFT ARETT ARETR AREFRT ARBT:R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
20231 1A Gross deferred tax assets
ELHBEAELR at 1 January 2023 11,369 251,258 56,541 52,519 2,496,775 103,376 2,971,838
Wk b B 2 ) Acquisition of subsidiaries - - - - 90,614 - 90,614
&M B AR (F536)  Disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) - - - - (50,034) - (50,034)
FR(BE)/ A Deferred tax (charged)/credited to
BamELEHE profit or loss during the year
(B5E10) (note 10) (10,337) (59,555) (10,447) 92,504  (1,389,027) (18,710)  (1,395,572)
202312831 HHE Gross deferred tax assets
ELEHRBEAELR at 31 December 2023 1,032 191,703 46,094 145,023 1,148,328 84,666 1,616,846
R202451 18K Gross deferred tax assets
BERHEEERR at 1 January 2024 1,032 191,703 46,094 145,023 1,148,328 84,666 1,616,846
FRHRE)/ A Deferred tax (charged)/credited to
BEMELHE profit or loss during the year (968) (62,727) (11,420) 145,844 (746,165) (36,571) (712,007)
R2024%12A31HE  Gross deferred tax assets
ELHBEAELR at 31 December 2024 64 128,976 34,674 290,867 402,163 48,095 904,839
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19. IE 3£ B 1H (&) 19. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)
REANNELEHBEEERBENE The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the
BN - (5&) year are as follows: (Continued)

EEHEAE Deferred tax liabilities
rE
NERFE
HEWNERT %
BBEREHN LIES-E: AHER
BESY GRAEEE DATERE  LTERER Hit @t
Fair value
adjustments
arising from
Changes in investment Fair value
provision properties and  adjustments
for financial completed  arising from
guarantee  Right-of-use properties held business
contracts assets for sale combinations Others Total
ARBFE  ARBTRE ARETLE ARBTE ARETRL ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
#2023 1A1HK  Gross deferred tax liabilties at
EEHEEE 1 January 2023
BE 54,444 10,178 114,593 93,893 300,513 573,621
FENEHABERIEL Deferred tax credited to profit or
BE (15 10) loss during the year
(note 10) (42,308) (9,164) (25,644) (27,762) (300,513) (405,391)
7202312318 Gross deferred tax liabilities at
METHEAR 31 December 2023
BE 12,136 1,014 88,949 66,131 - 168,230
20241 F1HE  Gross deferred tax liabilities
EEREEE at 1 January 2024
BE 12,136 1,014 88,949 66,131 - 168,230
FN (G A)/HBE  Deferred tax (credited)/charged to
BEMOBELERE profit or loss during the year (4,886) (936) (29,360) - — (35,182)
®2024512A31H  Gross deferred tax liabilties at
MEEHBEAE 31 December 2024
BE 7,250 78 59,589 66,131 — 133,048
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19. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax
balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
ARBTRT AREBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

KA B MR R AR

- ————————————————

Net deferred tax assets recognised

BB IEEEFE in the consolidated statement of
financial position 903,085 1,569,841
75/\ RAE BRI ERARERL Net deferred tax liabilities recognised
REBIEARFHE in the consolidated statement of
financial position (131,294) (121,225)
EARBKEXEBNELERIE Net deferred tax assets in respect of
BEFE continuing operations 771,791 1,448,616
e
MESATEERRELEHEEE - Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
following items:
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR®TRT AR®T
RMB’000 RMB’000
-
I E 18 Tax losses 4,093,479 2,874,041
AT E R E R Deductible temporary differences 2,703,704 2,267,869
6,797,183 5,141,910

FHlHIBEEET —EREREESE
BN QA 2K KERNA
o BRRBAET KA LA BRI FE
FERA LEAMEE TR IR
FHMTBEERRELEHIBEE - 25
18 & 8 & 5 5l 1R B £20254F ~ 2026
& 2027 4F ~ 20284F N 20294 (1 £
BZEFE)EM -

L

The above tax losses are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the
losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in
respect of the above items as it is not considered probable that
taxable profits will be available against which the above items
can be utilised. These tax losses will expire up to and including
years 2025, 2026, 2027, 2028 and 2029.
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19. IE 18 (@)

A AEBEEBRZEEPH A
S B BT B 2 R B 2008 1 A1 H B
EE R A F T ok A AR B B 4N TE 40
oo NEE R E B ERB5%K10% °

R2024F12 A31H £ 5t K
A R AREE AT B A SR B
N B ZB B AN TE AN FR A R BE & R FE
HWBEBNHRERECKRIE - AR F
EERE AEENESBBEF
AN IERAEENEE - Al
ZEWMBRAATNKRATEEAT R B
Rz ERBF - BRI EERE
EHEBENTRREANMKE QA -
AELERBERRMNKEE B
MERNEZERABAREOAEAR
#176,321,000 7T (2023 4F : A R #&

385,537,0007T) °

20 AT EFAEBEZHN S

BE

19.

20.

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Chinese
Mainland in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.
The applicable rate is 5% or 10% for the Group.

At 31 December 2024, no deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Company
and the Group’s subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland.
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group’s fund
will be retained in Chinese Mainland for the expansion of the
Group’s operation, so it is not probable that these subsidiaries
will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. The
aggregate amounts of temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in
Chinese Mainland for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised totalled approximately RMB176,321,000 (2023:
RMB385,537,000).

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
ARETRT AREBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

HidF EHIRE - B AFE

Other unlisted investments, at fair value

- —————————————

39,273 37,002

HR LR ARERFEREE &
DRBRAFEFABDNE R

FiE ETIRERSBRITEITHIE
MER AREANBAESRELIF
EBRASRFEMNK BEH DB
RBAFEFABGSNEREE -
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The above equity investments were classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss as they were held for trading.

The above unlisted investments were wealth management
products issued by banks. They were mandatorily classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as their
contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and
interest.
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21. EEWE 21. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT
2024 F 2023 F
2024 2023
AR®TRT AR%T
RMB’000 RMB’000
REH] At the beginning of the year 69,283,257 112,418,842
NE Additions 2,349,193 24,064,608
& W B AR (M 5E36) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) (435,662) (1,793,982
BEEEERENE T T Y E Transferred to completed properties
(FfF5E22) held for sale (note 22) (28,955,368)  (63,650,419)
BRI EEE (H3Ee6) Impairment losses recognised (note 6) (1,512,421) (2,008,965)
ERERIFFELENE T ITYWE Imparment losses transferred to
B R B & 1R (FfsE22) completed properties held for sale
(note 22) 1,125,873 253,173
R F R At the end of the year 41,854,872 69,283,257
e
REBWERDFEIC N E A The Group’s properties under development are situated on
R E i o leasehold lands in Chinese Mainland.
R2024F 12 A31H A& B B M| As at 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s properties
“E A H AR ¥38973,850,0007T under development with an aggregate carrying amount of
(20234 : A R #52,342,162,0007T) approximately RMB38,973,850,000 (2023: RMB52,342,162,000)
WETEEZMEE TER UER have been pledged to secure bank and other borrowings
REBERRIT R H A& KAV granted to the Group (note 29).

(Pt 5E29) o

EEMENREREZSHOT - The movements in provision for impairment of properties under

development are as follows:

2024 F 20234

2024 2023

AR¥FTRT AR®FT

RMB’000 RMB’000

I ——————————

R E A At the beginning of the year (3,166,383) (1,628,422)

BRI EEE (HiEe) Impairment losses recognised (note 6) (1,512,421) (2,008,965)
1 38 B0 R E S 1B Impairment losses written-off — 217,831

HEZERFEHSME T IYE Imparment losses transferred to
BB B 1E (M 3E22) completed properties held for sale

(note 22) 1,125,873 053,173

R EF R At the end of the year (3,552,931) (3,166,383)

L -
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21. EEYWE @) 21. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT
(Continued)
reEmE(EEYE])NEBELR The value of properties under development (“‘PUD”) was
EHRETHH ERAEERB assessed at the end of the reporting period. An impairment
Ho#RFEK MFERE- A exists when the carrying value exceeds its net realisable
SHRFERLIEEL2EREHRRDY value. The net realisable value is determined by the Group
BITmARREERBEZERDN with reference to the prevailing market conditions and existing
AEHEERT RBEHTIKAT N prices, less applicable variable selling expenses and anticipated
EE - costs at completion, at the end of the reporting period.
22, BFEHENERTIYE 22. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE
2024 2023 F
2024 2023
AR®TRT AR%T
RMB’000 RMB’000
FYREE Carrying amount at the beginning
of the year 26,440,141 24,696,306
wEaTEEYE(E21) Transferred from properties under
development (note 21) 28,955,368 63,650,419
EBEREDEMEMAK(MIFE6)  Transferred to cost of properties sold
(note 6) (38,304,612)  (61,036,997)
HE R E BB (M 5E6) Impairment losses written off (note 6) 1,380,417 398,148
EROEEMENRESE Impairment losses transferred from
(fF5E21) properties under development
(note 21) (1,125,873) (253,173)
6 B 8 A | (BT 5E36) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) (6,305) (263,672)
BRI EEE (1iEe6) Impairment losses recognised (note 6) (289,251) (750,890)
FAREEEAE Carrying amount at the end of the year 17,049,885 26,440,141
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22. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE
(Continued)

RIEHENE T IMENRERE The movements in provision for impairment of completed
BEINT properties held for sale are as follows:
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
ARMTRT AR®FT
RMB’000 RMB’000
I ———————————
NG At the beginning of the year (1,342,836) (736,921)
MEE R R EE R Impairment losses written off 1,380,417 398,148
HEBTERMENREBE Impairment losses transferred from
(Fft 5E21) properties under development
(note 21) (1,125,873) (253,173)
BRI EEE (H3Ee6) Impairment losses recognised (note 6) (289,251) (750,890)
RER At the end of the year (1,377,543) (1,342,836)
I ————————
FIEHENETIMENEEL®R The value of completed properties held for sale was assessed at
EHRETHTH EREEBAE the end of the reporting period. An impairment exists when the
AERFER BGFEEREBE /] & carrying value exceeds its net realisable value. The net realisable
REENSEERBITIMENEE value is determined by reference to the selling price based on

BEERNHERS TAEE -

prevailing market price less applicable selling expenses.

g S5 EWRRIE 23. TRADE RECEIVABLES
2024 F 2023 F
2024 2023
AR®TRT AR%T
RMB’000 RMB’000
-
2 5 EWHIE Trade receivables 11,893 7,857

A ———————————
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23. B 5 EWRIE @)

BB RETERKREEENE
W & o AN & B B BRAR 1 A
FRUEH FE U KT - BERAE SRR B
BEFTHRN ERN LR AER
BoRUZERAAETAESLA
B B R AR SRR AR S
B o

BHRW AR EEMRETEE -
E5RWRENEEEEZLRAYE
BE - RBREPRERERTEHN
B RBFENREDITOT

23.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Trade receivables mainly represent rentals receivable from
tenants. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by management. In view of the aforementioned and the
fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number
of diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of
credit risk.

Trade receivables are unsecured and non-interest-bearing. The
carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate to their fair
values. An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

PR~

/7

Less than 1 year

2024 & 2023
2024 2023
AR® Tt AR T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
11,893 7,857

oK 78 HA R JE W SRR BT B B A R
BHOAXETRAEFPEH -

& B B A 1L 77 & 7h B BR B 7% $
HFREAFEIR B T AR E#FAH
EEEBRREE XN AL
FrAE SR RER 2 HEHE
BB RITEREHEERE H
Z BB HIAC AR EE R RS
MR oE ERHEHER
RLREEBENFGE ARARES
REARZEHEHNAREEER
BAEKR FHi I EFHREERE -
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Receivables that were not past due relate to a large number of
diversified customers for whom there was no recent history of
default.

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing
for expected credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments”, which permits the use of the lifetime expected
loss provision for all trade receivables. To measure the
expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past
due. Based on the evaluation on the expected loss rate and
the gross carrying amount, the directors of the Company are of
the opinion that the expected credit losses in respect of these
balances are immaterial, and therefore, there has not been a
loss allowance provision.
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24, EARERHEMEKRRIE 24. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2024 % 20234
2024 2023
AR®TRT AR%T
RMB’000 RMB’000
TEAS TR I8 I E b A Uk [0 F I8 Prepaid tax and other tax recoverable 3,526,892
HME=F LM FEREEBANIES  Deposits related to third parties’ land
use rights 202,858
THHEERS Deposits for land auction 282,293
HEMize Other deposits 4,733,359
R A TE N FRIA Prepayments for construction cost 411,751
JE S B B 2 B FE 4% IR AR R SR IE Due from non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries 25,852,465
H h i Yo k8 Other receivables 3,301,263
38,310,881
B ORE Less: Impairment (140,675)
B BRRBEEMNI D Less: Portion classified as current
assets 38,170,206
SERBEB Non-current portion —
EMmEKRRIESERR . A5 88 Other receivables are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and have
1[5 7E B RERR o no fixed terms of repayment.
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24, FERRE R H b FE W FIE (@)

UK IR BEREZE T

24. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

The movements in provision for impairment of receivables are

as follows:
2024 F 2023
2024 2023
AR Tt ARBEFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000

- ——————————————

NS At the beginning of the year 140,675 94,383
BERRREEE Impairment losses recognised 146,986 46,292
W R At the end of the year 287,661 140,675

AEERBEEHEEBEENEE
o FEUR FRIB M ¥ & EATRERHE 0 7%
WEHANA R RS ER
FOFE TR RENGERT - BHE
EFEENSERNSREAHEN - U
B )RR SRR E
b R2024F12A31H BHEE
B8 B A K 287,661,000 7T (2023 F
12A31H : AR¥140,675,0007T) °
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The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model on other receivables and deposits, which are subject
to impairment assessment under IFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition. As at 31 December
2024, the ECLs were RMB287,661,000 (31 December 2023:
RMB140,675,000).
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25 RERBEEEEY  ZMREHE 25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,

EREEBER RESTRICTED CASH AND PLEDGED
DEPOSITS
2024 F 2023 F
2024 2023
AR¥ T AR®ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
I

He MIRTT& 6k Cash and bank balances 5,740,489 10,662,500
B R HIIR e Less: Restricted cash 1,860,149 3,329,850
BT Pledged deposits 329,660 93,841
RekReFEEY Cash and cash equivalents 3,550,680 7,238,809
UAREEEE Denominated in RMB 3,542,038 7,227,805
LAV JTRHAE Denominated in HK$ 5,191 10,583
LAZETTEHE Denominated in US$ 3,451 421
#RET Total 3,550,680 7,238,809

BIEFRBEBEER AEEMNET
MERBE QAR ABE TRERER
ERETCRTIEFESEEAEZ - R
2024F12H31H  ZEXRHE 2
A AR #146,712,0007T (20234 = A
R #2,350,641,0007T) °

R2024F 12 A31H AEEKRM®EE
BA#HANR1,713,437,000 7T (2023
F: AR#979,209,0007T) & T %
PR HI3R € B 3 OA TR & o

20412 A31H A R #329,660,000
JH20234F + A FR#593,841,0007T) HI SR 17
GRETFTER ERERKBENRK
BEEXNERSERTRITIEAE
TIRITAR ZIEMERR-

-,

Pursuant to relevant regulations in the PRC, certain property
development companies of the Group are required to place
certain amounts of cash in designated bank accounts for
specified use. As at 31 December 2024, such restricted cash
amounted to RMB146,712,000 (2023: RMB2,350,641,000).

As at 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s restricted cash
amounted to an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
RMB1,713,437,000 (2023: RMB979,209,000) which have been
frozen by the court.

As at 31 December 2024, bank deposits of RMB329,660,000 (2023:
RMB93,841,000) were pledged as security for purchasers’
mortgage loans, or construction of projects, or pledged to
banks as collateral for issuance of bank acceptance notes.
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25 HEeERRE gﬁ ¥ - ZBRHEIE 25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,
EREBEHFFR @R RESTRICTED CASH AND PLEDGED
DEPOSITS (Continued)
ARBTAEHABABEMES The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
N R IR ‘:F' B A 2 KON EE B IR however, under Chinese Mainland’s Foreign Exchange
TR RCAEE - EERNEBTIER Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
E) A& l /Eiﬁiﬂﬁ’é KT IN and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
EEBZRITBEARBLB R HA permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
B authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
OB RBE BRI F RN EIZ Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
FEYF R BRELA B o fﬂ TSR daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited
MPEENCEBEETENR with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.
T-BHER EE TEEWD E’J BR T (B The carrying amounts of the cash and cash equivalents
HAYERSE approximated to their fair values.
E’\2024¢12 A31HE  XRHIH & As at 31 December 2024, the internal credit rating of restricted
EEFRFERUARRERREEEY cash, pledged deposits and cash and cash equivalents were
WA EETRESR AR : o regarded as the grade of performing. The Group has assessed
K& E E AEEEERERES B that the credit risk of the restricted cash, pledged deposits and
EHRGERULRBEARSZEMD cash and cash equivalents has not increased significantly since
EERK B 75 R AR :II | initial recognition and measured the impairment based on the
2 EERI2EREREESE 12-month expected credit losses, and has assessed that the
FFTERE BEFHSHESEE expected credit losses are immaterial.
BEYTEKX -

2. EZENRERESERSE 26. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES
RMEHRENBZEAHNEZE An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the end
NRIBE R ENSEE E’] ﬁ%”@%ﬁﬁ W of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

2024 F 2023 F
2024 2023
AR®TRT AR%T
RMB’000 RMB’000
-
DR —F Less than 1 year 5,791,773 9,910,634
—FE Over 1 year 17,294,168 15,703,553
23,085,941 25,614,187
.
# Trade and bills payables are unsecured, interest-free and are

BHRMNRBNMENZRESER
&’ﬁ’a,%’ Cl

T MANRBERLEZHAR
Bl1¥205,414,00075(2023$ /\ JE
193,166,000 7T ) %0 Hi 7 {5 ©

—z‘}x%EAIE}’E Eg

RBERRE SRS IE&JEHT
EOAFEEEBRKREERS

[REAZH B AR ASEE -
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normally settled based on the progress of construction. As at 31
December 2024, commercial acceptance bills of approximately
RMB205,414,000 (2023: RMB193,166,000) issued by the
Company'’s subsidiaries were overdue and unpaid.

The fair values of trade and bills payables as at the end of the
reporting period approximated to their corresponding carrying
amounts due to their relatively short maturity terms.
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27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
ARBTR AREBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

L

FEAT MY B A ) SRR IR AR R R

Due to non-controlling shareholders

of subsidiaries 19,249,286 16,973,368
BEZHWELHIAEHBEE IR Advances from third parties related

to land auction 156,244 55,489
BENBEBELRS Retention deposits related to

construction 1,380,630 1,398,197
MEHERBILZS Deposits related to sales of

properties 471,670 415,361
BEH &M mE Value added tax and surcharges 1,057,447 1,318,964
JEN T & KA Payroll and welfare payable 70,188 82,881
JE 1~ A1) B Interest payable 125,585 1,372,078
H Others 1,874,904 1,774,175
Bt Total 24,385,954 23,390,513

7T

H fth & 5K IR N FE AN B B 2 R FF 4
BBRRFRAEASEERRRERE
B MNERE P REMENKEN
AFEEAEEREREMRS

———————————

Other payables and amounts due to non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries are unsecured and repayable on
demand. The fair values of other payables at the end of each
of the reporting periods approximated to their corresponding
carrying amounts.

28. EHNEE 28. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
AEECHERBUATEHKAEBN G The Group recognised the following revenue-related contract
ON=K liabilities:

2024 F 20234

2024 2023

ARET T AR T T

RMB’000 RMB’000

AHEaE Contract liabilities 29,546,369 65,018,077

AEBEREBEYMEHEES QMG
ERHERATPKR - AETHE
REAGHOWBEZAWE  HEXTR
REMEHRBERBEE -

R2023F1A1H A EEBEAAR
#113,837,210,0007T °

The Group receives payments from customers based on billing
schedules as established in the property sales contracts.
Payments are usually received in advance of the performance
under the contracts which are mainly from property
development and sales.

As at 1 January 2023, contract liabilities amounted to
RMB113,837,210,000.
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20, FFERITRHEMER 29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS
2024%12A31H 2023%F 12 A31H
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
BB F = (%) FE AR%®TR BEAER%) A8 ARBFR
Effective interest
Effective rate
interest rate (%) Maturity RMB’000 (%) Maturity RMB’000
BN & Current
RITEK Bank loans — 4.55-7.50 RER/ 678,397
— B secured 2024 %
On demand/
2024
HE R Other loans — 9.60-14.00 BEk/ 849,991
— BEA secured 2024 4
On demand/
2024
HiE R Other loans — 4.40-16.00 BENR/ 3,281,994
— mIKH unsecured 20244
On demand/
2024
REFRITEZME  Curent portion of 2.80-14.50 2024 4,026,917
o long term bank 2024
— BEA loans — secured
REEMEKMED  Current portion of 2.80-14.50 20244 2,187,034
HE long term other 2024
- HEH loans — secured
REFHMEZXME]  Current portion 10.00-12.50 2024 461,916
o of long term 2024
—E IR other loans —
unsecured
st — B0 Hp Total - current 11,486,249
FENHR Non-current
RITER Bank loans —
- FER secured 4.95-850  2025-2026 1,652,199
HiE R Other loans —
- BER secured 2.80-14.50  2025-2026 954,100
HipE R Other loans —
— KR unsecured 2.80-14.50  2025-2026 509,054
@Er—3EENER Total — non-current 3,115,353
FEey Total

14,601,602
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29. FHERITRHEMME R @ 29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

BORROWINGS (Continued)

2024 20234
2024 2023
ARBET R ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
P = Analysed into:
JEEBIRITER Bank loans repayable:
—FRNHFZEK Within one year or on demand 3,741,639 4,705,314
$_4F In the second year 1,581,051 802,309
EFE=FEEFLF In the third to fifth years, inclusive
(BIEEEREME) 189,900 849,890
IINEF Subtotal 5,512,590 6,357,513
JEEEEMER - Other borrowings repayable:
—FARIZENK Within one year or on demand 3,986,013 6,780,935
EF In the second year 1,172,219 1,154,604
E-FEEFLF In the third to fifth years, inclusive
(BREEEME) 491,430 308,550
INEF Subtotal 5,649,662 8,244,089
BEt Total 11,162,252 14,601,602

L

R2024F12 A31 8 5T BR1TT R EMfg
RS A A RE2,729,094,00070(2023
#F : A R#4,030,455,0007T) AR TEE
EXAHESE BRIy RBFTEET
N EAb 18 3 A R #5602,766,000 712023
F: AR#533,475,00070) K BRI E

S i
REE-

As at 31 December 2024, an aggregate amount of principal of
RMB2,729,094,000 (2023: RMB4,030,455,000) for interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings had not been repaid
according to their scheduled repayment dates, triggering
certain long term interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
amounted to RMB602,766,000 (2023: RMB533,475,000)
becoming repayable on demand.

MR2024%F12 A31 H 18 - 72024 F 12
AS1B @M BRITREMER
K44 st AR #66,600,0007T (2023
F: AR¥89,560,0007T) C 18 & sk
IE Y o

Subsequent to 31 December 2024, an aggregate amount
of principal of RMB66,600,000 (2023: RMB89,560,000) for
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, which were
overdue as at 31 December 2024, were repaid or extended.
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20, ;TEHR TR EMER @

AEBEETRTILEMBERBBEE
MTHNEEEER EXHREHRX
MAREENT

29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continued)

Certain of the Group’s bank and other borrowings are secured
by the pledges of the following assets with carrying values at
the end of the reporting period as follows:

2024 F 2023 4F

2024 2023

e AR®FTR AREFTT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

ERME

Properties under development

-

21 38,973,850 52,342,162

AARERECHEEHG ARG
T A 5 2 8 2% F {6 52 K R AL (B 4
% rERAARSERNALE
HBYE=H e BEBRERTH
$BFIRAEH -

202412 A31 B A AR &) JE1E A%
BREEROETRITREME R &
% B A B #1,041,679,000 7t (2023
F: AR¥2,262,381,0007T) °

e

The management of the Company has assessed that the
fair values of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the fact
that such borrowings were made between the Group and
independent third party financial institutions based on prevailing
market interest rates.

Certain of the bank and other borrowings of up to
RMB1,041,679,000 were guaranteed by the Company’s non-
controlling shareholders as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB2,262,381,000).

30. BERESNERE 30. PROVISION FOR FINANCIAL GUARANTEE
CONTRACTS
2024 5 20234
2024 2023
ARMTRT AR®FTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
I ——————————
4] At the beginning of the year 409,596 236,839
HHEEEES Changes in expected credit losses 19,545 169,230
NE Additions 700 3,527
REFR At the end of the year 429,841 409,596
.
MBERGHNERAEEEE R The financial guarantee contracts represent guarantees given
REtE R NREBRETRITRAEMS to banks and other financial institutions in connection with

BEEOER EFBEHNMES -
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borrowings made to the Group’s joint ventures and associates,
details of which are set out in note 37.
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30. PROVISION FOR FINANCIAL GUARANTEE

31.

CONTRACTS (Continued)

The Group does not provide financial guarantees except for
limited circumstances. All guarantees are approved by the
directors of the Group.

The financial guarantee contracts are measured at the higher of
the ECL allowance and the amount initially recognised less the
cumulative amount of income recognised. The ECL allowance
is measured by estimating the cash shortfalls, which are based
on the expected payments to reimburse the holders (i.e., the
banks) for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the
Group expects to receive from the debtor (i.e., the joint ventures
and associates). During the year ended 31 December 2024, an
ECL allowance of RMB429,841,000 was provided as a result of
guarantees provided to the joint ventures and associates (2023:
RMB409,596,000).

SENIOR NOTES AND HOST DEBT OF
CONVERTIBLE BONDS

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
A AR¥ETR IHE ARBTT
Maturity ~ RMB’000 Maturity ~ RMB’000
-
20277 A B HH5.00% @B L EHE Senior notes due Jul 2027-5.00% 2027/71 8,659,353 - -
72027 F 7 A 3| 83 #93.00% A 42 % Host debt of convertible bond due 2027/711 429,137 — -
BEHEER Jul 2027-3.00%
1202245 A | B8 5% B L R iE Senior notes due May 2022-8.5% REXR - BEk 114,407
On demand On demand
202267 A 5| HK9.50% B L EHE  Senior notes due Jul 2022-9.50% REXR - BREX 89,058
On demand On demand
R 2023F 4 A 5| HM12.00%E £ 21 Senior notes due Apr 2023-12.00% REXR - BRER 1,416,540
On demand On demand
20234 B HM8.75% B L EHE  Senior notes due Apr 2023-8.75% REXR - BZsk 1,588,115
On demand On demand
2023 F 12 A E B £99.75% B %5 24 Senior notes due Dec 2023-9.75% REXR - BZsk 3,356,126
On demand On demand
Bt Total 9,088,490 6,564,246
" ENERE Less: Current portion (881,735) (6,564,246)
eI Non-current portion 8,206,755 -
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1. EEEBERUBRKRESRE
B (&)

31. SENIOR NOTES AND HOST DEBT OF

CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

2024 F
2024
AR® TR
RMB’000

AEEEEENBERER

The Group’s senior notes and host

ARBRESFEEBOT debt of convertible bonds were

repayable as follows:

AR —FANNILEREE Repayable within one year or on
demand

HERE_FERER Repayable in the second year

ENE=ZFEE Repayable in the third year

AR B 5 Convertible bonds

RETHHNBERNRD Liability component at date of issue

W B ) A1) B Interest charged

i Conversion

HMEE Exchange

MN2024F 12 A3ITAM A B D

Liability component at
31 December 2024

RBEITEHNITER D
FARFEEE
N3

Derivative component at date of issue
Fair value loss for the year
Exchange

R2024F12 A1 BT EH o

Derivative component at
31 December 2024

20234
2023
AREF T
RMB’000

6,564,246

6,564,246
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1. EEEBERUBRKRESRE

B % @)

72022 £ 5 B (8.5%) - 2022 F 7 A
(9.5%) - 2023F 4 A (12.0%) * 2023 F
4 F (8.75%) % 2023 12 A (9.75%) %!
HNEEZEB(REEEEED

M2023F 12 A31H » &N A A & ¢
2022F5 H B Hi K8.5% 18 %k E &
A& K EF| B 4%816,837,000% 7T -
BRREHNSMH-

202312 A31H » &NAQ A & &E
£12022F 7 A B B 199.5% 18 5t E &
Ae RHF B 4%13,171,000% 7T -
BRREHNSMH-

R2023F12 A31H » R A GF KREEX
2023F 4 A 5| B M12.0% 18 & =
B AR & M E R B 482%8224,000,0003%
T BRKENEMH -

202312 A31H » "R A KREEX
72023 4 A %) Bl K98.75% & £ &
BAR & & EF| B 42 %8242,046,0003%
T BRENEMF -

31.

M5B
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SENIOR NOTES AND HOST DEBT OF
CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

Senior notes due May 2022 (8.5%), July 2022 (9.5%), April
2023 (12.0%), April 2023 (8.75%) and December 2023 (9.75%)
(“Existing Senior Notes”)

As at 31 December 2023, the Company did not pay the
principal of and interest on the 8.5% senior notes due May
2022 amounting to an aggregate of US$16,837,000, which
constituted an event of default.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company did not pay the
principal of and interest on the 9.5% senior notes due July
2022 amounting to an aggregate of US$13,171,000, which
constituted an event of default.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company did not pay the
principal of and interest on the 12.0% senior notes due April
2023 amounting to an aggregate of US$224,000,000, which
constituted an event of default.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company did not pay the
principal of and interest on the 8.75% senior notes due April
2023 amounting to an aggregate of US$242,046,000, which
constituted an event of default.
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31.

196

EXZEBRUEARESE
B @)

72022 £ 5 B (8.5%) - 2022 F 7 A
(9.5%) * 2023 4 A (12.0%) * 2023 F
4 A (8.75%) % 2023 F 12 A (9.75%) E|
HNEEAEBR(HEBEAER] (&)

202312 A31H » &AQ A& &
J20283F 12 5 2| B ;) Q.75% B %&£ &
B A& M EF| B 42%58548,539,000%
T EBRENSEMH -

HREEEEMNREFEEDEEED
NEBETTERKR - A R2024F &
2023F 12 A31H  AEBR R L
WEEEEITHER -

R2023%F7 A16H » AR A gt EFE I
BEEEMT —BEird BEELE
BRETHMBINMER - R2024F
3A20H - BEBAFTRMEA K
o FrEl e Z B HEREAR
A HE - BI2024F3H820H A
BEEBRWITH HASEKEH
RFT B ERI R - FTal AR (&
FRNHEBAEBDIRBEGRET
WER - FEBLEEZBERBE —H#E
EEE HEHERESES AT HEEL2024
F1A1BAL2EAEHE HSE
RATETEERAERERERTS
M8l EHREEARSTENIG
MEEZE2023F 12 A31 A% E 5t
EEBWAT A B RARMNFBRE
EHEH2024F1 A1 B st Em
AMBEESTNSESNEIINFEL
ZEESE2eE HERB TR
HFTEBEEHERG6.0% °

&1 8 & #E A AT 38 12 W ER (E 0] B 51 /Y
HELZEBERTIBRRESEAE
ZENFTERE BAARBET
MBI BRBREFNASBRETSHE
B140AEEETT °

31. SENIOR NOTES AND HOST DEBT OF

CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

Senior notes due May 2022 (8.5%), July 2022 (9.5%), April
2023 (12.0%), April 2023 (8.75%) and December 2023 (9.75%)
(“Existing Senior Notes”) (continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the Company did not pay
the principal of and interest on the 9.75% senior notes
due December 2023 amounting to an aggregate of
US$548,539,000, which constituted an event of default.

The fair values of the early redemption options of the senior
notes were not significant and therefore were not recognised by
the Group on inception as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

On 16 July 2023, the Company announced a scheme for its
offshore debts including senior notes and certain other offshore
debts. The scheme came into effect on 20 March 2024 with
all conditions satisfied under the holistic solution. The scheme
offered that on the restructuring effective date, which is 20
March 2024, Existing Senior Notes were cancelled and all
guarantees in connection with the scheme debts were released.
New convertible bonds and new senior notes were issued
and became effective in accordance with their terms. The new
senior notes shall comprise one tranche of senior notes with
an aggregate maximum original principal amount calculated to
the reference date of 1 January 2024, which is equal to 99%
of the outstanding principal amount of the scheme debts held
by all scheme creditors as of the record time, plus all accrued
and unpaid interest on such scheme debts up to 31 December
2023, minus the principal amount of the new convertible bonds
calculated by reference to the reference date of 1 January
2024, plus the additional new senior notes amount, which is
equivalent to 6.0% of the new senior notes to be issued.

The scheme creditors may elect any proportion of the new
senior notes and the new convertible bonds to be received as
their respective scheme consideration, but the total principal
amount of the new convertible bonds to be issued by the
Company cannot exceed US$140 million.
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1. EEEBERUBRESE 31. SENIOR NOTES AND HOST DEBT OF
&% (@) CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)
#2027 F7 A 2 H1 19 (5.00%) 8 %&£ & Senior notes due July 2027 (5.00%) (“New Senior Notes”)
(THEEEED
R2024F3 A20H » AR A E 1T On 20 March 2024, the Company issued senior notes
#2027 F7 A1 8 B HHE 5‘&??% due on 1 July 2027 with an aggregate principal amount of
K& 48 % 51,279,450,986% T 0 F US$1,279,450,986, with interest rate of 5% per annum which
A &= 7%5% H2024F1 818 &12 is accrued from the end of 12 months after 1 January 2024 and
&l A iﬂﬁt?r B Wil 2025F7 will be payable in arrears on 1 July 2025, 1 January 2026, 1 July
H1H 202661 H1H -20265%7H 2026, 1 January 2027, and 1 July 2027. The interest for the first
1H 2027@1 ﬁ 1H Kk2027F7 A1 year was PIK. The PIK Interest was added to the outstanding
=] ’ﬁﬁﬁﬁ cE—FFECUEY principal amount of the senior notes. The New Senior Notes
X Ao WJ = H MECSFHABER have a maturity date falling 3.5 years from 1 January 2024 with
Tgﬂi@“izﬁ cHTERXEE M mandatory redemption on specified dates no earlier than 1
HHAAR 024¢1 H1B®EEF35F January 2025 subject to certain condition.
IZE QTEEA2025¢1 R1B®EE
HEfRGIER - EATTEE TR -
72027 F7 A 2 1 #93.00% 1] # i% & 3 Convertible Bond due July 2027-3.00%
R2024F3A20H KR A B ETRH On 20 March 2024, the Company issued Convertible Bond
2027 F7TA1BH BB ES due within 1 July 2027 with an aggregate principal amount of
7N 4 #8 %8 /5139,999,9203 7T+ & F US$139,999,920, with interest rate of 3% per annum which
K E3% - B2024F1 A1 AR E - is accrued from 1 January 2024 and will be payable in arrears
I #5 722025F7 A1H ~ 2026 4F 1 ﬂ on 1 July 2025, 1 January 2026, 1 July 2026, 1 January 2027,

H - 2026%7AH1H8 - 2027$1 and 1 July 2027. The interest for the first year will be PIK. All the
§2027F 718 D HA 3K - Convertible Bonds PIK Interest will be added to the outstanding
FMEHNEDZ 1‘JL Ffr & 7] Tﬁl % & principal amount of the Convertible Bonds.

—FR]]]

%,\%Sﬂ‘fﬂ SET AR R ES

REBERESHE-

RaBEREEFFHRNETMAER & At any time during the tenor of the Convertible Bonds, the
NABREEZRAMES NEMEFTER Company has the right to redeem the Convertible Bonds in
HIREH B MERE 23k 3 o A Ak whole or in part at par plus any accrued and unpaid cash
&5 o interest.

Al 2 j% f& 25 Al 1A 2024F 3 A20H 1% The Convertible Bonds may be converted to the Company’s
10 5 AZ R EAT10E R 5 B E shares from 10 trading days after 20 March 2024 to 10 trading
BMBARARD VIXERENRSE days prior to maturity at an initial conversion price equal to 1.3
RARE R 30ME 2 5 B KR £ times the volume-weighted average price of the Company’s
BEHEMIIF BEZERTEE shares for 30 trading days, but the price shall not be lower than
RER12BTHERER20EBT - HK$1.2 per share or higher than HK$2.0 per share. The initial
TrERELRESRKRMI2BIL([F conversion price is HK$1.2 per share (the “Initial Conversion
rEBmE]) WEREMEBEEEH Price”). The conversion price of the Convertible Bonds (the
(T BfE%E) 5 &k AR 7 8930 F “CB Conversion Price”) is subject to a reset mechanism at the
REARREMEFHIE(FEHET end of 6 months, 18 months and 24 months (each, a “Reset
BHERVIAERE ATRKES Date”) after 1 January 2024, if the 30-trading-day volume-
EnE((ARREFERE] EX weighted average price per share at immediately preceding (and
20241 A1H 26 A 181 A & excluding) the relevant Reset Date (the “Average Market Price”)
4EA(ZEEAIEEBH]) &R is less than the Initial Conversion Price, the CB Conversion Price
XEERGHRAR TRRESFESR shall be adjusted to the higher of (i) the Average Market Price
BREARZA()FHTE R ERKRHG and (i) HK$0.8 per share.

08B TTHHESE -

197



FRIZEREEER AT 2024 F F3R

R 5 R | b o

Notes to Financial Statements
2024412 A 31 H 31 December 2024

1. EEEBERUBRKRESRE
&7 (@)

R2027 57 A F H 193.00% T & B

& 3% ()

REBSRNE  IREREFAE
BAEIXTHIZIEXIT A 7.8 TH

Bl EXME BB -

RIERBESTEL BIEHEA
WEBSBARER - Bt BRI

BEFE 2R LR -

UTHemaBERBNaBEGER/E
WH B (BI2024F3 208 ) B9 A

BRER

1) FEEEHB121958 8 X
NFEEHEZEAE1101.78 &

XL

2 ABEREF140EEEZT — &
BEHIRTETSHNAFESD
Bl A1167TEBEZ T R148 8

e

B AEERLILEEET — ALE
ERAFEABAEETT

H E2024F 128318 HF Al i&
BEHEFEACITESHFM S AEE
TS BNESERAT726,781,820
BAABI LB - At - AEBEMAR
AREMFEEEMARE66E ST

MAR®OB22BETT °

MR2024F12 A31H » KA AR AF
EEHFENRBRESFHKRTHITE
oo Bt KEBRE E2024F
12A31B EFEMIEMBKARK
HIPERTESRM I AN FEE

AR¥E6BET -

MABRBRESMAELREBEURE

THEBRRMEDEER -
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31. SENIOR NOTES AND HOST DEBT OF

CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

Convertible Bond due July 2027-3.00% (Continued)

On any conversion into shares, US$1 in principal amount of the
Convertible Bonds shall be translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the fixed rate of US$1 = HK$7.8.

The offshore debt restructuring was regarded as a substantial
modification under the relevant accounting standard. As a
result, the existing offshore debts were fully de-recognised.

The following new financial liabilities were recognised at their fair
values at the effective date of the offshore debt restructuring (i.e.,
20 March 2024):

(1)  US$1,279.5 million new senior notes — aggregated fair
values amounting to US$1,101.7 million;

(2)  US$140 million convertible bonds — fair values of debt
component and derivative component amounting to
US$116.7 million and US$1.4 million, respectively;

(8) US$42.5 million private loan — fair value of private loan
amounting to US$36.6 million.

Up to 31 December 2024, certain convertible bonds have
exercised the options attached to the bonds to convert the
respective bonds into 726,781,820 ordinary shares of the
Company. As a result, the share capital and other reserves of
the Group increased by RMB6.66 million and RMB98.22 million.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company remeasured the
remaining derivative components of the convertible bond at
their fair values. As a result, the Group recognised changes in
fair value on derivative financial instruments of RMB5.6 million in “other
income and gains” for the year ended 31 December 2024.

New convertible bonds and new senior notes were secured by
the equity interests in certain subsidiaries.
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32. A& 32. SHARE CAPITAL
B 4 Shares
B EE &8
Number of
Shares Amount
BT
HK$
JETE Authorised:
EREEC.OIFE LT B Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
R2023%F 1 A1H ~ 2023F 12 A At 1 January 2023, 31 December
318 - 2024F1 818 & 2023, 1 January 2024 and
2024412 A31H 31 December 2024 20,000,000,000 200,000,000
2024 F 20234
12H31H 12 A31H
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
BT BT
HK$ HKS$
BEEITRAC Issued and fully paid:
4,308,573,320 f% 4,308,573,320
(20234 : 3,581,791,500 %) (2023: 3,581,791,500) ordinary
M E0.0175 7T (20234 : shares of HK$0.01 each
B EEOC.01E L) ;I @Ak (2023: HK$0.01 each) 43,085,733 35,817,915
HERARKT T Equivalent to RMB’000 38,110 31,450
2817
[ gvig = fig A
Number of
Shares in
issue Share Capital
AR®ET T
RMB’000
R2022F 2023412 A31 H At 31 December 2022 and 2023 3,581,791,500 31,450
RERATMRESEZEITRG Shares issued upon the conversion
of convertible bonds 726,781,820 6,660
R20244F12 A31H At 31 December 2024 4,308,573,320 38,110
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33. BRETERKRG BB S

AAal&kB—EHBEREE (&
g) - ErEARETLHERMAKS
RARA)EREE M= IR E R
E2HEEBADNALBRENEE
FEERE N BRAARDGE RERK
MEBE  ZTEFEARAE ST
B BB RPpEFLEELL T
HEME - mER BT - &at 8
R2019F 7 A16H £ - I B K& 3k
KETHENBE  SRlZiTEg

RZBEFTFA—BEBR -

BEZTEEMEEREO R
FERESEONBRDEERZ A
353,000,000 % 1 B pE 2 Bk 8 & %
& F2019F 7 A M8 A B TR MG
#8.19% ° ;ZsT 8| H TR R 1TE

B R5.838TT °

200

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE

INCENTIVE SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing selected participants with the
opportunity to acquire propriety interests in the Company and
to encourage selected participants to work towards enhancing
the value of the Company and its shares for the benefit of
the Company and its shareholders as a whole. The Scheme
provides the Company with a flexible means of retaining,
incentivising, rewarding, remunerating, compensating and/or
providing benefits to selected participants. The Scheme became
effective on 16 July 2019 and, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is 353,000,000
shares, representing 8.19% shares in issue immediately upon
completion of the Global Offering in July and August 2019.
The exercise price of the share options under the Scheme is
HK$5.83.
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33. BRESE R BB E 33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE
(%) INCENTIVE SCHEME (Continued)

BRESEE R : The share option vesting schedules are:

HER 580
ESHIL
Maximum percentage
of underlying shares

AeeERBE s EEBERENSGB Vesting date in respect of the option may be

HH vested
20217 A 78 7 July 2021 10%
20227 A7H 7 July 2022 20%
20237 A7H 7 July 2023 20%
2024F7 A7H 7 July 2024 20%
202597 A7H 7 July 2025 30%
FAN - ZHEIET TSR E S The following share options were outstanding under the
RITHE - Scheme during the year:
2024 F
2024
hn#E 15
TEE BREHA
Weighted average Number of options
exercise price
BRET Skl
HKS$ per share ’000
»1A1H At 1 January 5.83 15,200
FARH Granted during the year - -
FRERM Lapsed during the year — -
®12HA31H At 31 December 5.83 15,200
2023 F
2023
g ¥
1T fEIREER
Weighted average  Number of options
exercise price
BRET T
HK$ per share ’000
»1A18 At 1 January 5.83 24,500
FAEE Granted during the year — —
FARKK Lapsed during the year — (9,300)
12 4318 At 31 December 5.83 15,200
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3. BRESEARKRODAHBTE 33
(#0)

RBEHR HARTEBREZT
EERTEHNT

BREHE
Number of options

T4
’000

SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE
INCENTIVE SCHEME (Continued)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

TEE T
Exercise price Exercise period
BRET
HK$ per share

ERHOUERLEENEREATF
BT 2020F7 A7HEA —ERE
MG E - W E E B IR AR A K
REEE TRENNMAEXNE
ABE -

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted was
estimated as at 7 July 2020 using a binomial model taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

A% B K 5 (%) Dividend yield (%) 9.05
8 B R 1@ (%) Expected volatility (%) 37.37
45 2 3 ) 2 (%) Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.43

mEFEHRE (RET) Weighted average share price (HK$ per share) 5.83
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(&)

BRERAFHDERTEREE
ABRBRATGEHELENITERA - 18
HI R 8 S BR B 3R B R AR M R R B9 8
g TRLOHKKRERER -

AEATERBYES KR LOE
I R A fR] L AR o

RBERER ARAIREZE %
15,200,000 17 14 A& 1715 B I 7 - 1B
BARABIEAMEARARE K176
BRREERHTEBERAR A
77 %A SM15,200,000 A% & i A% K %7 15
fi% 7 A B 815,200,000 7T (A 0 Bk 2%
TER)-

NZEUHRRESAEER  AD
B 1R ¥ % 5+ £l # & 15,200,00015 14
RITEERE HAQRARZAE
BITIRD £90.4% °

B 43 3 B =T &

KAGBEZRAE—BRG BB 8 ([
B a8 ) - FZEH 8RR 2021 12
ABTHEAAARBRERNEBRER
e BRIESITHBEHEE A
BB E R E 8 B R B # A0
FHREBAEIREW - AstElmAE
EME: ((RAAEERREERS
BERE ((FTETEFELHN
EREAEESRERE - ABE K
EAAEENBELERERER
B RiilBAEERNE—FERER
SITTEBH AT o
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE

INCENTIVE SCHEME (Continued)

The expected life of the options is based on the benchmark
of the industry and is not necessarily indicative of the exercise
patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the
assumptions management made and is indicative of future
trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into
the measurement of fair value.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
15,200,000 share options outstanding under the Scheme. The
exercise in full of the outstanding share options would, under
the present capital structure of the Company, result in the
issue of 15,200,000 additional ordinary shares of the Company
and additional share capital of RMB15,200,000 (before issue
expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had 15,200,000 share options outstanding under
the Scheme, which represented approximately 0.4% of the
Company’s shares in issue as at that date.

Share Incentive Scheme

The Company operates a share incentive scheme (the “Share
Incentive Scheme”) which was adopted by an ordinary
resolution of the shareholders of the Company on 31 December
2021. Unless otherwise cancelled or amended, the Share
Incentive Scheme will remain valid and effective for 10 years
from the date of adoption. The specific objectives of the
scheme are () to promote the long-term sustained growth
in the shareholder value of the Group; (i) to recognise the
contributions by certain outstanding employees and to provide
them with incentives in order to retain them for the continual
operation and development of the Group; and (i) to attract
outstanding talents in the industry for further development of the
Group.
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33.

34.

204

BRESTERKRG B
(&)

IR 43 B B =t & (4

KRB ITEEMIZERBR RS 8 T
F((HBEEDEBERREREE
RAa s ABETAEET
XHEAN MBEaBEBRERAFER
#7589,121,000 % I 17 + 1h B B 1Th%
19 48 B #12.07% ° B& 10 B B 5T &)
BUZTHEANEE BUEXEEXNA
ERET2HEERERND EER
1’\%’%7%& Fr iz it 2 B 19 #8 12 A<

NAIMEHNEBRE TREBE RGN
FrEEAMERNSEBREHER -
EEBROMSEEEZE TR H

% HAHEXZER &M EHE
SEENEREATOHIN -

R2024F 12 A31H - % 10 % By =t
EEETHEANARAIRNDEE B
89,121,090 %  #f £ f% 170 1R 15 I 15 5%
Bhat &I -

it

HEZ2024F12A31HIEFE K&

ENRHESEREZH2IINEA
REEBHEK -
(@) mBi?iEE

BHaERe BTG EESR
FT R R Bz ZE%E -

B OB

AEENAHHERBIEEATK
AIAREREET AR ER
ERARNEHTRARAKNE
BERBE TS THE QAR
SRAEANEE -

(b)

33.

34.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE
INCENTIVE SCHEME (Continued)

Share Incentive Scheme (Continued)

Mr. Yang Jian (“Mr. Yang”), the executive director and
controlling shareholder of the Company, has transferred
the entire interest in Liangyi International Company Limited,
which in turn directly holds 89,121,090 shares, representing
approximately 2.07% of the total number of issued shares
by way of gift to the trustee. The Share Incentive Scheme is
operated by an independent trustee which holds the shares
in trust for the selected participants, until the shares become
vested. The shares granted will be vested in the proportions and
on the dates as set out in the relevant letters of grant issued by
the Company. Vested shares will be transferred to the selected
participants at no cost save that transaction fees and expenses
will be payable by the selected participants as transferees.

As at 31 December 2024, the number of the Company’s
shares held under the Share Incentive Scheme account was
89,121,090. None of the shares has been awarded under the
Share Incentive Scheme.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the year ended 31 December 2024 are presented in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(@)

Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between
the par value of the shares issued and the consideration
received.

(b)

Merger reserve

The merger reserve of the Group represents the issued
capital of the then holding company of the companies now
comprising the Group and the capital contributions from
the equity holders of certain subsidiaries now comprising
the Group before the completion of the reorganisation.
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(c)

(d)

(e)

EEBEREE

RIBFRERRDERRHRBEKL
MM B ARMAKEREAA
A& B AR B R F BN
10% (1R 1% 1 B 2~ 38 & 51 % A
BE)BAEZERSRFHE BEE
i 145 45 R 2 B B G B AN50%
Bl ZHBERBDER R AE
EABERARAEE TR
MRIR - ATE B ERRFEA AR
HEE R E R R
BEERENEHRITINAE
[ 5 & RN E925% © i 115
FYEE RS B 89 LASMEY E A A
& NTBERREREDIK

EXREE

EARFEEE R BBERAERR
U 8 RO IF 12 B R 2 (RO AR Y
BRI FIBM IR RES) M
ZH B EMSERELEMN G
SHEERER(ELEXE
% ) #E B B T A 3E R AR AR
HEWB QRIS B E
BM-BARBONESFBIN
RAEEDEHR -

BE 7R B 1
EARSFEEERRAESREE
BUBRRELNAAINEZE
B o b AR R MY E2.3 T E A
BETRREIE -

(c)
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(e)
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34. RESERVES (Continued)

Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the
articles of association of the subsidiaries established in the
PRC, the Group is required to appropriate 10% of its net
profits after tax, as determined under PRC GAAP, to the
statutory surplus reserve until the reserve balance reaches
50% of its registered capital. Subject to certain restrictions
set out in the relevant PRC regulations and in the articles
of association of the Group, the statutory surplus reserve
may be used either to offset losses, or to be converted to
increase share capital provided that the balance after such
conversion is not less than 25% of the registered capital of
the Group. The reserve cannot be used for purposes other
than those for which it is created and is not distributable
as cash dividends.

Capital reserve

Capital reserve mainly represents the difference between
the cost of acquisition and the non-controlling interests
acquired in the case of acquisition of additional non-
controlling interests of subsidiaries, or the difference
between the proceeds from disposal and the non-
controlling interests disposed of in the case of disposal
of partial equity interests in subsidiaries to non-controlling
shareholders without loss of control. Details of the
movements in the capital reserve are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Exchange fluctuation reserve

The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of group entities. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in
note 2.3.
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35. FERTREBRME

(@ FEHFREXS

RAFEE  NEBGREFT R
REMNHELHBSERESE
ENHEBGHFREARAED
B A A R #1,236,000 7T (2023
F 0 AR ¥3,304,0007T) & A
R 1,236,000 7T (20234 : A
R #3,304,0007T) °

RAFE XRARBETKE
MEHATE TAREED
FEEE BEARNREY
BEEBEASBLBARE
6,564,246,0007C & & B A R
#834,205,000t & H 41 &
HEIINEBEASRBEBAREK
1,781,299,0007T & | 8. A R #&
479,258,000 C E Wit i o AR
#9,548,984,000 7T K ¥1 7] # f%
BHELTEBLERCERTAE
A R #284,326,000 7T ) 75 T H
tIRINMERS B L -

RBEFE ARFH—FF
VSE=ZADRKIIEZEN B
NE ERBIYE=ZARARD
AFAE L EER - RE =2024
FI2AB1IHILEFE ZEWEB
NEEREER A RE B
VYE=ZAFHURIRZEEEN
"E HERGEEEAARE
3,185,000,000 7T (20234 : AR
#1,225,000,0007T) °

RAFE  AEECEBEK
B R IEERBRERBEAR
#1,009,128,000 7T (20234 : A
R #5425 644,0007T ) # & A 3F
PR R E R B AR S e
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of RMB1,236,000
(2023: RMBS3,304,000) and RMB1,236,000 (2023:
RMB3,304,000), respectively, in respect of lease
arrangements for buildings and offices.

During the year, the Company has completed debt
restructuring scheme, all outstanding scheme debts
including the Company’s default senior notes with an
aggregate amount of principal of RMB6,564,246,000
and interest of RMB834,295,000 and other default
offshore debts with an aggregate amount of principal of
RMB1,781,299,000 and interest of RMB479,258,000
were cancelled. New convertible bonds and new senior
notes of RMB9,548,984,000 were issued, and certain
other offshore debts of RMB284,326,000 were extended.

In previous years, the Company and an independent
third party established non-wholly-owned subsidiaries
respectively, in which the independent third party and
the Company held minority equity interests. During
the year ended 31 December 2024, these subsidiary
companies were deregistered, and both the Company
and the independent third party exited investments
in these entities, with mutual exemption of funds of
RMB3,185,000,000 (2023: RMB1,225,000,000).

During the year, the Group had settled the dividends
declared to non-controlling interests through the
amounts due from non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries for an amount of RMB1,009,128,000 (2023:
RMB425,644,000).
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

MEIBELENEGEEH (b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
BEEBR
FRETR P BB TRRES METHEL
Hit % P EEH HERR EARE R
Senior
notes and
Interest-bearing host debt of Total liabilities
bank and other  Due to related convertible Lease from financing
borrowings companies bonds liabilities Interest payable activities
ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
#H2023F1 418 At 1 January 2023 20,233,353 16,663,749 6,501,799 45,476 180,272 43,614,649
BERELRBELMED  Changes from financing cash flow (5,053,659) 2,020.212) - (45,325) (299,979) (7,419,169)
nHE New leases - - - 3,304 - 3,304
FERX Interest expense - - 425,880 673 1,011,022 1,437,575
AL EMBARMEDS  Decrease arising from disposal of
subsidiaries (607,800) - - - - (607,800)
Hi#EREEH Other non-cash movements 29,702 - (363,433) - 480,763 147,032
#®2023F12 4318 At 31 December 2023 14,601,602 14,633,537 6,564,246 4,128 1,372,078 37,175,591

R2024%1 /18
BERGREELMED
Mg

p=8
FlERx
AHEMERR MRS

Eit kR

At 1 January 2024

Changes from financing cash flow

New leases

Interest expense

Decrease arising from disposal of
subsidiaries

Other non-cash movements

R2024512 431 R

At 31 December 2024
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3. KEEEREXRKFE @ 35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
b) BMETBHELENEEEE (E) (b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
(Continued)
FABRESRERNEERESR The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement
HERmEmT of cash flows is as follows:
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR®TRT ARET
RMB’000 RMB’000
REEEEERN Within operating activities 19,198
REL &S8R Within financing activities 45,325
st Total 64,523
36. HEKE X A 36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
HZE2024F12A31BLEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024
TEEBRHEERN TEEBREE#R HRE

o fif 3t B BEWESR BENES AR¥ TR
Equity interest Equity interest
held by the held by the Total
Place of Group before Group after  consideration
MWERARER Name of subsidiary registration disposal disposal RMB’000
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B £2024F12 8310 L FE (&)

MEBRARER Name of subsidiary

F 1 4t B

Place of
registration

AEBRHEA
BHNER

Equity interest
held by the
Group before

disposal
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FEERLER
BENES
Equity interest
held by the
Group after
disposal

2024412 A 31 B 31 December 2024

36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

HWRE
ARBTR
Total

consideration
RMB’000

MisEt  RIEWNBRARIEE = FRTMNHE -
AKBHEBEEREEBHE=ZFZ
oA EEBREIIRENE A
E-RARHNE - FBE HEIEBAX
BHEHE-HER - BEREFFTNG
HoOREEERT RIS AR AR
SENBEQAR BREAE@MBESE
51% % & -

B £2023F12A31ALFE

Note 1: Pursuant to the agreement signed between the subsidiaries and the

third party, majority of management and directors will be assigned by
the third party and all Hunan Shanghui and Taojiang Hongyang’s assets,
company chops, certificate, agreement and relevant document will be
managed by the third party. In light of the agreement signed, Hunan
Shanghui and Taojiang Hongyang is accounted for as associates of the
Group notwithstanding that the Group held a 51% equity interest.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

FEEREERN AEEREER arRE

o 11t 4 B BFEMNER HANER ARETT
Equity interest Equity interest

held by the held by the Total

Place of Group before Group after consideration

= pNSE Name of subsidiary registration disposal disposal RMB’000

EHHARE X AR AR Wuxi Liangke Real Estate Co., Ltd + 80.00% 40.00% —

PRC

EHZ2AEMERR AR Zaozhuang Lianghong Real Estate H 48.48% i 68,480
Co., Ltd. PRC Nil

SEMREEEAR AR Jinhua Liangde Property Co., Ltd + 78.91% i -
PRC Nil

TRERFRFEHEREAMR Chifeng Liangyi Real Estate + 100.00% i3 17,824
A Development Co., Ltd PRC Nil

EINRHEEBRAA  Changzhou Liangjin Real Estate H 50.00% i 40,221
Co., Ltd PRC Nil

WMIEXEMERZEAR Zhejang Huangshi Real Estate + 100.00% i -
NG| Development Limited PRC Nil
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36. HEMEDF @ 36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

REEBHMNEERABENERE

The carrying values of the assets and liabilities on the dates of

e disposal were as follows:
2024 F 2023
2024 2023
ARBTR AR®BTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

HETIZHEMNEEFE:
Y% BE MR (M E13)

Net assets disposed of:
Property, plant and equipment

(note 13) 100
EIEFRIEE E (FH5E19) Deferred tax assets (note 19) 50,034
e % (M 5E21) Properties under development
(note 21) 1,793,982
BEHENETIWE (MsE22) Completed properties held for sale
(note 22) 263,672
GRS QEIR Rzl Tax recoverable 83,978
ReEMREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 228,263
TR FRIE & H b FE UG RRIR Prepayments and other receivables 833,490
B S5 REMNRIELENER Trade and bills payables (291,961)
EHEE Contract liabilities (1,166,785)
FFERITREMER Interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings (607,800)
JE & 1A Tax payable (52,551)
Hih BN RIEREEA Other payables and accruals (781,897)
FE1E AR M A Non-controlling interests (116,458)
NE Subtotal 236,067
ERZERHEDERBERNTR Transferred to interests held and
BEPERS classified as associates and joint
ventures 14,138
HEWE R REE Loss on disposal of subsidiaries (123,680)
HeRE Cash consideration 126,525
AT 575 K E R Satisfied by
BE Cash 126,525
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36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in
respect of the disposal of the subsidiaries is as follows:

2024 F 20234

2024 2023

AR®TRT AR%FT

RMB’000 RMB’000

- e

RERE Cash consideration = 126,525

PTEZRERREEEY Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (2,597) (228,263)
HHEHENBRAIRE R Net outflow of cash and cash

ReFEYRLFHE equivalents in respect of the disposal
of subsidiaries (2,597) (101,738)

ARREERRLEMELENN
BRARYAEEMEABEKX
it #B o M B~ R R B B HI A (& B
MEERLRKE -

MBRERERIAREE

REmERR - MEERDT

The directors of the Company consider that not all subsidiaries
disposed of were significant to the Group and thus the individual
financial information of some subsidiaries on the disposal date
was not disclosed.

37. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

At the end of the reporting period, financial guarantees were as

follows:
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
k=3 AR TR ARBFTT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
-
M T AEE Y E XA F Guarantees given to banks
BRIRITRENER in connection with facilities
granted to purchasers of
the Group’s properties (1) 17,516,630 17,391,952
MR T A LD E K Z AN A Guarantees given to banks
MEEmIBITREAER  in connection with facilities
granted to joint ventures
and associates 2 4,644,903 6,352,211

-,
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37. R ERRIAREE @

212

(1)

AEBEGRETRITOAEERE
EMEERRONKRIBHME
REER - RIBERZHOIKE
FoMBERERRBEMAR K
SEAERZFRTEREEN
BEXMBRNREREEAS
B[R A A A B R TR o

RELAZY HENED K
HYZERTIE/RIBERN
@ Wz FERIERKES
B ZEZRTAREEEH
EEFER IS BBAFM
BHREMYE -

AEENERPHERDERR
BEREHEZEERERYE
REHELREZLIL BH
FR-RENERXZXEREY
ERWFFERFARG -

RER REBEIL RHAAE
BRIFHENEZIMEER
BRhmRBmERH"EREL
FAEREX - ARABEER
AMEBZONR HEYE
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37. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES (Continued)

)

The Group provided guarantees in respect of mortgage
facilities granted by certain banks to the purchasers of
the Group’s properties under development. Pursuant to
the terms of the guarantee arrangements, in the case
of default on mortgage payments by the purchasers,
the Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding
mortgage principals together with any accrued interest
and penalties owed by the defaulted purchasers to those
banks.

Under the above arrangement, the related properties
were pledged to the banks as collateral for the mortgage
loans, upon default on mortgage repayments by these
purchasers, the banks are entitled to take over the legal
titles and will realise the pledged properties through open
auction.

The Group’s guarantee period starts from the dates of
grant of the relevant mortgage loans and ends upon
the issuance and registration of property ownership
certificates to the purchasers, which will generally
be available within half a year to two years after the
purchasers take possession of the relevant properties.

The Group did not incur any material losses during the
year in respect of the guarantees provided for mortgage
facilities granted to purchasers of the Group’s completed
properties held for sale. The directors of the Company
considered that in the case of default on payments,
the net realisable value of the related properties would
be sufficient to repay the outstanding mortgage loans
together with any accrued interest and penalty, and
therefore no provision has been made in connection with
the guarantees.
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37. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES (Continued)

@

The Group provided guarantees to banks and other
institutions in connection with borrowings made to joint
ventures and associates. As of 31 December 2024, an
allowance of RMB429,841,000 (2023: RMB409,596,000)
was provided for as a result of the guarantees provided to
the related companies.

In addition to the litigations commenced by banks and
other financial institutions against subsidiaries of the
Group, there were outstanding litigations commenced by
several constructors against certain subsidiaries of the
Group claiming construction fees. Based on the advice
of the Group’s in-house legal counsel, the directors
of the Company have estimated that the Group will
likely be liable to pay the construction, which had been
provided and included in “trade and bill payables” as
at 31 December 2024 and 2023. In the opinion of the
Company'’s directors, no further provision for litigation was
required to be made for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

Except as disclosed above, during the year and up to 31
December 2024, the Group was not involved in any other
material litigation, arbitration or administrative proceedings,
claims or disputes. As far as the Company’s directors
were aware, the Group had no other material litigation or
claim which was pending or threatened against the Group.
As at 31 December 2024, the Group was the defendant of
certain non-material litigations, and also a party to certain
litigations arising from the ordinary course of business
of the Group. The likely outcome of these contingent
liabilities, litigations or other legal proceedings cannot
be ascertained with reasonable certainty at present, but
the Company’s directors believes that any possible legal
liability which may be incurred from the aforesaid cases
will not have any material impact on the financial position
or results of the Group.
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38. & 38. COMMITMENTS
RBEMR REBEHBEUATEH The Group had the following contractual commitments at the
AE end of the reporting period:
2024 F 2023
2024 2023
AR®TRT AR%FT
RMB’000 RMB’000
-
EETAB i R - Contracted, but not provided for:
W) 2% H B ) Property development activities 11,689,251 17,091,775
1 B -t {5 B Acquisition of land use rights 833,450 1,215,155
Est Total 12,522,701 18,306,930
I ————————
o AEEmMEEPERENUAT In addition, the Group had the following commitments provided
EEBEASERGEEMEEDE to joint ventures (including the Group’s share of commitments
HEVEL A FE)  HANE A EXFR made jointly with other joint venturers), which are not included in
i the above:
2024 F 2023
2024 2023
AR®TRT AR®FT
RMB’000 RMB’000
-
A& Capital contributions 1,317,463 1,055,741

-,
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3. BBEARS 39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
1) EXBEBEAIXRS (1) Significant related party transactions
RS BERRBTHFAOR In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in
S8 RFRNRNEE S these financial statements, the Group had the following
EITATRS : transactions with related parties during the year:
2024 5 20234
2024 2023
AR¥ETR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
I ——————————
) E’? Hﬁ% UNETEE/ Advances to related companies:
N A A /N] Joint ventures and associates 2,881,263 2,168,521
‘y\ AR RZES & AT Companies controlled by the
ultimate controlling shareholders 133 5,250
EERBEHARBN: Repayment of advances to related
companies:
BEDERBZ T Joint ventures and associates 3,629,653 4,328,033
RERASERR RIS QD Companies controlled by the
ultimate controlling shareholders 19,911 4,519
REBEERE B Advances from related companies:
AETEREE QT Joint ventures and associates 1,263,549 1,648,982
REREERBRRIZEG QD Companies controlled by the
ultimate controlling shareholders 14,078 20,991
EEREBEE AR Repayment of advances from related
companies:
AETEREE QT Joint ventures and associates 3,947,261 3,684,664
REREERBRRIZEG D Companies controlled by the
ultimate controlling shareholders 7,000 5,521

L
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30. Bt AR Z (@)

216

M

HEABTHEMRS

R2024%F12 A31H  REEE A
BRTHAELERBERAHN
SRR Z A AR 4,644,903,000
TT(2023%F 128318 : A R #
6,352,211,0007T) K& TR1T &
H S SRR IELR -

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(1) Other transactions with related parties

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has guaranteed
certain of the bank and other borrowings made to its joint
ventures and associates up to RMB4,644,903,000 (31
December 2023: RMB6,352,211,000).

(2 EHEBAWREEER (2) Outstanding balances with related parties
2024 F 2023 F
2024 2023
AR®BTR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
J& 1‘JLF' X B FRI8 ¢ Due to related companies:
R &Hﬁﬁ WG] Joint ventures and associates 11,921,932 14,592,137
EAERBREESIA QD Companies controlled by the
ultimate controlling shareholders 34,971 41,400
Bt Total 11,956,903 14,633,537
JE i BA B A B SRR ¢ Due from related companies:
aBEPE &Hﬂ /N Joint ventures and associates 10,430,860 11,219,740
=R HxHx?T il L0/NG Companies controlled by the
ultimate controlling shareholders 86,526 65,815
B ORE Less: Impairment (629,951) (685,210)
FE Total 9,887,435 10,700,345

e




ZHONGLIANG HOLDINGS GROUP COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

30. Bt AR Z ()

2

EERANE 5 MY KRB A B (D)

R ¥ ER | B o

Notes to Financial Statements
2024412 A 31 H 31 December 2024

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(2

Outstanding balances with related parties (Continued)

JE UK B8 B N B BROIR A Rk (B B The movements in provision for impairment of due from
BEBEROT related companies are as follows:
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR®TRT AR%T
RMB’000 RMB’000
NG At the beginning of the year 585,210 412,051
ERRREEE Impairment losses recognised 44,741 485,009
8 1R B B 1B Impairment losses written off - (311,850)
RER At the end of the year 629,951 585,210
I
HFPMBEE TN AESRAREK Balances with the above related parties were unsecured,

BT ERIREREE-
ZISEIEHMHEB‘?@JEHET&
@(E . B EZEMN121E8 A 78 5
D,\%Téiiﬂ;ﬁ%ﬁﬂ;ﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁ
BRECERRTERE"
I T 1E 3 72024 F12 31
HRNEHEEBBEBAARK
629,951,0007T (20234 : A R #&
585,210,0007T) °

non-interest-bearing and repayable on demand.

The Group has evaluated the expected loss rate and
gross carrying amount, measured the impairment based
on the 12-month ECLs or lifetime ECLs according to the
credit risk, and assessed that the expected credit losses
were RMB629,951,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB585,210,000).

B AEETEEEBEBASHMN (3) Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group

2024 % 20234
2024 2023
AR¥BTR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

I —————————
ﬂﬁﬁﬁ B Short-term employee benefits 9,863 12,447
BuiEe Performance-related bonuses 649 1,899
% EZoETEIMHK Pension scheme contributions 345 339
DESEENERER Equity-settled share option expense 1,295 467

MEZEBEAEBXINNEEAAE  Total compensation paid to key

management personnel 12,152 15,152

A ——————————

B
%5 ¥

S E— £

LB

55518

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 8
to the financial statements.
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40. ZEFETHNEMI A 40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
REBEHREEe TANKREE The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
W instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
202412 A 31 H 31 December 2024
tREE Financial assets

g § BR¥E
BAGIRN FARSEH

SREE cREE et
Financial
assets at Financial
amortised assets at
cost FVTPL Total
ARBTRT AR%®TR AR%®Tnr
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

SFATENMRERHAM  Financial assets included in
JEWWRIEM £ B EE  prepayments and other

(M 3E24) receivables (note 24)
WAFEFAEZRN  Financial assets at fair value

e @& E (M FE20) through profit or loss (note 20)
JRE Ut 8 Bt X B 5RIE Due from related companies

(M9 7£39) (note 39)
Z 5 W A (M 7£23) Trade receivables (note 23)
Re RRITHEH Cash and bank balances

(M 3E25) (note 25)

Bt Total
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(Continued)

31 December 2024 (Continued)

TRAR Financial liabilities
R
R 2 5 BR B9
cREE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
AR®T R
RMB’000
]
BAZBRITBRERESFEED Senior notes and host debt of convertible bonds
(M 3E31) (note 31) 9,088,490
ME&E(HE16) Lease liabilities (note 16) 258
B 5 EMRIE N EMNER (B7E26)  Trade and bills payables (note 26) 23,085,941
AFAEMENRERETFERAN Financial liabilities included in other payables and
TR A& (5E27) accruals (note 27) 20,825,689
JE 1<) B B~ &) 38 (B 5E39) Due to related companies (note 39) 11,956,903
BT RERTT R E th 15 3k (Bt 5229) Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
(note 29) 11,162,252
MEERE BB (M 5E30) Provision for financial guarantee contracts (note 30) 429,841
@5t Total 76,549,374
-

219



FRIZEREEER AT 2024 F F3R

R 5 R | b o

Notes to Financial Statements

2024 12 A 31 H 31 December 2024

40. ZERE STV EE T A @) 40.

mr (&)

2023F12H31H

RBERRZTEERITANEEE

(Continued)

(Continued):

31 December 2023

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows

SMEE Financial assets
Yi 8 5 BRFE
AR 51 BR &9 FFAEER
SEEE TREE st
Financial
assets at Financial
amortised assets at
cost FVTPL Total
ARE&ET T AREFIT AR T T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
SFATEMREREM  Financial assets included in
JEWW R IEM £ EE  prepayments and other
(fF5E24) receivables (note 24) 33,887,087 — 33,887,087
WAFEF AIBEFA  Financial assets at fair value
2@t & E (M 5E20) through profit or loss (note 20) — 37,002 37,002
JfE Uk A B N ) 3RIR Due from related companies
(MF7E39) (note 39) 11,285,555 — 11,285,555
Z 5 MW kI8 (H5£23) Trade receivables (note 23) 7,857 — 7,857
e MIBITHEH Cash and bank balances
(B3 25) (note 25) 10,662,500 — 10,662,500
@t Total 55,842,999 37,002 55,880,001
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
(Continued)

31 December 2023 (Continued)

TRAR Financial liabilities
78 ¥
B ARSI BR 8
THRAE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
AR®EF T
RMB’000
B E& (M FE31) Senior notes (note 31) 6,564,246
HE&E(HE16) Lease liabilities (note 16) 4,128
B 5 EMNRIERENZEE (M 5226)  Trade and bills payables (note 26) 25,614,187
FAEREMENREBELREGTEAD Financial liabilities included in other payables and
TRt 8 & (M E27) accruals (note 27) 19,826,524
JE 1<) B B~ &) 38 (B 5E39) Due to related companies (note 39) 14,633,537
ETEERTT K E th & 3Kk (Bt 5229) Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
(note 29) 14,601,602
ISR & K45 (MY 5E30) Provision for financial guarantee contracts (note 30) 409,596
st Total 81,653,820
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41.

222

EMIEANAFERLFE
=
BIREEEARFEARAENS R

THEN AEEZRIANE@E
KNAFERT

41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that
reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

BREE RNE¥E
Carrying amounts Fair values
2024 F 20234 2024 F 20234
2024 2023 2024 2023

ARBTR ARBTI AR®BTR AREBTE

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

SHMEE Financial assets
¥ AT {E5H AIEE  Financial assets at FVTPL

MermEE 39,273 37,002 39,273 37,002
cHmEE Financial liabilities
B ZEE LA # A% Senior notes and host

BHEED debt of convertible

(MF7E31) bonds (note 31) 9,088,490 6,564,246 742,712 566,659
FEERITREM  Interest-bearing bank and

fE& K (M 5E29) other borrowings

(note 29) 11,162,252 14,601,602 11,150,268 14,610,254
BII51ER & 4B & Provision for financial
(FF5£30) guarantee contracts
(note 30) 429,841 409,596 429,841 409,596
A=t Total 20,680,583 21,575,444 12,322,821 15,586,509

I

EEEDHEReMESEFEY
EERER XRFIBE  BKEH
Bt XNB A At ATANRIERE M
ERBKENEREE  BHEMNNX
BN ENER G AR AR KA
REFFERN SR E R B RRB
QA FRIAW A EEE KR EENR
H ITE2HRARFTANIHHMR
B FTE-

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, pledged deposits, restricted cash, amounts
due from related companies, financial assets included in
prepayments and other receivables, trade and bills payables,
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals
and amounts due to related companies approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of
these instruments.
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41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The Group’s corporate finance team headed by the Group’s
financial controller is responsible for determining the policies
and procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The corporate finance team reports directly to
the Group’s financial controller and the board of directors.
At each reporting date, the corporate finance team analyses
the movements in the values of financial instruments and
determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The
valuation is reviewed and approved by the Group. The valuation
process and results are discussed with the board of directors
twice a year for interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in
a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a
forced or liquidation sale.

The fair values of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
and provision for financial guarantee contracts have been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows using
rates currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit
risk and remaining maturities.

For the fair values of other financial liabilities, management
has estimated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using expected return rates for the underlying assets in order to
estimate the cash outflow amounts to settle the liabilities. The
fair value measurement of the financial liabilities is categorised
within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
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4. TSR ITEN A FERL2F{E 41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
& & (&) OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
ATEER Fair value hierarchy
TERHAFrAEEERIT AN A TE The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
AEER hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:
RATEFENEE: Assets measured at fair value:

R2024%F 12531 H As at 31 December 2024

ERAUTERFENDFE

Fair value measurement using

WER EAXTEHERE EXTAEE
miEHNRE wWAHE BWAE
(%—18) (25=F8) (5=18) wEt
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ARBTR AR%BTn AR%Trx AR¥Tx
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

RAFEFAERD Financial assets at FVTPL
TREE - - 39,273 39,273

2023412831 H As at 31 December 2023

ERUTERFENLTE

Fair value measurement using
REE EAAUBE EANAEE
MG WwE LIPN 8 LIUN 8

(%5 —E) (2=FE) (F=FE) st

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ARBTT ARBTR ARBTT ARBTX
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

BAFEF ABZH Financial assets at FVTPL

TREE - — 37,002 37,002
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EMITEMNAFERZ2FE 41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
[E 4% (&) OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
ATEEEBRE) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
BRAFEEBEENEE: Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:
202412831 H As at 31 December 2024
FERAUTERFENATE
Fair value measurement using
REE EBEXTEHE EAFRTEER
mIENRE BWAE BAE
(5—E) (=) (=) st
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ARBTRE AR¥®Tn AR%BTrR AR¥®Txn
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BEERERAKE Senior notes and host debt of
HEEH convertible bonds

SHERITREMBE IR Interest-bearing bank and

other borrowings
BHRERSNER

Provision for financial
guarantee contracts

fTTE$@mIA Derivative financial
instruments
Bt Total

H2023F12H31H

As at 31 December 2023
FRAUNTERFAENATFE

Fair value measurement using

KGR BAUBRE EAIAEE
M5 R (E A\ B % AR
(B—E) (B=BE) (B=E) mEr
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ARBFTT ARETT AR¥ETT ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BERE Senior notes 566,659 - — 566,659
SHERITREMBE R Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings — 1,469,091 — 1,469,091
BIISERE LB HE  Provision for financial
guarantee contracts — — 409,596 409,596
et Total 566,659 1,469,091 409,596 2,445,346
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41.

EMITANAFERAFE 41
& )
DT {E R ()

LA AR 2024F K 2023F 12 H31 H
HeRMIEFEAEZEATAERE
ASBEMEBERTFTEHRESIT

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the
valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative
sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2024 and 2023:

HERM
Valuation
technique

EXTUBEBARE EBE

Significant
unobservable input

Range

ATPEHBARBZBBE

Sensitivity of fair value to the input

BRATEFAABRE W54
HEE
Financial assets at FVTPL ~ Market approach

BHEERENBE EHEEHEER
Provision for financial
guarantee contracts model

226

EERE

Net asset value

Mk

Expected credit loss  Recovery rate

BEE

Discount rate

20244 :0.1780-0.1816

2024:0.1780-0.1816

20234 :0.1667-0.1711

2023:0.1667-0.1711

20244 : 34.50%-40.00%

2024: 34.50%-40.00%

20234 : 34.50%-40.00%

2023: 34.50%-40.00%

2024%F : 1.45%-2.91%

2024:1.45%-2.91%

20234 : 1.45%-2.91%

2023: 1.45%-2.91%

ﬁﬁﬁ;@{aiﬂﬂu/ﬁc 1% BUE AT
A AR #393,0007T,/ A K #:393,0007C
1% increase/decrease in net asset value would
result in an increase/decrease in fair value by
RMB393,000/RMB393,000

ﬁﬁf_@@iﬂ“ﬂu/ﬁc 1% 8 BUE AT
A AR#370,0167T,/ AR ¥370,016 7T
1% increase/decrease in net asset value would
result in an increase/decrease in fair value by
RMB370,016/RMB370,016

WE =&/ B 1% EBERTFERDEMA
R#7286327T/ AR 7286327

1% increase/decrease in recovery rate would result in
a decrease/increase in fair value by RMB728,632/
RMB728,632

WE =/ B 1% EBERTFERDEMA
R#2184707T/ AR % 2184707

1% increase/decrease in recovery rate would result in
a decrease/increase in fair value by RMB218,470/
RMB218,470

BB EEN/ B %BBERTERDEMA
R#34,6807/ ARB347127L

1% increase/decrease in discount rate would result in
a decrease/increase in fair value by RMB34,689/
RMB34,712

BREEN/ RO 1R RERTERD,/ HMA
R#11,6087T/ ARE11,6817T

1% increase/decrease in discount rate would result in
a decrease/increase in fair value by RMB11,693/
RMB11,681
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M. M TAENAFERAFE 41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
R

8 & (&) OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
AEEERGE Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
BEE=ZHEBEATEF=ENEE Recondiliation of assets measured at fair value based on level 3:
HER
BAFEFTABZENEREE
kLT REES

Financial assets at FVTPL
Unlisted investment funds

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR¥F ARBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
-
NG At the beginning of the year 37,002 34,266
RIBZERAE R FEF AEB I Total gains recognised in profit
MemEEAFEKZMHWZE orloss as fair value gains on
e financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss 2,271 2,736
RF R At the end of the year 39,273 37,002
-
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MHEEBREEEEREE

AEBENERMIATIZEFRER
ROTEFEY ZRHERE 2SEHM
Tﬁ B 5 E WA - it IR

BORNTRAMBENEERERE
m%ﬁmﬁ ZEEMITABHEK
SHEEREL - AKEEREMSE
MEENAG WA EBRITEEAM
fERX EERERABERESTE
BTESRIA BAFEFA
%¥Mé@ﬁ§ Hie@maE:
FERTBARE R B RIA R BB AR
ME°&§%@IEWEKEWE

RRAEBNEZRE -

AEBEeRIAELANTIERR
FMERER - EERR - SNE R R &
nBETRBR - —RME AKHE
HHEREERIRRTRE - S8
AEBFEBOZTRAREZE &
K NGB EERETAITERE
T EEHPEN - REBKRFAR
HETARZSGNITESRT A -
ExghIYRESERREER

R HEfaiam T

(@) FEEE

AEBBBATSMNEEHE
S T B 29T E AN £ EF
ARERRITEREMERAEBR - K
EEVEFRAITESMITAY
R EER e AEEERZE
BITERREMEREEEF

B o

R2024F 12 B31H  WEFHE
HMbwBE2HFTIEBRTE
TREMERNANE LA
T 1% » BN 5 B /9 F Al (&
B) /% BEGEB ST B E XK
B & 2) 118 8 4 (2023
F:RL/EM)HARE
27,326,000 7T (20234 : A R #&

18,941,0007T) °
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s financial instruments mainly include cash and
bank equivalents, restricted cash, pledged deposits, trade
receivables, other receivables, trade and bills payables and
other payables, which arise directly from its operations. The
Group has other financial assets and liabilities such as interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, senior notes and host
debt of convertible bonds, derivative financial instruments,
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, other financial
liabilities, amounts due to related companies and amounts due
from related companies. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, credit risk, foreign currency risk and liquidity
risk. Generally, the Group introduces conservative strategies on
its risk management. To keep the Group’s exposure to these
risks to a minimum, the Group has not used any derivatives
and other instruments for hedging purposes. The Group does
not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading
purposes. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies
for managing each of these risks and they are summarised
below:

(@) Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to risk for changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings set out in note 29.
The Group does not use derivative financial instruments to
hedge interest rate risk. The Group manages its interest
cost using variable rate bank borrowings and other
borrowings.

As at 31 December 2024, if the interest rate of bank and
other borrowings had increased/decreased by 1% and all
other variables held constant, the (loss)/profit before tax of
the Group, through the impact on floating rate borrowings,
would have increased/decreased (2023: decreased/
increased) by approximately RMB27,326,000 (2023:
RMB18,941,000).
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from transactions by operating units in
currencies other than the units’ functional currencies.

In addition, the Group has currency exposures from its
cash and cash equivalents, interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings and senior notes and host debt of
convertible bonds and derivative financial instruments.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change

MEERBENATFEZELEZ in the US$, HK$ and RMB exchange rates, with all other
B HET BT EARKEX variables held constant, of the Group’s (loss)/profit before
AREEHENEREEEH(MAR tax (due to changes in the fair values of monetary assets
HEBBEFTTE)NBRE and liabilities).
fE %= HAlEE
EHACTE)  CR2), i
(Decrease)/
Increase/ increase
(decrease) in loss before
in rate tax
% AR¥TR
% RMB’000
-
2024 & 2024
WMARBHETLRE If the RMB weakens against the US$ -5% 468,891
MARERETHE If the RMB strengthens against the US$ +5% (468,891)
MARBLBITEE If the RMB weakens against the HK$ -5% (260)
M ARE B THE If the RMB strengthens against the HK$ +5% 260
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42. I EREE B EZRBEK @

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(b) SMEE LB (48) (b) Foreign currency risk (Continued)
b X IR
ERACREE) i/ Crd)
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in profit before
in rate tax
% ARBT T
% RMB’000
2023 F 2023
WMARBHETLRE If the RMB weakens against the US$ -5% (423,146)
MARBHETLHE If the RMB strengthens against the US$ +5% 423,146
WMARBHLBTLRE If the RMB weakens against the HK$ -5% 529
M AR B THAE If the RMB strengthens against the HK$ +5% (529)
(c) EEREB (c) Credit risk
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AEEEHRZERZAFER
ENEZAETRS - AKHE
MERB T TERIREEK
HETRSNEFAEETER
RERF I AEBBRFE
B ENGRIEHEE  MEBEH
BERRBRITEK - HHRERMN
LS EMNMINEEETE
MR EREEEEHNEE
MBI ER - AEE TSR
HIEEKRK -
BEREBEELIR
TREIERAEEBEERE
(FEERBHER KIFEES
MHEBZKASE DRI ES
HMWEMRNEELEREREK
FEERK  UAER12A318H
FRER B 2 2EAES
BMEEMNEERAAENKAROY
BRRAEHNEERR -

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy

third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all

customers

who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s
exposure to bad debts is not significant. For transactions
that are not denominated in the functional currency of the
relevant operating unit, the Group does not offer credit
terms without the specific approval of the Head of Credit

Control.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless
other information is available without undue cost or effort,
and year-end staging classification as at 31 December.
The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for
financial assets and the exposure to credit risk for the

financial guarantee contracts.
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

EERk (&) (c) Credit risk (Continued)
BAEBEFLDHKE Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)
R2024F12H31H As at 31 December 2024
1218 A
BHEEBR 2HENEERR
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
E1RER EoMRE HEIM R B 7% @t
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
ARBTR AR%®Tn AR%¥TR AR¥TR AR%®Tn
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

B 5 BRI Trade receivables*
FARNREBREAM Financial assets included in

FhEFENEREE prepayments and other

receivables

—E&E" — Normal**

— FR — Doubtful**
NG Due from related companies

— EE~" — Normal**

— TFEE — Doubtful**
XHREIRE Restricted cash

— WA — Not yet past due
BEAEX Pledged deposits

— WA — Not yet past due
BeRBReEEY Cash and cash equivalents

— [ AR — Not yet past due
REUTHEATR Financial guarantees

AELEMMBER provided to associates

and joint ventures

— WA — Not yet past due

@At Total
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(c) FERMRE (c) Credit risk (Continued)
BARBRFLEDRE Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)
R2023F12H31H As at 31 December 2023
1218 A
BHEEER SHEREEER
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
F1RE F2MEE FIE B (k7% Bt
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
ARBTT ARBTRT AR®TE ARETRT ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
g 5N GE Trade receivables* - - - 7,857 7,857
FABMRIEREM Financial assets included in
ERFENEREE prepayments and other
receivables
— EE* — Normal*™* 33,842,979 — — — 33,842,979
— FE — Doubtful* - - 44,108 - 44,108
g NCE S Due from related companies
—E®E" — Normal** 10,788,738 - - — 10,788,738
— Fa — Doubtful™ — 138,521 358,296 - 496,817
B HRE Restricted cash
— A — Not yet past due 3,329,850 - - - 3,329,850
BHEAFEN Pledged deposits
— AR — Not yet past due 93,841 - - - 93,841
RelkBeEED Cash and cash equivalents
— AR A8 — Not yet past due 7,238,809 - - — 7,238,809
RETHEATK Financial guarantees
BETENRBER provided to associates
and joint ventures
— WSS — Not yet past due 6,352,211 - - - 6,352,211
@t Total 61,646,428 138,521 402,404 7,857 62,195,210
. BREZRKFR(CRE B L EA S * For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach

e Et ERE) EREREEEHEN
EMBBERIE22 - EERARTELR

BEREH -

bid e W B A R RR kAt A TR FOR =
Ko At FE W R IR B © AR A EE I 8 AR
RUEERBRZELREEB VR
RAR IR E B R e KRN EiE
EEZARIER]-BA - 2@HEEDN
EERBKESFER] -
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financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

for impairment, information based on the expected credit losses is
disclosed in note 23. There is no significant concentration of credit risk.

The credit quality of amounts due from related companies and the
financial assets included in prepayments and other receivables is
considered to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the
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(d)

AEEHNERRBBAERGE
RITREMER EEERSE
FHERERBERBERTE
CHEBELERERMLEZENT

B-REREXFETEE-

AREBRBEERIEES LKL
BNRAENSRBENE
ERIR

2024F 12 A31 H 31 December 2024

BEZERAMHEK  Senior notes and host

EHEER debt of convertible
bonds
BHRNHKER Trade and bills payables
ANES
SAEMENFER  Financial liabilties included
JET B R in other payables and
tREE accruals
FERTBEEE N RIZIE  Due to related companies
BBEREL Financial guarantee
contracts
HFERITREMET  Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings
TEEBMIA Derivative financial
instruments
HERR Lease liabilities
@t Total

AT 48 R B E
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, proceeds
from asset-backed securities and senior notes. Cash flows
are closely monitored on an ongoing basis.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as
at the end of the reporting period based on contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

REX DRIEA 3Z1218R 1F0E @t
Less than 3to Over
On demand 3 months 12 months 1 year Total

ARBTR ARBTR ARWTRE ARBTR ARETxR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Liquidity risk (Continued)

®Ek  OR3EAR  3E12(HA TEN £ @t
Less than 3to Over
On demand 3 months 12 months 1 year Total

ARETL AREBTL ARBTT ARBTT ARBT:R
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

2023412 A31H 31 December 2023

BERE Senior notes 6,564,246 - - — 6,564,246
BHREMNHER Trade and bills payables
AN ¢ 25,614,187 - - —  25614,187
FAEMEMTIELR  Financial liabiities included
[EF B R in other payables and
tRERE accruals - 19,826,524 - — 19,826,524
& 1 R Bk /A Due to related companies 14,633,537 - - — 14,633,537
BBEREL Financial guarantee
contracts - 142,654 2,739,695 3,469,862 6,352,211
BRI REME  Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings 4,563,930 366,064 7,161,577 3,335,446 15,427,017
HERE Lease liabilities - 1,390 1,832 900 4,122
Bt Total 51,375,900 20,336,632 9,903,104 6,806,208 88,421,844
() BAER (e) Capital management

AEBEAEENTEZRRE
XE%1%FH$EI%%’%“M]\E

MEBREMNE AN KR
A S2 15 B 75 30 {6 v %F‘E{EF
A1E -

AEESRELEMRTOE(
EENBFBEERNRE - B
R HABEANRE  NEEX
SHIRN TRRAOBEFLHE
B ORERREARFEITHR -
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The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(e)

Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which
is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. Net
debt includes trade and bills payables, financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals, amounts due
to related companies, provision for financial guarantee
contracts, other financial liabilities, interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings (other than convertible bonds), lease
liabilities and senior note, less cash and cash equivalents.
Capital represents equity attributable to owners of the
parent. The gearing ratio as at the end of the reporting
period was as follows:

2024 F 20234
12A31H 124 31H
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
AR¥ TR ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
I —————————
B2RNZIBERERER Trade and bills payables 23,085,941 25,614,187
uf AHMEMNZTELEFEBRE  Financial liabilties included in other
CBAaE payables and accruals 20,825,689 19,826,524
JE < A B 1 7] Due to related companies 11,956,903 14,633,537
MBEREHN ﬁé‘ 1% Provision for financial guarantee
contracts 429,841 409,596
FHERITREMER Interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings 11,162,252 14,601,602
BAZEBERIBRKBRESFEEH Senior notes and host debt of
convertible bonds 9,088,490 6,564,246
HEBE Lease liabilities 258 4,128
WReERREEFEY Less: Cash and cash equivalents (3,550,680) (7,238,809)
BRI FE Net debt 72,998,694 74,415,011
NAEEANELES Equity attributable to owners of
the parent 4,535,098 6,889,458
EARARERFE Capital and net debt 77,533,792 81,304,469
BRBELE Gearing ratio 94.15% 91.53%

e
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43. HEHWREBE 43. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
MNo025FE1 A IRIE A k& 5 H In January 2025, in accordance with the indenture of the
B RTEIITTBRBEEEATY Convertible Bonds, additional Convertible Bonds were issued as
TF B E— SRR E SN PIK Interest, which further increased the outstanding principal
K8 B K S 5 12 1 563,436,012 amount of the Convertible Bonds to US$63,436,912, details of
ST HEEH A A A F B B0024E which are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 31

10F31A#AL - December 2024,
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44, STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY

RBERRARATBRAEKNE Information about the statement of financial position of the
war Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:
2024 % 20234
2024 2023
AR®TR AR%T
RMB’000 RMB’000

- —————————————————

EREBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
ME  WERFRE Property, plant and equipment 3 8
®E M B A A Investment in subsidiaries 200,523 200,523
IERBEELE Total non-current assets 200,526 200,531
REBEE CURRENT ASSETS
RekReFEEYD Cash and cash equivalents 39 56
NG E Due from subsidiaries 16,091,570 16,090,262
mEEERE Total current assets 16,091,609 16,090,318
REEE CURRENT LIABILITIES
EMEMNRENMESER  Other payables and accruals 68,074 1,306,471
FFERITREMER Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings - 1,781,299
N NGRS Due to subsidiaries 4,440,938 4,392,215
BERERER N AR (E % £ & Senior notes and host debt of convertible
% bonds 881,735 6,564,246
REBAEERAE Total current liabilities 5,390,747 14,044,231
REBEEEE NET CURRENT ASSETS 10,700,862 2,046,087
EERERABEE TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT

LIABILITIES 10,901,388 2,246,618
kRBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
ETRIRIT R E AL &K Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 292,415 —
BEAER Senior notes 8,206,755 —
FRBEERAE Total non-current liabilities 8,499,170 —
BEFE Net assets 2,402,218 2,246,618
= EQUITY
B A (M9 3E32) Share capital (note 32) 38,110 31,450
{1 (M 3E34) Reserves (note 34) 2,364,108 2,215,168
W 4R 5E Total equity 2,402,218 2,246,618

————————————
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44. 7K p 7 B AR OR &R (@) 44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (Continued)
Bt 5 Note:
ARBINRERZNOT : A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:
& BRGRE BAatE BRERE RKRENE @t
Share
Share Share Capital option Retained
capital premium reserve reserve profits Total
ARETT ARETE ARBTT AR®TRT ARETT ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
202351 A1 H M &k Balance at 1 January 2023 31,450 2,672,435 200,523 18,027 189,343 3,111,778
FRE2EBELE Total comprehensive loss
for the year - - - - (860,494) (860,494)
U SAEEMBRELZYE  Equity-settled share option
arrangements — — — (4,666) — (4,666)

M2023F 12 A31 B &
20241 A1 B EH

Balance at 31 December 2023
and 1 January 2024

FRE2ERZLEE Total comprehensive income
for the year

NEmAEMBRELZYE  Equity-settled share option
arrangements

REBABBEH R BT
Bt

Shares issued upon the
conversion of convertible
bonds

2024 12 A31 B A #:  Balance at 31 December 2024

1t B B B R

B 1§ = Jh 2025 FE3 A28 E &
=g HE R

45.

45.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2025.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

BZ12A31BLEE
Year ended 31 December
2024 F 20234 20224 20214 20204
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
ARBTRE ARBFTE AREBFTT ARETT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000

-
A Revenue 39,681,871 66,615,080 39,329,414 76,114,160 65,940,566
35 & AR Cost of sales (38,774,931) (63,430,455) (35,827,719) (63,081,654) (52,087,655)
EA Gross profit 906,940 3,184,625 3,501,695 13,032,506 13,852,911
H i A R W g Other income and gains 998,402 95,503 362,883 959,088 918,050
HERDHEAX Selling and distribution
expenses (391,026)  (896,566) (1,642,922) (2,894,162) (2,254,253)
THHAX Administrative expenses (781,770) (1,252,796) (1,597,314) (3,534,244) (2,848,025
SREEMEEE  Impairment losses on financial
assets (191,727)  (422,772)  (475,073) (5,081) (5,562)

Hth 5 &2 Other expenses (1,393,934)  (890,817)  (927,340)  (153,387)  (186,371)
REMELTE Fair value (loss)/gains on

(B#8),/ W= investment properties (120,062)  (102,575) (7,921) 96,809 88,365
RAFEF AEBIRE  Fair value losses on financial

EREENTE assets at fair value through

B8 profit or loss 2,271 2,736 (165,403)  (372,238) (30,929)
A& s Finance income 29,011 69,100 246,820 371,529 408,100
EEBN Finance costs (644,374) (310,492)  (397,178)  (647,461)  (542,494)
JE A6 FI) B R & 18 Share of profits and losses of:

BEDE Joint ventures (162,257) 599,529 518,863 448,700 467,861

/NG| Associates 360,497 322,625 348,130 322,062 497,169
Bia(B8)/RE (Loss)/profit before tax (1,388,029) 398,100 (234,760) 7,624,121 10,364,822
FT{S B Income tax expense (1,486,591) (3,316,886) (1,386,479) (2,868,033) (3,798,407)
FE(ER) /7B (Loss)/profit for the year (2,874,620) (2,918,786) (1,621,239) 4,756,088 6,566,415
AT AT : Attributable to:

ZANNEIE SN Owners of the Company (2,427,358) (4,245,658) (1,346,384) 2,702,567 3,743,429

FEE RS Non-controlling interests (447,262) 1,326,872 (274,855) 2,053,521 2,822,986

(2,874,620) (2,918,786) (1,621,239) 4,756,088 6,566,415
-
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R12831H
As at 31 December
2024 F 2023 2022 £ 2021 £ 20204
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
ARE®TR AREBTRT ARETRT ARETT ARET
RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB’000
- I
BE ASSETS
ERBEE Non-current assets 16,235,233 23,276,188 26,082,429 28,759,218 24,082,399
TEEE Current assets 116,941,226 157,491,817 211,736,450 238,418,788 246,750,891
BEHSE Total assets 133,176,459 180,768,005 237,818,879 267,178,006 270,833,290
EBERERE EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Py ek Total equity 19,381,003 26,398,090 31,374,138 35,482,862 30,182,150
FERBEaE Non-current liabilities 11,772,649 3,237,954 9,454,604 21,223,986 31,014,863
nmEaE Current liabilities 102,022,807 151,131,061 196,990,137 210,471,158 209,636,277
BERE Total liabilities 113,795,456 154,369,015 206,444,741 231,695,144 240,651,140
BEhaEEE Total equity and liabilities 133,176,459 180,768,005 237,818,879 267,178,006 270,833,290

240







	封面
	目錄
	公司簡介
	公司資料
	詞彙及釋義
	董事長報告
	管理層討論及分析
	董事、高級管理層及公司秘書履歷
	企業管治報告
	投資者關係報告
	董事會報告
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合損益表
	綜合全面收益表
	綜合財務狀況表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	財務報表附註
	五年財務概要
	封底

